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PART I
SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the exhibits being filed or incorporated by reference as part of this report, as well as other
statements made by Unique Fabricating, Inc. (“Unique,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our”), contains “forward-looking statements” within
the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 that are subject to risks and uncertainties. These forward-looking
statements are contained principally in, but not limited to, the sections entitled “Business,” “Risk Factors,” and “Management's Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” These statements are based on management's beliefs and assumptions
and on information currently available to us. These statements relate to future events or to our future financial performance and involve
known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factors that may cause our or our industry's actual results, levels of activity,
performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements expressed
or implied by these statements. When used in this document the words “anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “seek,” “might,”
“estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “approximately,” “project,” “should,” “will,” “would,” or the negative or
plural of these words or similar expressions, as they relate to our company, business and management, are intended to identify forwardlooking statements. In light of these risks and uncertainties, the future events and circumstances discussed may not occur, and actual
results could differ materially from those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements.
Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K filing. Except as required by law, we assume no
obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement to reflect actual results, changes in assumptions based on new
information, future events or otherwise. If we update one or more forward-looking statements, no inference should be drawn that we will
make additional updates with respect to those or other forward-looking statements.
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview
Unique is engaged in the engineering and manufacture of multi-material foam, rubber, and plastic components utilized in noise,
vibration and harshness, acoustical management, water and air sealing, decorative and other functional applications. Unique has
combined a history of organic growth with recent strategic acquisitions to diversify both its product capabilities and the markets it serves.
Unique’s markets served are the North America automotive and heavy duty truck markets, as well as the appliance, water heater and
HVAC markets. Sales are conducted directly to major automotive and heavy duty truck, appliance, water heater and HVAC manufacturers,
referred throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K as OEMs, or indirectly through the Tier 1 suppliers of these OEMs. The Company
has its principal executive offices in Auburn Hills, Michigan and has sales, engineering and production facilities in Auburn Hills, Michigan,
Concord, Michigan, LaFayette, Georgia, Louisville, Kentucky, Evansville, Indiana, Bryan, Ohio, Monterrey, Mexico, Queretaro, Mexico and
London, Ontario. The Company also has an independent client sales representative who maintains offices in Baldham, Germany.
Unique derives the majority of its net sales from the sales of foam, rubber plastic, and tape adhesive related automotive products.
These products are produced by a variety of manufacturing processes including die cutting, compression molding, thermoforming, reaction
injection molding and fusion molding. We believe Unique has a broader array of processes and materials utilized than any of its direct
competitors, based on our product offerings. By sealing out air, noise and water intrusion, and by providing sound absorption and blocking,
Unique’s products improve the interior comfort of a vehicle, increasing perceived vehicle quality and the overall experience of its
passengers. Unique’s products perform similar functions for appliances, water heaters and HVAC systems, improving thermal
characteristics, reducing noise and prolonging equipment life.
One of Unique’s primary strengths lies in its ability to manage thousands of active part numbers while maintaining a stellar track
record of less than six rejected parts per million and over 99.0% on-time delivery for more than three million parts manufactured and
shipped on a daily basis. Furthermore, Unique focuses resources on the areas of its business that add value to customers, particularly in
its commercial, engineering and supply chain activities. Design innovation and rapid prototyping set Unique apart from the majority of its
competitors.
Our principal executive offices are currently located at 800 Standard Parkway, Auburn Hills, Michigan, 48326. UFI Acquisition, Inc, a
Delaware Corporation (“UFI”), was formed in January 2013 to acquire 100% of the outstanding equity of Unique Fabricating, Inc., and its
wholly-owned subsidiaries, Unique Fabricating South, Inc. and Unique Fabricating de
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Mexico, S.A. de C.V. (collectively, such subsidiaries and other subsidiaries referenced in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, as the
“Company” or “Unique”). In September 2014, UFI Acquisition, Inc. changed its name to Unique Fabricating, Inc. (“UFI”) which is now the
parent company of the group. As a result of the name change, the subsidiary previously named Unique Fabricating, Inc. became Unique
Fabricating NA, Inc.
Since 2013, the Company has completed four acquisitions. In December 2013, through a newly formed subsidiary, UniquePrescotech, Inc., the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of Prescotech Holdings, Inc. (“PTI”). In February 2014, through a
newly formed subsidiary, Unique-Chardan, Inc., the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of Chardan Corp. (“Chardan”). In
August 2015, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of Great Lakes Foam Technologies, Inc. (“Great Lakes”) through a
newly created subsidiary, Unique Molded Foam Technologies, Inc. In April 2016, Unique-Intasco Canada, Inc., a newly formed subsidiary
of the Company, acquired substantially of all of the assets of Intasco Corporation. On the same date, Unique Fabricating NA, Inc.,
purchased 100% of the outstanding capital stock of Intasco USA, Inc. (together the two entities purchased are referred to as “Intasco”)
Initial Public Offering (the “IPO”)
On July 7, 2015, we completed our IPO of 2,702,500 shares of common stock at a price to the public of $9.50 per share, including
352,500 shares subject to an over-allotment option granted to the underwriters. After underwriting discounts, commissions, and
approximate fees and expenses of the offering, we received net IPO proceeds of approximately $22.2 million. We used part of these
proceeds to repay the $13.1 million principal amount of our 16% senior subordinated note together with accrued interest through the date
of payment. We used the remaining proceeds to temporarily reduce borrowings under the revolver portion of our then senior secured
credit facility. Amounts paid under the facility remained available to be re-borrowed, subject to compliance with the terms of the facility. We
also issued to the underwriters warrants to purchase up to 141,000 shares of common stock, as additional compensation in the IPO. The
warrants are exercisable at a per share exercise price equal to 125% of the initial public offering price of $9.50 per share, and may be
exercised until the date five years from the date of the IPO.
Automotive Industry Analysis and Industry Trends
The automotive parts industry provides components, systems, subsystems and modules to OEMs for the manufacture of new
vehicles, and had approximately $250 billion of North American annual revenue in 2016 according to a January 2017 Dun & Bradstreet
report on the automotive supplier market. Based on North American vehicle production in 2018, which declined just over 5% from 2016 as
noted in the chart below, the revenue in the automotive parts industry was approximates the $250 billion amount in 2018 as well. Within
the automotive parts industry, North America is the Company’s core market. We manufacture multi-material foam, rubber, plastic
components, and tape adhesive related products utilized in noise, vibration and harshness management, acoustical management, water
and air sealing, decorative and other functional applications.
Demand for automotive parts in the OEM market is generally a function of the number of new vehicles produced, which is primarily
driven by macro-economic factors such as credit availability, interest rates, fuel prices, consumer confidence, employment and other
trends. Although OEM demand is tied to actual vehicle production, participants in the automotive parts industry also have the opportunity
to grow through increasing product content per vehicle by increasing business with existing customers and in existing markets, gaining
new customers and increasing their presence in global markets. We believe that as a company with a North American presence and
advanced technology, engineering, manufacturing and customer support capabilities, we are well-positioned to take advantage of these
opportunities.
Overall, we expect modest long-term growth of vehicle sales and production in the OEM market. The automobile industry in general in
recent years has seen slight declines in customer sales and production volumes from the peak achieved in 2016. According to IHS
Automotive, North American vehicle production declined during 2018 to 17.0 million units, a decrease of approximately 1.2% from vehicle
production during 2017. Going forward, vehicle production is expected to be slightly lower in 2019 compared to 2018, however, IHS is
currently projecting growth to 17.3 million units in 2023, as depicted in the following chart.
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Source: IHS Automotive (February 2019)
In addition to the modest overall industry growth, we believe there are a variety of trends that are influencing the future of the global
automotive market. We believe that we are positively positioned to benefit from an increasing number of trends driven by market forces
such as:
•

Fuel efficiency/vehicle light-weighting: Government mandates on fuel efficiency and emission reductions will continue to force the
automotive industry to focus on improving the fuel economy of vehicles. This is one of the factors driving the trend of replacing
conventional steel as the primary material in vehicle production with lighter weight materials, such as plastics and foams. In 2010,
approximately 65% of vehicle content was made of conventional steel, but according to industry sources that percentage is
expected to decrease by 10 – 20%, in the aggregate by 2025.

•

Interior comfort: Comfort of interiors consistently rank in the top three factors that consumers consider when purchasing a new
vehicle, and is a key area where vehicle manufactures can differentiate their vehicles. The comfort of the interior is an area of
increased focus for OEM manufacturers with each new generation of vehicles. This trend is expected to continue to increase the
use of foam and acoustical insulation in vehicles.

•

Telematics and Infotainment: The increasing use of telematics and infotainment requires increasingly quieter vehicles for the
telematics systems to recognize voice commands and passengers to enjoy the infotainment options. Over the next few years,
approximately 80% of all new vehicles are expected to include voice recognition systems, increasing the need for quiet interiors.
We expect that the result will be increased use of acoustic insulation materials, more precise air seals and other noise, vibration
and harshness products in all vehicles.

•

Rapid pace of new vehicle launches : In order to meet consumers’ increasing demand for new products, the automotive market will
see a significant number of new program launches from vehicle manufacturers over the next few years. Each new vehicle launch
creates new product opportunities for us because of the OEMs need for noise, vibration and harshness solutions as they discover
unplanned noise issues at the launch of production for a new vehicle program.

•

Localization of production : Due to freight costs, currency fluctuations, logistic issues and protection of supply, many foreign vehicle
manufacturers have increased their production volumes in North America and are increasing local sourcing of vehicle components.
We believe that Unique’s production facilities situated in geographic proximity to the majority of North American vehicle assembly
locations provide a competitive advantage.

We believe these market trends create opportunities for us to achieve above market growth rates as a result of increased content per
vehicle, higher industry production volumes, geographic shifts in vehicle production, and evolving customer sourcing strategies. Our
challenge is to continue developing leading edge solutions focused on addressing these trends, and applying those solutions via products
with sustainable margins that enable our customers to produce distinctive market-leading products.
3
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As an example of our innovative technical capabilities, we utilized our thermoforming process to develop and produce a line of
lightweight flexible air duct systems for a leading OEM, providing an 80% weight reduction and enhanced functionality. This air duct
system has developed into Unique’s patent pending TwinShape line of proprietary ducts. Unique has been awarded four additional
production orders for the TwinShape line of ducts, adding three additional OEM customers since launching the product, and have secured
development and prototyping contracts with four additional OEMs in the last few years for potential inclusion of this product in vehicle
programs starting with model years 2019 and 2020 vehicles.
We generate a significant number of new sales opportunities from customer challenges, such as buzz, squeak, rattle (“BSR”) or noise,
vibration and harshness (“NVH”) issues, discovered during the launch of production for a new vehicle program. In many of these situations,
we develop and begin supplying a solution within days, a level of responsiveness that avoids competitive requests for quotations and
produces premium value for our customers. Given the projected rapid pace of new vehicle launches over the next three years, we believe
that we will benefit from an increasing number of opportunities sourced late in the launch cycle.
Appliance, HVAC, and Water Heater Industries
We are a leading provider of fabricated, non-metallic components to a diverse group of OEMs and tiered suppliers in the appliance,
HVAC, and water heater industries. These sales represented approximately 10.3% of our net sales for the year ended December 30,
2018. These components are primarily manufactured from foam, adhesives, fiberglass, rubber and board-back material. We have
extensive materials, engineering and fabrication expertise and deliver custom-designed, innovative solutions for our customers. Our
component solutions primarily consist of products used in gasketing, heat deflection, packaging, insulation, water seals, noise reduction
and vibration control. Demand for these end-market products is largely driven by the health of the housing sector. According to the U.S.
Census bureau, there were 1.3 million new housing starts in 2018 and the National Association of Home Builders forecasts that there will
be approximately another 1.3 million new housing starts in 2019. We believe that the appliance, HVAC, and water heater industries are
currently primed for slightly favorable growth.
The United States major household appliance industry, which includes water heaters, is forecast to show modest growth during 2019,
as new and existing home sales, as well as home improvement spending, both of which have a direct impact on appliance industry sales,
continue to show positive outlooks. According to an independent source published in December 2018, forecasted revenue for this industry
in the United States is expected to grow at an annual growth rate of 1.1% from 2018 to 2023 to reach approximately $21.2 billion in
revenue in 2023. The United States HVAC industry is also poised to benefit from the positive outlook in the housing and home
improvement markets. According to an independent source published in November 2018, forecasted revenue for this industry is expected
to grow at an annual growth rate of 0.5% from 2018 to 2023 to reach approximately $48.8 billion in revenue in 2023. We believe these
benefits will increase the demand for our products from existing clients including GE,Whirlpool, AO Smith, Rheem and Trane.
Our Objectives
Our goals are to provide exceptional quality, reliable on-time delivery, competitive cost, and technical innovation with rapid engineering
support. The objective is for Unique to be the easiest source for our customers to do business with, while being a great place to work for
our team members. We seek to execute a business model that generates sustainable ongoing adjusted free cash flow, thereby providing
flexibility for capital allocation. We also strive to achieve growth at above industry levels through strong competitive capabilities in
engineering, manufacturing, and program management that contribute to leading positions in cost and quality. In addition, the Company
will selectively continue to pursue opportunistic acquisitions that provide additional products and processes, as well as entrance into new
growth markets.
We work together with our customers in various stages of production, including initial concept and development, routine engineering
problem resolution during their product launches and ongoing value engineering. In addition, we work together with our customers on
component sourcing, quality assurance, manufacturing and delivery in order to develop long-standing business relationships. We believe
we are well-positioned to meet customer needs and have a strong, established reputation with customers for providing high-quality
products at competitive prices, as well as for timely delivery and customer service. Given that both the automotive OEM business and the
appliance/water heater OEM business involve long-term business awarded on a platform-by-platform basis, our intent is to leverage our
strong technical expertise and customer relationships to obtain new platform awards.
Our Strengths
Our mission is to deliver innovative and timely customer solutions for NVH management, water and air sealing and other functional
and decorative applications. We employ our extensive knowledge of raw materials and adhesives, our engineering
4
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and creative resources and our rapid response capabilities to deliver rapid technical innovation, exceptional quality, reliable on-time
delivery and competitive costs. We believe the key to our core competitive strengths are as follows:
Strong technical expertise. We have tremendous depth of expertise and knowledge of materials, adhesives, manufacturing processes
and the product applications of our customers. Our understanding of our customers’ design and performance needs, and how our products
interface with their applications allows us to engineer effective product solutions. We believe that our engineering talent, test facilities and
rapid prototyping capabilities distinguish us from our competitors and enable us to rapidly innovate and develop products that resolve
customers’ problems, often within 24 to 48 hours. By understanding our customers’ products and processes, when we are confronted with
a customer engineering challenge, we can conceptualize a design concept that allows us to capitalize on the optimum combination of
materials to solve a given problem. We have the ability to create our own prototype tools in-house so that we can go directly from concept
to hardware and quickly present tangible product solutions for our customers to evaluate. Our ability to rapidly address customer
challenges and provide prototype parts that include the use of new materials, products or processes is one of our key competitive
strengths.
Operational Excellence. We are dedicated to maintaining a culture of continuous improvement. We utilize lean manufacturing
techniques and statistical methods to drive productivity and quality improvement. We use quality, delivery and speed-to-market as
competitive advantages. Lean manufacturing not only improves overall costs and quality, it also improves product velocity through the
manufacturing process. This leads to better response time and greater flexibility in scheduling. Our reputation for high quality, innovative
products is attributable to a constant emphasis on engineering, including materials engineering, product and process engineering, and
sales engineering, coupled with our dedication to lean manufacturing to ensure effective execution.
Depth of customer relationships. We have developed long-term relationships with a customer base that we target deliberately. Each
of our customers has substantial requirements for NVH management, water and air sealing, functional and decorative components. Due to
our technical sophistication, raw material and adhesive innovation and rapid responsiveness, we have a reputation with our key customers
as the supplier of choice for our core products within the North American automotive and appliance markets. Our sales engineers have
developed deep relationships with the technical teams of our key customers. The customers’ engineers leverage our materials knowledge
and utilize us as a resource to help them solve problems and/or pursue product enhancements. This enables us to become involved early
in the design/development stage of new vehicles or appliances, leading to opportunities to introduce new products. In certain situations, we
are able to influence the customer design specifications from which new business is awarded.
Key relationships with suppliers. We have long relationships with over 150 raw material and adhesive suppliers. We track new
developments in materials, and pursue exclusive relationships with those suppliers that develop innovative raw materials and adhesives.
Our key suppliers see us as a way to introduce their new products and technology to the marketplace and obtain the necessary customer
approvals. This, in turn, can lead to Unique being first to market with certain products or materials. For example, this has led to us having
exclusive access for our types of products to the only source of recycled polyol for polyurethane in the industry. While products
incorporating these materials accounted for less than 1% of net sales for the year ended December 30, 2018, we believe these recycled
materials are opening up opportunities for new product variations that other competitors cannot offer. We constantly collaborate with our
suppliers to develop new materials and adhesive combinations that exhibit a cost, quality and/or performance enhancement for our
customers.
Proximity to key customers. Our manufacturing facilities are strategically located to serve the North American automotive and
appliance industries. Our primary manufacturing centers are in the Midwestern and Southeastern regions of the United States, Mexico,
and Canada. We believe that our manufacturing facilities are within approximately 500 miles of over 80.0% of North American vehicle
production, and even closer to major appliance manufacturing locations. This is advantageous, because our products are light in weight,
and transportation costs can be a significant portion of the delivered cost of products.
Our Strategy
Our business strategy is to be a valued partner in our customers’ product development and production processes by producing
exceptional quality and providing reliable on-time delivery, competitive costs, and technical innovation with rapid engineering support. We
utilize our extensive knowledge of raw materials and adhesives combined with our engineering development and rapid responsiveness to
deliver innovative and timely customer solutions for NVH management, water and air sealing, decorative and other functional applications.
We attempt to align our internal human resources and technical capabilities to take advantage of industry mega trends, such as light
weighting, telematics, and reduced energy consumption, which we believe have contributed to profitable revenue growth opportunities
from our existing operations. In addition, our growth plan includes initiatives to develop certain new
5
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products and new markets which provide incremental growth opportunities. We believe that significant opportunities exist to continue to
grow our business and increase profitability by focusing on the following:
Further Penetrate Existing Markets with Existing Products and Processes. We believe we are positioned to gain share and grow in
existing markets with our current products and processes, capitalizing on the industry’s increasing demand for NVH management content
coupled with our capabilities, including exclusive proprietary materials sold to existing customers and targeted new customers. As OEM
vehicles change materials to reduce weight, vehicles are utilizing more rubber and plastic components like those designed and supplied by
Unique. In addition, the increasing use of telematics is driving a need for quieter interiors in vehicles at all levels. This is causing an
increase in the amount of acoustical insulation and solutions per vehicle. Separately, the rate of increase in vehicle production is projected
to be significantly higher in the Southern United States and Mexico than elsewhere in North America over the next few years. We hope to
capitalize on our ability to service customers in different geographical locations through our manufacturing facilities in the Midwestern and
Southeastern regions of the United States and in Mexico and Canada.
Develop New Products and Processes for Existing Markets. We have developed and earned the reputation as a problem solver to our
current customers. As a result, we are in the position to develop complementary products and processes that can be sold to the same
purchasing and engineering groups that already do business with us. By adding products and processes to our portfolio that broaden our
scope with existing engineers and purchasing groups, we can offer one stop shopping, that allows them to reduce their supply base and
complexity, while increasing sales opportunities for Unique. We work closely with raw material and adhesive suppliers to develop
innovative solutions that offer cost and performance improvement. We constantly focus on finding new applications for molded products
utilizing thermoforming, compression and fusion molding. These activities frequently lead to the development of new or novel products not
yet in common use. When this occurs, we actively explore the patentability of the product. Protection of our intellectual property is a
conscious part of our strategy of using technology and innovation as a competitive advantage. An example of this is our patent pending for
light weight TwinShape duct technology.
Create New Markets with Existing Products and Processes. While the specific products may vary, we have identified numerous
opportunities to sell products fabricated using die cut and molding technology into new markets such as medical and industrial markets
that we do not currently serve. We have demonstrated the ability to develop cost effective products utilizing various materials. Our recent
acquisitions have provided the Company with credible access to a variety of new markets for our products. Because of our strategic
acquisitions, we are currently developing new products for the appliance, water heater and HVAC industries utilizing our various molding
technologies. We are also exploring increased opportunities for medical products. Raw material and adhesive suppliers rely on us to
provide marketplace insight into new or emerging customer challenges. We have the capability to combine new materials with new
processes to create cost effective products in new markets.
Pursue Acquisitions. We expect to selectively pursue acquisitions that add new products and/or processes or geographic and market
expansion to further expand our portfolio of customer solutions. Since December 2013, management has completed four accretive add-on
acquisitions that added new markets, products, and additional manufacturing processes to our capabilities. Management has a long history
of identifying and successfully integrating new platforms. We will continue to use our relationship with Taglich Private Equity, LLC, which
sponsored our formation, to identify evaluate and execute acquisition opportunities.
Products
Unique’s primary products, which are identified by manufacturing process — die cut products, thermoformed/compression molded
products, fusion molded products, and reaction injection molding (RIM) — are highlighted below:

6
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Automotive Product Applications

Unique’s rapid responsiveness and extensive product and process capabilities are valued by our customers. We believe Unique’s
diverse product offerings, derived from a broad base of raw materials utilizing multiple manufacturing technologies, is the most
comprehensive of similar companies operating in this industry. Based on our knowledge of our competitors, we believe that the companies
we compete with offer fewer material choices and/or possess fewer manufacturing process alternatives than Unique. Unique’s access to
broad production capabilities enables it to work with over 1,000 raw materials to develop the optimum solution for a given application.
Unique’s broad product offerings results in it being a single-source supplier to many customers, which creates a competitive advantage.
Die Cut Products
Unique is primarily a supplier of die cut non-metallic materials and components. Historically, this has been the Company’s core
business, within all of its markets, developed through its technical expertise, broad customer base, strategic manufacturing footprint,
diverse material selection and strong quality and delivery performance. Unique leverages its market position in die cutting by offering more
highly engineered, higher value products and processes such as thermoforming, compression molding, fusion molding and RIM molded
polyurethane.
Die cut products are utilized in applications such as air and water sealing, insulation, NVH performance and BSR conditions. Unique is
a market leader in this product area. The following diagram highlights examples of its die cut products:
Examples of Die Cut Products

Product:
Purpose:
Material:

HVAC Seal
Air & Water Sealing
PUR Foam

Trim Insulation
NVH
PUR Foam

Headliner Insulation
NVH
Non-Woven PP
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NVH
Thinsulate Fiber
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Product:
Purpose:
Material:

A/B/C Pillar Cover
Decorative (Class A)
Laminated Vinyl

Dashboard Seal
NVH
EPDM

Cup Holder Base
Decorative
Santoprene TPE

Under Hood Insulation
NVH
Vinyl Nitrile

Thermoformed/Compression Molded Products
Unique's product offerings include thermoformed and compression molded products. Unique has leveraged its position as a
manufacturer of core die cut products to gain traction with customers who wanted a single-source solution for other related products, such
as thermoformed, compression molded and fusion molded components. The Company has recently added RIM polyuerethane
components to its portfolio.
Management seeks to continue the development of molded products that are complementary to the Company’s die cut products.
These products have a higher engineering content and provide increased sales and potential margin growth. These products also
differentiate Unique, which we believe will make us more valuable to our target customers. The Company’s development efforts in this
area have led to innovative product solutions such as Unique’s existing patent pending thermoformed HVAC duct modules, and Unique’s
proprietary TwinShape duct line. The TwinShape line is currently in production at three vehicle OEMs, has been selected by an additional
OEM, for a model year 2019 vehicle, and is being evaluated in development programs for four other OEMs.
Unique’s thermoformed and compression molded products include HVAC air ducts, door watershields, evaporator liners, console bin
mats and fender insulators, among others. Unique believes there is significant room to grow within each of its thermoformed and
compression molded product areas. The following diagram highlights examples of Unique’s thermoformed and compression molded
products:
Examples of our Thermoformed/Compression Molded Products

Product:
Purpose:
Material:

HVAC Duct Module
Functional
Cross Linked PP

Door Watershield
Air & Water Sealing
Cross Linked PP/PE
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Console Bin Mat
Decorative
PVC

Air Duct
Functional
Cross Linked PP
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The following highlights Unique’s TwinShape line of innovative twin-sheet thermoformed air duct technology:
TwinShape Twin-Sheet Thermoformed Air Duct Technology

Fusion Molded Products
Unique provides fusion molding capability in-house. Fusion molding is an innovative foam molding process used to manufacture
precise three dimensional components that are lightweight and provide excellent thermal and acoustic performance. Primarily used for
NVH management and body sealing applications, the fusion molded products are complementary to Unique’s other product lines and give
Unique additional options to provide light-weighting and NVH management solutions to its customers.
In Europe, the market for fusion molded products is fairly developed; BMW, Mercedes and VW have integrated the technology in their
vehicles for several years. The North American market for fusion molding is growing rapidly as European OEMs source more fusion
molded products in their North American vehicles and the technology gains traction with domestic OEMs including Fiat Chrysler
Automobiles ("FCA") and General Motors. In addition, since there are a very limited number of North American suppliers with the
engineering and manufacturing capabilities to produce fusion molded components, Unique is well positioned to capitalize on the
anticipated growth in the North American market.
Unique’s fusion molded products include exterior mirror seals, cowl-to-hood seals, cowl-to-fender seals, and other NVH management
and sealing applications like fillers, spacers and gaskets. The following diagram highlights examples of Unique’s fusion molded products:
Examples of our fusion molded products

Product:
Purpose:
Material:

Interior Mirror Seal
NVH
Cross Linked PE

Body-In-White Seal
NVH
Cross Linked PE
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Cowl to Hood Seal
NVH
Cross Linked PE

Cowl to Fender Seal
NVH
Cross Linked PE
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The following highlights the Unique’s fusion molding technology:

Fusion Molding Technology

Interior Mirror Seal
Significant Customers
The Company’s customers are principally engaged in the North American automotive industry (approximately 85.1% of our net sales
for the year ended December 30, 2018), as well as in the manufacturing of durable residential housing and some commercial products
(approximately 10.3% of our net sales for the year ended December 30, 2018). In the automotive market, the Company’s sales are
primarily directly to Tier 1 suppliers to the OEMs. Approximately 17.2% of our net sales for the year ended December 30, 2018 were made
directly to vehicle OEMs. Sales of Company products, directly and indirectly through Tier I suppliers, to General Motors, FCA and Ford
Motor Company represented approximately 15%, 16% and 11%, respectively, of our net sales for the year ended December 30, 2018.
However, no single customer accounted for more than 10% of our net direct sales for the years ended December 30, 2018 and December
31, 2017, respectively. Please refer to Note 1 for further disclosure on net sales made directly to vehicle OEMs in prior years as well as net
sales for our foreign operations located in Mexico and Canada for 2018 and prior years.
Competitive Environment
We believe that customer sourcing decisions are based on the responsiveness of a supplier and its ability to deliver innovative
solutions, quality products and competitive pricing. In order to be awarded opportunities, Unique strives to develop mutually beneficial
relationships with its customers through technical support and consistent/predictable performance. Unique differentiates itself through
innovation in materials, rapid responsiveness and broad manufacturing capabilities.
Unique estimates the auto market for its core business of multi-material foam, rubber and plastic components utilized in NVH
management, air and water sealing, functional and decorative applications to be approximately $700 million in North America. This is
based on management estimates that the average light vehicle utilizes approximately $40.00 of Unique related components, based on
typical product usage. Unique estimates the appliance, water heater, and HVAC industry for its core products and business to be around
$1 billion in North America. Unique believes that there is not any dominant supplier within its core markets in auto and appliance, water
heater, and HVAC, although Unique believes that it is the largest supplier, measured by net sales, within the market. There are significant
barriers to entry into such markets, including the complexities of managing production and ordering raw materials at the scale necessary
and the difficulty, cost and length of time required to obtain acceptance by customers.
Liability and Insurance
We have liability and other insurance coverage which we believe is sufficient to cover our risks.
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Employees
As of December 30, 2018, we had 1,095 full-time and 98 contract workers. In the Auburn Hills, Michigan facility, 162 hourly workers
are represented by a labor union and are covered by a collective bargaining agreement which is effective through August 2019. In the
Louisville, Kentucky facility, 29 hourly workers are represented by a labor union and are covered by a collective bargaining agreement
which is effective through February 1, 2020. We have never experienced a material work stoppage or disruption to our business relating to
employee matters. We believe that our relationship with our employees is good.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
Set forth below are certain risks and uncertainties that could adversely affect our results of operations or financial condition and cause our
actual results to differ materially from those expressed in forward-looking statements made by the Company. Also refer to the Special Note
Regarding Forward-Looking Statements in Item 1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS
We have substantial debt and if we were to default on paying our debt or fail to comply with the covenants, our lenders could
take action that would likely cause our stockholders to lose their entire investment in us.
As of December 30, 2018, we had approximately $55.9 million of debt outstanding under our senior secured credit facility.
Substantially all of our assets are pledged to the lenders to secure this outstanding debt. In the event that we are unable to make principal,
interest or other payments due under or we do not comply with the covenants contained in the senior secured credit facility, the lenders
could declare an event of default, accelerate all amounts outstanding and seek to foreclose on the collateral securing such indebtedness.
In such event, we could be forced to file for bankruptcy protection and stockholders would likely lose their entire investment in us.
The agreement governing our senior secured credit facility contains financial covenants and other covenants that may restrict
our current and future operations, particularly our ability to respond to changes in our business or to take certain actions. If we
are unable to comply with these covenants, our business, results of operations and liquidity could be materially and adversely
affected.
Our ability to comply with the covenants in the senior secured credit facility agreement may be affected by economic or business
conditions beyond our control. If we are not able to comply with these covenants when required and we are unable to obtain necessary
waivers or amendments from the lenders, we would be precluded from borrowing under the credit facility. If we are unable to borrow under
the credit facility, we will need to meet our liquidity requirements using other sources. Alternative sources of liquidity may not be available
on acceptable terms, if at all. In addition, if we do not comply with the financial or other covenants in the credit facility when required, the
lenders could declare an event of default under the credit facility, and our indebtedness thereunder could be declared immediately due and
payable. The lenders would also have the right in these circumstances to terminate any commitments they have to provide further
borrowings. Any of these events would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and liquidity.
In addition, the senior secured credit facility contains covenants that, among other things, restrict our ability to:
•

incur liens;

•

incur or assume additional debt or guarantees;

•

pay dividends, or make redemptions and repurchases, with respect to capital stock;

•

make loans and investments;

•

make capital expenditures;

•

engage in mergers, acquisitions, asset sales, sale/leaseback transactions and transactions with affiliates; and

•

change the business conducted by us or our subsidiaries.

The operating and financial restrictions and covenants in this debt agreement and any future financing agreements may adversely
affect our ability to finance future operations or capital needs or to engage in other business activities.
Our substantial amount of indebtedness may adversely affect our cash flow and our ability to operate our business, remain in
compliance with debt covenants and make payments on our indebtedness.
Our substantial level of indebtedness increases the possibility that we may be unable to generate cash sufficient to pay, when due, the
principal of, interest on or other amounts due with respect to our indebtedness. The level of our indebtedness could have other important
consequences to you as a stockholder. For example, it could:
•

make it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations with respect to our indebtedness and any failure to comply with the obligations
under our credit facility, including financial and other restrictive covenants, could result in an event of default under the senior
secured credit facility;
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•

make us more vulnerable to adverse changes in general economic, industry and competitive conditions and adverse changes in
government regulation;

•

require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our indebtedness, thereby reducing the
availability of our cash flows to fund working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, pay dividends and other general corporate
purposes;

•

limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we operate;

•

place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt; and

•

limit our ability to borrow additional amounts for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, debt service requirements,
execution of our business strategy or other purposes.
Any of the above listed factors could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The senior secured credit facility contains restrictive covenants that limit our ability to engage in activities that may be in our long-term
best interests. Our failure to comply with those covenants could result in an event of default which, if not cured or waived, could result in
the acceleration of our debt.
Our major customers may exert significant influence over us.
The vehicle component supply industry has traditionally been highly fragmented and serves a limited number of large OEMs. As a
result, OEMs have historically had a significant amount of leverage over their outside suppliers. Our arrangements with major OEM and
Tier 1 customers frequently provide for an annual productivity cost reduction. Historically, cost reductions through product design changes,
increased productivity and similar programs with our suppliers have generally offset these customer-imposed productivity cost reduction
requirements. However, if we are unable to generate sufficient production cost savings in the future to offset price reductions, our gross
margin and profitability would be adversely affected. In addition, changes in our customers’ purchasing policies or payment practices could
have an adverse effect on our business.
The loss or insolvency of any of our major customers would adversely affect our future results.
Our three largest customers, in the aggregate, accounted for approximately 19.6% of our net sales for the year ended December 30,
2018. We have not entered into long-term agreements with any of our customers. Instead, we enter into a number of purchase order
commitments with our customers, based on their current or projected needs. We have in the past lost, and may in the future, lose
customers due to the highly competitive conditions in the industries we serve, including pricing pressures. A decision by any significant
customer, whether motivated by competitive conditions, financial difficulties or otherwise, to materially decrease the amount of products
purchased from us, to change their manner of doing business with us or to stop doing business with us could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We have no long-term contracts with customers.
We supply our products based on purchase orders placed by our customers from time to time but have no long-term contracts with our
customers. We will commit to end-product pricing for a specified quantity of product for the duration of a vehicle’s production, generally
three to five years. In the past, we successfully mitigated price volatility though aggressive supplier management and alternative material
substitution strategies. Typically, our products are refreshed during a vehicle’s production life creating opportunities to modify pricing if
material costs have risen. However, there can be no assurance that we will be able to implement or sustain such strategies in the future or
modify pricing to pass potential increases in material costs to customers. Our inability to do so could materially adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
Our inability to compete effectively in the highly competitive vehicle component supply industry could result in lower prices for
our products, reduced gross margins and loss of market share, which could have an adverse effect on our revenues and
operating results.
The vehicle component supply industry is highly competitive. Our products primarily compete on the basis of price, breadth of product
offerings, product quality, technical expertise and development capability, product delivery and product service. Increased competition may
lead to price reductions resulting in reduced gross margins and loss of market share.
Current and future competitors may make strategic acquisitions or establish cooperative relationships among themselves or with
others, foresee the course of market development more accurately than we do, develop products that are superior to our
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products, produce similar products at lower cost than we can or adapt more quickly to new technologies, industry or customer
requirements. By doing so, they may enhance their ability to meet the needs of our customers or potential future customers. These
developments could limit our ability to obtain revenues from new customers and to maintain existing revenues from our existing customer
base. We may not be able to compete successfully against current and future competitors and the failure to do so may have a material
adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.
We rely on raw materials suppliers in our business and significant shortages, supplier capacity constraints or supplier
production disruptions could adversely affect our financial condition and operating results.
Our reliance on suppliers to secure raw materials exposes us to volatility in the prices and availability of our products. A disruption in
deliveries from suppliers could have a material adverse effect on our ability to meet our commitments to customers or could increase our
operating costs. Moreover, the cost of raw materials used in the production of our products, represents a significant portion of our direct
manufacturing costs. The number of customers to which we are not able to pass on such price increases may increase in the future. We
believe that our supply management and production practices are based on an appropriate balancing of the foreseeable risks and the
costs of alternative practices. Nonetheless, price increases, supplier capacity constraints, supplier production disruptions or the
unavailability of some raw materials may have a material adverse effect on our cash flows, competitive position, financial condition or
results of operations. If we are not able to buy raw materials at fixed prices or pass on price increases to our customers, we may lose
orders or enter into orders with less favorable terms, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations.
We conduct certain of our manufacturing in Mexico and Canada, therefore, are subject to risks associated with doing business
outside the United States, including the possible effects of currency exchange rate fluctuations.
We have two manufacturing facilities in Mexico and one in Canada. There are a number of risks associated with doing business in
Mexico and Canada, including, exposure to local economic and political conditions, export and import restrictions, and the potential for
shortages of trained labor. Our sales are primarily denominated in U.S. dollars. Because a portion of our manufacturing costs are incurred
in Mexican pesos and Canadian dollars, fluctuations in the U.S. dollar/Mexican peso and U.S dollar/Canadian dollar exchange rates may
have a material effect on our profitability, cash flows, financial position, and may significantly affect the comparability of our results
between financial periods. Any depreciation in the value of the U.S. dollar in relation to the value of the Mexican peso or Canadian dollar
will adversely affect the cost of our Mexican and Canadian operations when remeasured into U.S. dollars. Similarly, any appreciation in the
value of the U.S. dollar in relation to the value of the Mexican peso or Canadian dollar will decrease the cost of our Mexican and Canadian
operations when remeasured into U.S. dollars. These risks may materially adversely impact our business, results of operations and
financial condition.
Prior periods of weakness in the global economy, the global credit markets and the financial services industry severely and
negatively affected demand for automobiles and automobile parts and our business, financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows.
Demand for and pricing of our products are subject to economic conditions and other factors present in the various markets where our
products are sold. The level of demand for our products depends primarily upon the level of consumer demand for new vehicles that are
manufactured with our products. The level of new vehicle purchases is cyclical, affected by such factors as general economic conditions,
interest rates, consumer confidence, consumer preferences, patterns of consumer spending, fuel costs and the automobile replacement
cycle.
The global economic crisis that prevailed throughout 2008 and 2009 resulted in delayed and reduced purchases of durable consumer
goods, such as automobiles. Although the global economic climate has improved since 2009, if the global economy were to take another
significant downturn, depending upon its length, duration and severity, our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash
flow would again be materially adversely affected.
Our business is cyclical in nature and downturns in the automotive industry could reduce the sales and profitability of its
business.
The demand for our products is largely dependent on the North American production of automobiles. The markets for our products
have been cyclical, because new vehicle demand is dependent on, among other things, consumer spending and is tied closely to the
overall strength of the economy. Because our products are used principally in the production of vehicles for the automotive market, our net
sales, and therefore results of operations, are significantly dependent on the general state of the economy and other factors which affect
these markets. A decline in vehicle production would adversely impact our results of operations and financial condition. In addition, the
North American automotive market experienced a downturn during 2008 and 2009 as a result of general weakness in the North American
economy. Although North American vehicle production
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declined in 2018, the production levels in most of the next five years are forecast to slighltly increase again. We cannot provide any
assurance as to the level of growth in our markets. If the market stagnates or if there is any extended downturn, it could materially affect
our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We are a holding company with no operations of our own, and we depend on our subsidiaries for cash to fund all of our
operations and expenses, including to make future dividend payments, if any.
Our operations are conducted entirely through our subsidiaries and our ability to generate cash to fund all of our operations and
expenses and to pay dividends or to meet any debt service obligations of the holding company is highly dependent on the earnings and
the receipt of funds from our subsidiaries via dividends or intercompany loans. We currently expect to continue to pay dividends on our
common stock; however, none of our subsidiaries will be obligated to make funds available to us for the payment of dividends. Further, the
agreement governing our senior credit facility, for which our subsidiary, Unique Fabricating NA, Inc. is the borrower, restricts the ability of
our subsidiaries to pay dividends, make loans or otherwise transfer assets to us. In addition, the laws of the jurisdictions in which our
subsidiaries are organized may impose requirements that may restrict the ability of subsidiaries to pay dividends to us.
We may pursue acquisitions that involve inherent risks, any of which may cause us to not realize anticipated benefits.
Our business strategy includes the potential acquisition of businesses that we expect will complement and expand our business. For
example, during the last five fiscal years, we acquired the businesses and substantially all of the assets of PTI, Chardan, Great Lakes, and
Intasco. We may not be able to successfully identify suitable acquisition opportunities or complete any particular acquisition, combination
or other transaction on acceptable terms. Our identification of suitable acquisition candidates involves risks inherent in assessing the
values, strengths, weaknesses, risks and profitability of these opportunities, including their effects on our business, diversion of our
management’s attention and risks associated with unanticipated problems or unforeseen liabilities. If we are successful in pursuing future
acquisitions, we may be required to expend significant funds, incur additional debt, or issue additional shares of common stock, which may
materially and adversely affect our results of operations and be dilutive to our stockholders. If we spend significant funds or incur additional
debt, our ability to obtain financing for working capital or other purposes could decline and we may be more vulnerable to economic
downturns and competitive pressures. In addition, we cannot guarantee that we will be able to finance additional acquisitions or that we will
realize any anticipated benefits from acquisitions that we complete. Should we successfully acquire other businesses, the process of
integrating acquired operations into our existing operations may result in unforeseen operating difficulties and may require significant
financial resources that would otherwise be available for the ongoing development or expansion of our existing business. Our failure to
identify suitable acquisition opportunities may restrict our ability to grow our business.
We may experience increased costs and other disruptions to our business associated with labor unions.
As of December 30, 2018, we had 1,095 full-time employees, of whom 843 are hourly and 252 are salaried. 191 of our hourly
employees are represented by labor unions and covered by collective bargaining agreements. A collective bargaining agreement covering
162 hourly workers employed at our Auburn Hills, Michigan facility terminates in August 2019. We cannot assure you that we will negotiate
successfully a new collective bargaining agreement in our Auburn Hills facility, or other of our employees will not be represented by a labor
organization in the future or that any of our facilities will not experience a work stoppage or other labor disruption. Many of our customers
and their suppliers also have unionized work forces. Work stoppages or slow-downs experienced by customers or their other suppliers
could result in slow-downs or closures of assembly plants where our products are included in assembled commercial vehicles. Any work
stoppage or other labor disruption involving our employees, employees of our customers (many of which customers have employees who
are represented by unions), or employees of our suppliers could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or
results of operations by disrupting our ability to manufacture our products or reducing the demand for our products.
We would be adversely affected by the loss of key personnel.
Our success is dependent upon the continued services of our senior management team and other key employees. Although certain
key members of our senior management have employment agreements for their continued services, there is no guaranty that each such
person will choose to remain with us. The loss of any key employees (including such members of our senior management team) could
materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.
In addition, our success depends in part on our ability to attract, hire, train and retain qualified managerial, engineering, sales and
marketing personnel. We face significant competition for these types of employees in our industry. We may be unsuccessful in attracting
and retaining the personnel we require to conduct our operations successfully. The loss of any member of our senior management team or
other key employees could impair our ability to execute our business plans and
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strategic initiatives, cause us to lose customers and experience reduced net sales, or lead to employee morale problems and/or the loss of
other key employees. In any such event, our financial condition, results of operations, internal control over financial reporting, or cash flows
could be adversely affected.
Our results of operations may be negatively impacted by product liability lawsuits and claims.
Our automotive products expose us to potential product liability risks that are inherent in the design, manufacture, sale and use of our
products. While we currently maintain what we believe to be suitable product liability insurance, we cannot assure you that we will be able
to maintain this insurance on acceptable terms, that this insurance will provide adequate protection against potential liabilities or that our
insurance providers will successfully weather the current economic downturn. One or more successful claims against us could materially
adversely affect our reputation and our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
Our businesses are subject to statutory environmental and safety regulations in multiple jurisdictions, and the impact of any
changes in regulation and/or the violation of any applicable laws and regulations by our businesses could result in a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We are subject to foreign, federal, state, and local laws and regulations governing the protection of the environment and occupational
health and safety, including laws regulating: air emissions; wastewater discharges; the generation, storage, handling, use and
transportation of hazardous materials; the emission and discharge of hazardous materials into the soil, ground or air; and the health and
safety of our employees. We are also required to obtain permits from governmental authorities for certain of our operations. We cannot
assure you that we are, or have been, in complete compliance with such environmental and safety laws, regulations and permits. If we
violate or fail to comply with these laws, regulations or permits, we could be fined or otherwise sanctioned by regulators. In some
instances, such a fine or sanction could have a material and adverse effect on us. The environmental laws to which we are subject have
become more stringent over time, and we could incur material expenses in the future to comply with environmental laws. We are also
subject to laws imposing liability for the cleanup of contaminated property. Under these laws, we could be held liable for costs and
damages relating to contamination at our past or present facilities and at third party sites to which we sent waste containing hazardous
substances. The amount of such liability could be material.
Certain of our operations generate hazardous substances and wastes. If a release of such substances or wastes occurs at or from our
properties, or at or from any offsite disposal location to which substances or wastes from our current or former operations were taken, or if
contamination is discovered at any of our current or former properties, we may be held liable for the costs of cleanup and for any other
claim by governmental authorities or private parties, together with any associated fines, penalties or damages. In most jurisdictions, this
liability would arise whether or not we had complied with environmental laws governing the handling of hazardous substances or wastes.
We may be adversely affected by the impact of government regulations on our customers.
Although the products we manufacture and supply to vehicle customers are not subject to significant government regulation, our
business is indirectly impacted by the extensive governmental regulation applicable to vehicle customers. These regulations primarily
relate to emissions and noise standards imposed by the Environmental Protection Agency, or EPA, state regulatory agencies, such as the
California Air Resources Board, or CARB, and other regulatory agencies around the world. Vehicle customers are also subject to the
National Traffic and Motor Vehicle Safety Act and Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standards promulgated by the National Highway Traffic
Safety Administration. Changes in emission standards and other proposed governmental regulations could impact the demand for
vehicles and, as a result, indirectly impact our operations. For example, emission standards governing heavy-duty (Class 8) diesel
engines that went into effect in the United States on October 1, 2002 and January 1, 2007 resulted in significant purchases of new trucks
by fleet operators prior to such date and reduced short term demand for such trucks in periods immediately following such date. Emission
standards for truck engines used in Class 5 to 8 trucks imposed by the EPA and CARB became effective in 2010. To the extent that
current or future governmental regulation has a negative impact on the demand for vehicles, our business, financial condition or results of
operations could be adversely affected.
We have only limited protection for our proprietary rights in our intellectual property, which makes it difficult to prevent third
parties from infringing upon our rights.
Our success depends to a certain degree on our ability to protect our intellectual property and to operate without infringing on the
proprietary rights of third parties. We have not been issued patents and have not registered trademarks with respect to our products. Our
competitors could duplicate our designs, processes or other intellectual property or design around any
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processes or designs on which we may obtain patents or trademark protection in the future. In addition, it is possible that third parties may
have or acquire patents, trademarks, or licenses for other technology or designs that we may use or desire to use, so that we may need to
acquire licenses to, or to contest the validity of, such patents or trademarks of third parties. Such licenses may not be made available to us
on acceptable terms, if at all, and we may not prevail in contesting the validity of third party rights.
We protect trade secrets, know-how and other confidential information against unauthorized use by others or disclosure by persons
who have access to them, such as our employees, through contractual or other arrangements. These arrangements may not provide
meaningful protection for our trade secrets, know-how or other proprietary information in the event of any unauthorized use,
misappropriation or disclosure of such trade secrets, know-how or other proprietary information. If we are unable to maintain the
proprietary nature of our technologies, our revenues could be materially adversely affected.
The United States passed a comprehensive tax reform bill that could adversely affect our financial performance.
On December 22, 2017, President Trump signed into law the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act that significantly revises the Internal Revenue Code
of 1986, as amended (the “IRC”). The newly enacted federal income tax law, among other things, contains significant changes to
corporate taxation, including the reduction of the corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21%, a one-time transition tax on offshore
earnings at reduced tax rates regardless of whether the earnings are repatriated, the elimination of U.S. tax on foreign dividends (subject
to certain important exceptions), new taxes on certain foreign earnings, a new minimum tax related to payments to foreign subsidiaries and
affiliates, immediate deductions for certain new investments, limitations on deductibility of interest expense, and the modification or repeal
of many business deductions and credits. Notwithstanding the reduction in the corporate income tax rate, the overall impact of the new
federal tax law is uncertain, and our financial performance could be adversely affected. In addition, it is uncertain if, and to what extent,
various states will conform to the new tax law and foreign countries will react by adopting tax legislation or taking other actions that could
adversely affect our business.
RISKS RELATED TO OUR COMMON STOCK
We may not be able to pay dividends.
We have paid and currently plan to pay dividends quarterly. However, our ability to pay dividends will be affected by our results and
our needs for funds for use in our operations and to expand our business. In addition, our senior secured credit facility contains covenants
which restrict or limit the amounts that we can pay as dividends or preclude the payments of dividends altogether.
If our executive officers, directors and principal stockholders choose to act together, they will be able to exert significant
influence over us and our significant corporate decisions and may act in a manner that advances their best interests and not
necessarily those of other stockholders.
Our executive officers, directors, and certain of our large stockholders and their affiliates, to our knowledge, beneficially own
approximately 32.7% of our outstanding common stock. As a result, these persons, if they were to act together, have the ability to
significantly influence the outcome of all matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election and removal of directors and any
merger, consolidation, or sale of all or substantially all of our assets, and they could act in a manner that advances their best interests and
not necessarily those of other stockholders, by among other things:
•

delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of us;

•

entrenching our management and/or our board of directors;

•

impeding a merger, consolidation, takeover or other business combination involving us;

•

discouraging a potential acquirer from making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us; or

•

causing us to enter into transactions or agreements that are not in the best interests of all stockholders.

Securities analysts may not initiate or continue coverage of our common stock or may issue negative reports, which may have
a negative impact on the market price of our common stock.
To date since our initial public offering, there has been limited coverage of our common stock by securities analysts. Securities
analysts may elect not to provide research coverage of our common stock. If securities analysts do not cover our common stock, the lack
of research coverage may cause the market price of our common stock to decline, or adversely affect
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the trading volume for our common stock. The trading market for our common stock may be affected in part by the research and reports
that industry or financial analysts publish about our business. If one or more of the analysts who elect to cover us downgrade our stock, our
stock price would likely decline rapidly. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of us, we could lose visibility in the market, which
in turn could cause our stock price to decline. In addition, under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and a global
settlement among the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, other regulatory agencies and a number of investment banks,
which was reached in 2003, many investment banking firms are required to contract with independent financial analysts for their stock
research. It may be difficult for a company such as ours, with a smaller market capitalization, to attract independent financial analysts that
will cover our common stock. This could have a negative effect on the market price of and trading volume for our stock.
Future sales of our common stock in the public market may cause our stock price to decline and impair our ability to raise
future capital through the sale of our equity securities.
As of December 30, 2018, we had outstanding 9,779,147 shares of common stock, including 2,702,500 shares of our common stock
issued in our initial public offering and 6,765,028 shares of common stock owned by non-affiliates and issued in private placements, in
each case more than one year ago. The shares owned by non-affiliates can be traded without restriction under Rule 144 or otherwise at
this time. In addition, 3,014,119 shares of common stock are owned by affiliates but can be traded subject to restrictions under Rule 144.
In addition, we have registered all shares that may be issued pursuant to our 2013 Stock Incentive Plan and the 2014 Omnibus
Performance Award Plan. Sales of a large number of these securities on the public market or the perception that a large number of shares
may be sold could reduce the market price of our common stock or impair our ability to raise capital.
Anti-takeover provisions in our organizational documents and Delaware law may discourage or prevent a change in control,
even if an acquisition would be beneficial to our stockholders, which could affect our stock price adversely and prevent
attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management.
Our restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws contain provisions that could discourage, delay or prevent a merger,
acquisition or other change in control of our company or changes in our board of directors that our stockholders might consider favorable,
including transactions in which you might receive a premium for your shares. These provisions also could limit the price that investors
might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock, thereby depressing the market price of our common stock.
Stockholders who wish to participate in these transactions may not have the opportunity to do so. Furthermore, these provisions could
prevent or frustrate attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove management. These provisions:
•

allow the authorized number of directors to be changed only by resolution of our board of directors;

•

provide for a classified board of directors, such that not all members of our board will be elected at one time;

•

prohibit our stockholders from filling board vacancies, limit who may call stockholder meetings, and prohibit the taking of
stockholder action by written consent; and

•

require advance written notice of stockholder proposals that can be acted upon at stockholders meetings and of director
nominations to our board of directors.

In addition, we are subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which may prohibit certain
business combinations with stockholders owning 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock. Any delay or prevention of a change in
control transaction or changes in our board of directors could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.
RISKS RELATED TO PUBLIC COMPANIES
We are an “emerging growth company” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups (JOBS) Act of 2012 and the reduced
disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies may make our common stock less attractive to investors.
We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act. For as long as we continue to be an emerging growth company,
we may take advantage of exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not
emerging growth companies, including (1) not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act, (2) reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements
and (3) exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote
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on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. Under the JOBS Act,
emerging growth companies can delay adopting new or revised accounting standards until such time as those standards apply to private
companies. We have elected to delay such adoption of new or revised accounting standards on the relevant dates on which adoption of
such standards is required for private companies. As a result of this election, our financial statements may not be comparable to the
financial statements of other public companies that comply with all public company accounting standards.
We may take advantage of these exemptions until we are no longer an emerging growth company. Under the JOBS Act, we may be
able to maintain emerging growth company status for up to five years following our initial public offering, although circumstances could
cause us to lose that status earlier, including if the market value of our common stock held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the
last business day of our second quarter during any fiscal year before the end of such five-year period or if we have total annual gross
revenue of $1.1 billion or more during any fiscal year before that time, in which cases we would no longer be an emerging growth
company as of the following December 31. Additionally, if we issue more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt during any three-year
period before that time, we would cease to be an emerging growth company immediately. Even after we no longer qualify as an emerging
growth company, we may qualify as a “smaller reporting company,” which would allow us to take advantage of many of the same
exemptions from disclosure requirements, including not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy
statements. We cannot predict whether investors will find our common stock less attractive because of our reliance on any of these
exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our common
stock and our stock price may be more volatile.
Our emerging growth status will expire on the first day of fiscal year 2020, as such at that time we will no longer be able to take
advantage of the exemptions noted above. We believe the Company will be in compliance with all of the various reporting requirements
that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies on this date.
Regulations related to conflict minerals may force us to incur additional expenses and otherwise adversely impact our business.
The U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, has promulgated final rules mandated by the Dodd-Frank Act regarding
disclosure of the use of tin, tantalum, tungsten and gold, known as conflict minerals, in products manufactured by public companies. These
rules require ongoing due diligence to determine whether such minerals originated from the Democratic Republic of Congo, or the DRC, or
an adjoining country and whether such minerals helped finance the armed conflict in the DRC. Reporting obligations is required annually.
There are some costs associated with complying with these disclosure requirements, including costs to determine the origin of potential
conflict minerals in our product. The implementation of these rules and their effect on customer, supplier and/or consumer behavior could
adversely affect the sourcing, supply and pricing of materials used in our products if we determine in the future we are relying upon conflict
minerals. As a result, we may also incur costs with respect to potential changes to products, processes or sources of supply. We may face
disqualification as a supplier for customers and reputational challenges if the due diligence procedures we implement do not enable us to
verify the origins for all conflict minerals used in our products or to determine if such conflict minerals are conflict-free. Accordingly, the
implementation of these rules could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and/or financial condition.
We incur costs as a result of being a public company, and potentially will incur more after we are no longer an “emerging growth
company” or a“smaller reporting company”. Our management devotes substantial time to public company compliance
programs, and will be required to continue to devote substantial time in the future.
As a public company, we incur significant legal, insurance, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company.
In addition, our administrative staff is required to perform additional tasks. We expect that these expenses will increase when we no longer
qualify as an “emerging growth company” or “smaller reporting company”. We have invested and intend to invest resources to comply with
evolving laws, regulations and standards, and this investment has resulted in increased general and administrative expenses and may
divert management’s time and attention from product development and commercialization activities. If our efforts to comply with new laws,
regulations and standards differ from the activities intended by regulatory or governing bodies due to ambiguities related to practice,
regulatory authorities may initiate legal proceedings against us, and our business may be harmed. In addition, if we are unable to continue
to meet these requirements, we may not be able to maintain the listing of our common stock on the NYSE MKT which would likely have a
material adverse effect on the trading price of our common stock.
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In the future, it may be more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance, and we may be required to accept
reduced coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain coverage. These factors could also make it more difficult for us to attract
and retain qualified executive officers and qualified members of our board of directors, particularly to serve on our audit and compensation
committees.
Our internal control over financial reporting as a public company now requires us to meet the standards required by Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and failure to achieve and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in accordance with Section 404
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act could result in material misstatements of our annual or interim financial statements and have a material
adverse effect on our business and share price.
We are now currently required to comply with the SEC’s rules that implement Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and are
therefore required to make a formal assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting for that purpose. This
requires management to certify financial and other information in our quarterly and annual reports and provide an annual management
report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. This assessment includes the disclosure of any material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting identified by our management or our independent
registered public accounting firm. A “material weakness” is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial
reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be
prevented or detected on a timely basis. A “significant deficiency” is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal controls over
financial reporting that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those responsible for oversight
of our financial reporting, including the audit committee of the board of directors.
Finally, as a public company we believe that we will need to continue to expand our accounting resources, including the size and
expertise of our internal accounting team, to effectively execute a quarterly close process and on an appropriate time frame for a public
company. If we are unsuccessful or unable to sufficiently expand these resources, we may not be able to produce U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP)-compliant financial statements on a time frame required to comply with our reporting requirements under the
Exchange Act, and the financial statements we produce may contain material misstatements, either of which could cause investors to lose
confidence in our financial reports and our financial reporting generally, which could lead to a decline in the trading price of our common
stock.
We may pursue acquisitions that involve inherent risks related to potential internal control weaknesses and significant
deficiencies which may be costly for us to remedy and could impact management assessment of internal control effectiveness.
Although our independent registered public accounting firm will not be required to formally attest to our internal control effectiveness while
we are an emerging growth company, management is still responsible for assessing internal control effectiveness at a consolidated level.
As we integrate acquired companies into our business, the process of integrating our existing operations with entities that could potentially
have material weaknesses and/or significant deficiencies may result in unforeseen operating difficulties and may require significant
financial resources to remedy and material weaknesses or significant deficiencies that would otherwise be available for the ongoing
development or expansion of our existing business. These potential material weaknesses and deficiencies may be costly for us to remedy
properly and properly assess internal control effectiveness.
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
The following sets forth our facilities as of December 30, 2018.
Principal Uses

Headquarters,
Sales/Engineering,
Manufacturing
Sales/Engineering
Manufacturing
Sales/Engineering
Manufacturing
Manufacturing
Manufacturing
Sales/Engineering
Manufacturing
Manufacturing
Manufacturing
Manufacturing

Location

Approximate
Square Footage

Owned or Leased

Auburn Hills, Michigan

150,000

Leased

LaFayette, Georgia

177,000

Owned/Leased (1)

Monterrey, Mexico

91,000

Leased

Queretaro, Mexico
Bryan, Ohio
Louisville, Kentucky

74,000
42,000
73,000

Leased
Leased
Owned

Evansville, Indiana
Concord, Michigan
London, Ontario

200,000
72,000
35,000

Owned/Leased (2)
Leased
Leased

(1) The Company leases warehouse space of approximately 30,000 square feet that it uses in connection with its operations at this
property
(2) The Company leases warehouse space of approximately 134,000 square feet that it uses in connection with its operations at this
property.
We also have an independent sales representative who maintains offices in Baldham, Germany. We do not lease or own the facilities
at which he maintains his offices.
Each of our owned properties has been mortgaged to our bank to secure our borrowings under our senior secured credit facility.
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Management is not aware of any legal proceedings contemplated, pending or threatened against us by any government authority or
any other party involving our business. As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, no director, officer or affiliate is: (1) a party
adverse to us in any legal proceeding, or (2) has an adverse interest to us in any legal proceeding.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
None
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PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUES
Price Range of Common Stock
Our common stock began trading on the NYSE MKT under the symbol “UFAB” on July 1, 2015. Prior to that date, there was no public
market for our common stock. Our IPO was priced at $9.50 per share on July 1, 2015. The following table sets forth for the periods
indicated the high and low closing sales price per share of our common stock as reported on the NYSE American:
Fiscal Year 2018:

High

Period from January 1, 2018 through April 1, 2018
Period from April 2, 2018 through July 1, 2018
Period from July 2, 2018 through September 30, 2018
Period from October 1, 2018 through December 30, 2018

$
$
$
$

Fiscal Year 2017:

Low
8.79
9.70
8.89
8.29

$
$
$
$

14.75
12.21
9.91
9.09

$
$
$
$

High

Period from January 2, 2017 through April 2, 2017
Period from April 3, 2017 through July 2, 2017
Period from July 3, 2017 through October 1, 2017
Period from October 2, 2017 through December 31, 2017

$
$
$
$

7.42
8.37
7.48
4.30
Low
10.41
8.90
7.10
7.05

Performance Graph
The following graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock with the total cumulative return of the Russell
2000 Index and the S&P Auto Parts & Equipment Index during the period commencing on July 1, 2015 the initial trading day of our
common stock and ending on December 30, 2018. The graph assumes that $100 was invested at the beginning of the period in our
common stock and in each of the comparative indices, and assumes the reinvestment of any dividends. Historical stock price performance
should not be relied upon as an indication of future stock price performance.
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Number of Stockholders
As of March 1, 2019 th ere were 29 holders of re cord of the Company's common stock. Due to the fact that many shares are held by
brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, the Company is unable to estimate the total number of individual stockholders
represented by these holders of record.
Dividends
We paid a dividend of $0.15 per share in each quarter of 2018 and 2017. In addition, on February 12, 2019 the board of directors declared
a quarterly cash dividend of $0.05 per common share with respect to the first quarter of 2019. The dividend will be payable on March 7,
2019 to stockholders of record at the close of business on February 28, 2019. Our payment of dividends on our common stock in the future
will be determined by our board of directors in its sole discretion and will depend on business conditions, our financial condition, earnings,
liquidity, and capital requirements. Our senior secured credit facility contains covenants which restrict or limit the amounts that we can pay
as dividends or preclude the payments of dividends altogether.
Equity Compensation Plan Table
Number of
Securities to be
Issued Upon
Exercise of
Outstanding
Options,
Warrants, and
Rights

Plan Category
Equity compensation plan approved by security holders (1)
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders

945,000
—

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price of
Outstanding
Options, Warrants,
and Rights
$
$

7.25
—

Number of
Securities
Remaining
Available for
Future Issuance
Under Equity
Compensation
Plans
206,000
—

(1) Includes options approved under the 2013 Stock Incentive Plan and 2014 Omnibus Performance Award Plan that were granted to
employees of the Company and the board of directors and were registered on Form S-8 (333-206140) on August 6, 2015. Also includes
additional shares under the 2014 Omnibus Performance Award Plan that were registered on Form S-8 (333-212193) on June 23, 2016.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
The following selected consolidated financial and other data should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated audited financial statements and related notes, which are
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our policy is that fiscal years end on the Sunday closest to December 31. The
consolidated statements of operations data, cash flow data and the consolidated balance sheet data for the fiscal years ended December
30, 2018, December 31, 2017 and January 1, 2017 are derived from the audited consolidated financial statements that are included
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The selected consolidated financial data for the fiscal year ended January 3, 2016 and
January 4, 2015 have been derived from audited financial statements not included herein. Our historical results are not necessarily
indicative of the results to be expected in the future.
Fifty-Two
Weeks
Ended
December
30, 2018

Fifty-Two
Weeks
Ended
December
31, 2017

Fifty-Two
Weeks
Ended
January 1,
2017

Fifty-Two
Weeks
Ended
January 3,
2016

Fifty-Two
Weeks
Ended
January 4,
2015

(in thousands, except per share data)
Statement of Operations Data:
Net Sales
Cost of Sales

$

Gross Profit
Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses
Restructuring Expenses

174,910
135,575

$

175,288
135,234

$

170,463
130,919

$

143,309
109,488

$

126,480
95,020

39,335
29,781
1,156

40,054
29,767
—

39,544
27,524
35

33,821
23,372
374

31,460
21,326
—

Operating Income (Expense)
Non-operating Income (Expense)
Investment Income
Other Income
Interest Expense

8,398

10,287

11,985

10,075

10,134

50
(109)
(3,778)

—
79
(2,746)

—
92
(2,135)

—
23
(2,755)

21
51
(3,667)

Total Non-Operating Expense

(3,837)

(2,667)

(2,043)

(2,732)

(3,595)

4,561
862

7,620
1,133

9,942
3,258

7,343
2,314

6,539
2,074

Income – Before Income Taxes
Income Tax Expense
$

3,699

$

6,487

$

6,684

$

5,029

$

4,465

Basic

$

0.38

$

0.67

$

0.69

$

0.62

$

0.66

Diluted

$

0.37

$

0.66

$

0.68

$

0.60

$

0.65

Cash dividends declared per share

$

0.60

$

0.60

$

0.60

$

0.30

$

—

Net Income
Net Income per share

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding
Basic
Diluted
Statement of Cash Flow Data
Cash flow provided by (used in):
Operating Activities
Investing Activities
Financing Activities
Other Financial Data
Adjusted EBITDA (1)

9,770
9,909

$

$

9,751
9,899

9,678
9,896

9,430 $
(4,490)

7,809 $
(4,088)

(4,962)

(2,995)

17,123

$

18,032

8,174
8,427

7,761 $
(21,993)
14,210

$

18,991

6,740
6,864

5,081 $
(15,439)
10,329

$

15,590

7,128
(6,011)
(1,253)

$

14,496

(1) See details concerning Adjusted EBITDA, which is a non-GAAP measure, including the definition and calculation of amounts presented
here in this document in Item 7. "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations".
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As of
December 30,
2018

As of
December 31,
2017

As of January
1, 2017

As of January
3, 2016

As of January
4, 2015

$

$

(in thousands)
Selected Balance Sheet Data:
Working capital(1)
Net property, plant and equipment (2)
Total assets
Total debt (3)
Total stockholders' equity

$

32,885
25,078
123,287
55,923
48,888

$

29,847
22,975
122,805
53,565
50,882

$

26,758
21,198
122,537
50,611
50,059

23,047
18,761
99,921
31,213
48,013

(1) Represents current assets less current liabilities
(2) Excludes assets held for sale of $2,033 as of January 3, 2016.
(3) Amount is net of debt issuance costs which are further discussed in note 1 to our consolidated financial statements.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATION
This Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation is intended to provide a reader of our
financial statements with a narrative from the perspective of our management on our financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, and
certain other factors that may affect our future results. You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and
results of operations in conjunction with the accompanying consolidated financial statements and the related notes to consolidated
financial statements for the fifty-two weeks ended December 30, 2018, December 31, 2017 and January 1, 2017 included in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. Some of the information contained in this discussion and analysis include forward-looking statements. Our actual
results and the timing of events could differ materially from those discussed in these forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause
or contribute to these differences include those discussed below as well as in other sections of this Annual Report on Form 10-K,
particularly in “Business,” “Risk Factors” and “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.” We make no guarantees regarding
outcomes, and assume no obligation to update the forward-looking statements herein, except as may be required by law.
Basis of Presentation
The Company’s policy is that fiscal years end on the Sunday closest to the end of the calendar year end. Our 2018 fiscal year ended
on December 30, 2018, the 2017 fiscal year ended on December 31, 2017, and our 2016 fiscal year ended on January 1, 2017. The
Company’s operations are classified in one reportable business segment. Although we have expanded the products that we manufacture
and sell to include components used in the appliance, HVAC and water heater industries, products for these industries are manufactured
at facilities that also manufacture or are capable of manufacturing products for the automotive industries. All of our manufacturing locations
have similar capabilities, and most plants serve multiple markets. The manufacturing operations for our automotive, appliance, HVAC and
water heater products share management and labor forces and use common personnel and strategies for new product development,
marketing and the sourcing of raw materials.
We qualify as an “emerging growth company” under the JOBS Act. As a result, we are permitted to, and intend to, rely on exemptions
from certain disclosure requirements. For so long as we are an emerging growth company, we will not be required to:
•

have an auditor report on our internal controls over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act;

•

comply with any requirement that may be adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding a supplement to
the auditor’s report providing additional information about the audit and the financial statements (i.e., an auditor discussion and
analysis);

•

submit certain executive compensation matters to shareholder advisory votes, such as “say-on-pay” and “say-on-frequency”; and

•

disclose certain executive compensation and related items such as the correlation between executive compensation and
performance and comparisons of the CEO’s compensation to median employee compensation.

In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that an emerging growth company can take advantage of the extended transition
period provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act for complying with new or revised accounting standards. In other words, an
emerging growth company can delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private
companies. We have elected to take advantage of the benefits of this extended transition period. Our financial statements may therefore
not be comparable to those of companies that comply with such new or revised accounting standards.
We will remain an “emerging growth company” for up to five years from our initial public offering, or until the earliest to occur of (1) the
last day of the first fiscal year in which our total annual gross revenues exceed $1.1 billion, (2) the date that we become a “large
accelerated filer” as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, which would occur if the market value of our
common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the last business day of our most recently completed second fiscal
quarter or (3) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt during the preceding three year period.
Our emerging growth status will expire on the first day of fiscal year 2020, and as such at that time we will no longer be able to take
advantage of the exemptions noted above.
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Overview
Unique is engaged in the engineering and manufacture of multi-material foam, rubber and plastic components utilized in noise,
vibration and harshness, acoustical management, water and air sealing, decorative and other functional applications. The Company
combines a long history of organic growth with some more recent strategic acquisitions to diversify both product capabilities and markets
served.
Unique’s markets served are the North America automotive and heavy duty truck, as well as the appliance, water heater and HVAC
markets. Sales are conducted directly with major automotive and heavy duty truck, appliance, water heater and HVAC OEMs, or indirectly
through the Tier 1 suppliers of these OEMs. The Company has its principal executive offices in Auburn Hills, Michigan and has sales,
engineering and production facilities in Auburn Hills, Michigan, Concord, Michigan, LaFayette, Georgia, Louisville, Kentucky, Evansville,
Indiana, Bryan, Ohio, Monterrey, Mexico,Queretaro, Mexico and London, Ontario. The Company also has an independent client sales
representative who maintains offices in Baldham, Germany.
Unique derives the majority of its net sales from the sales of foam, rubber plastic, and tape adhesive related automotive products.
These products are produced from a variety of manufacturing processes including die cutting, compression molding, thermoforming,
reaction injection molding, and fusion molding. We believe Unique has a broader array of processes and materials utilized than any of its
direct competitors, based on our product offerings. By sealing out air noise and water intrusion, and by providing sound absorption and
blocking, Unique’s products improve the interior comfort of a vehicle, increasing perceived vehicle quality and the overall experience of its
passengers. Unique’s products perform similar functions for appliances, water heaters and HVAC systems, improving thermal
characteristics, reducing noise and prolonging equipment life.
We primarily operate within the highly competitive and cyclical automotive parts industry. Over the past several years the industry has
experienced consistent growth as it recovered from the recession of 2009. Many sectors of the supply chain are operating near capacity.
Over the same period we have grown our core automotive parts business at a faster rate than the industry as a whole, indicating we are
taking market share from competitors and increasing our content per vehicle on the programs we supply. We expect this trend to continue.
Recent Developments
Dividend Declaration
On February 12, 2019, our board of directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.05 per common share. The dividend will be
payable on March 7, 2019 to shareholders of record at the close of business on February 28, 2019.
Fort Smith Facility Closure
On February 13, 2018, the Company made the decision to close its manufacturing facility in Fort Smith, Arkansas. The Company
ceased operations at the Fort Smith facility in July of 2018, and approximately 20 positions were eliminated as a result of the closure. The
Company's decision resulted from its desire to streamline operations and to utilize some of the available excess capacity in other of our
facilities. The Company moved existing Fort Smith production to its manufacturing facilities in Evansville, Indiana and Monterrey, Mexico.
The Company provided the affected employees severance pay, health benefits continuation and job search assistance. The Company
evaluated whether or not this closing met the criteria for discontinued operations and concluded that the closing did not meet the definition
as it did not represent a strategic shift in the Company's operations and the Company will have continuing cash flows from the production
being moved to other facilities within the Company.
The Company incurred one-time severance costs as a result of this plant closure of $233,782 in the 52 weeks ended December 30, 2018.
The amount of other costs incurred associated with this plant closure, which primarily consisted of preparing and moving existing
production equipment and inventory at Fort Smith to other facilities was $559,461 in the 52 weeks ended December 30, 2018. All of these
costs were recorded to the restructuring expense line in continuing operations in the Company's consolidated statement of operations.
On October 18, 2018, the Company sold the building it owned in Fort Smith, which had a net book value of $733,059, for cash proceeds of
$876,032 resulting in a gain on the sale of $142,973. Through the date of the sale the building qualified as being held for sale, and
therefore was presented as such in the consolidated balance sheet in our historical financial statements.
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Port Huron Facility Closure
On February 1, 2018, the Company made the decision to close its manufacturing facility in Port Huron, Michigan. The Company ceased
operations at the Port Huron facility in June of 2018 and 7 positions were eliminated as a result of the closure. The Company's decision
resulted from its desire to streamline operations and to utilize some of the available excess capacity in other of its facilities. As such, the
Company moved existing Port Huron production to our manufacturing facilities in London, Ontario, Auburn Hills, Michigan, and Louisville,
Kentucky. The Company provided the affected employees severance pay, health benefits continuation and job search assistance. The
Company evaluated whether or not this closing met the criteria for discontinued operations and concluded that the closing did not meet
the definition as it did not represent a strategic shift in the Company's operations and the Company will have continuing cash flows from
the production being moved to other facilities within the Company.
The Company incurred one-time severance costs as a result of this plant closure of $64,768 in the 52 weeks ended December 30, 2018.
The amount of other costs incurred associated with this plant closure, which primarily consisted of preparing and moving existing
production equipment and inventory at Port Huron to other facilities was $297,899 in the 52 weeks ended December 30, 2018. All of these
costs were recorded to the restructuring expense line in continuing operations in the Company's consolidated statement of operations.
Tax Cut and JOBS Act
On December 22, 2017 the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Act”) was signed into law. The Act changed many aspects of U.S. corporate
income taxation and included the reduction of the corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21%. The Act also included implementation of a
territorial system and imposition of a one-time tax on deemed repatriated earnings of foreign subsidiaries. At December 31, 2017, we had
not completed our accounting for the tax effects of enactment of the Act; however we made a reasonable estimate of the net effects on our
existing deferred tax balances and the one-time transition tax. During 2018, we completed our accounting for the income tax effects of the
Act and recorded a benefit of $(80,453) as an adjustment to the provisional estimate of the one-time transition tax expense. Also during
2018, the Act required a calculation of tax under the Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income (“GILTI”) provisions of the Act, which resulted in
a $320,000 expense. For further discussion on the impact to the Company of the Act for the year ended December 30, 2018, please refer
to the Comparison of Results section below as well as Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements.
Credit Agreement (Amendments)
On April 29, 2016, Unique Fabricating NA, Inc. (the “US Borrower”) and Unique-Intasco Canada, Inc. (the “CA Borrower”) and Citizens
Bank, National Association (“Citizens”), acting as lender and Administrative Agent and the other lenders, entered into a Credit Agreement
(the “Credit Agreement”) providing for borrowings of up to the aggregate principal amount of $62.00 million. The Credit Agreement was a
senior secured credit facility and consisted of a revolving line of credit of up to $30.00 million (the “Revolver”) to the US Borrower, a $17.00
million principal amount Term Loan (the “US Term Loan”) to the US Borrower, and a $15.00 million principal amount Term Loan (the “CA
Term Loan”) to the CA Borrower.
On August 18, 2017, the US Borrower and the CA Borrower entered into the Second Amendment (the “Amendment”) to the Credit
Agreement, with Citizens, acting as syndication agent, and the other lenders. The Amendment converted $4.0 million of outstanding
borrowings under the Revolver into an additional $4.0 million term loan to the US Borrower (the “US Term Loan II”). The conversion of a
portion of the outstanding borrowings under the Revolver into the US Term Loan II did not reduce the aggregate amount available to be
borrowed under it.
On August 8, 2018, the US Borrower and the CA Borrower entered into the Fourth Amendment (the “Fourth Amendment”) to the
Credit Agreement. The Fourth Amendment required the Company to use the net proceeds from the sale of the Ft. Smith, Arkansas
building to reduce the outstanding borrowings under the Revolver. The application of the net proceeds did not permanently reduce the
amounts that could be borrowed under the Revolver. The Fourth Amendment also eased, for the fiscal quarter ended September 30,
2018, the financial covenant ratio which determines the Company's ability to pay dividends. The Fourth Amendment provided for the
discharge and release of the mortgage on the Ft. Smith, Arkansas facility subject to the application of the net proceeds of the sale of the
property as required by the amendment.
On September 20, 2018, the US Borrower and the CA Borrower entered into the Fifth Amendment (the “Fifth Amendment”) to the Credit
Agreement, with Citizens, acting as syndication agent, and the other lenders. The Fifth Amendment temporarily increased the maximum
amount that could be borrowed under the Revolver to $32.5 million from its then maximum of $30.0 million. This increase implemented by
the Fifth Amendment was effective until October 31, 2018, at which point the maximum amount could be borrowed under the Revolver
reverted back to $30.0 million.
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Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
On November 8, 2018, subsequent to the end of the third quarter, the US Borrower and the CA Borrower, entered into an Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement (the “Amended and Restated Credit Agreement”), which amended and restated the existing Credit Agreement,
with Citizens, acting as Administrative Agent, and the other lenders. The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, among other things
increases the principal amount of US Term Loan borrowings to $26.0 million, creates a two year line to fund capital expenditures of up to
$2.5 million through November 8, 2019 and $5.0 million thereafter through November 8, 2020, and extends the maturity dates of all
borrowings from April 28, 2021 to November 7, 2023. The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement provides for borrowings of up to
$30.0 million under the Revolver, subject to availability, and left the principal amount on the CA Term Loan the same as at September 30,
2018, approximately $12.0 million, and the same as it was under the previous Credit Agreement. The Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement combined the previous US Term Loan and US Term Loan II (the “New US Term Loan”) into one term loan, and increases the
aggregate principal amount to $26.0 million dollars from $15.9 million. The increase in the principal amount effected by the New U.S. Term
Loan replaced and termed-out outstanding borrowings under the Revolver. The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement changes the
quarterly principal payments of the New US Term Loan to $337,500 through September 30, 2020, $575,000 thereafter through September
30, 2021, and $812,500 thereafter though maturity. Finally, the agreement made certain changes to the Company's covenants and
financial covenant ratios.
Acquisition of Intasco
On April 29, 2016, Unique-Intasco Canada, Inc. (the “Canadian Buyer”), a newly formed subsidiary, acquired the business and
substantially all of the assets of Intasco Corporation, a Canadian based tape manufacturer, for a purchase price of $21.03 million, net of
cash acquired, with a portion being held in escrow to fund the obligations of Intasco Corporation and its stockholders to indemnify Unique
against certain claims, losses and liabilities. On the same date, Unique Fabricating NA, Inc. (the “US Buyer”), an existing subsidiary of the
Company, purchased 100% of the outstanding capital stock of Intasco USA, Inc., a United States based tape manufacturer, for a purchase
price of $0.89 million paid by the issuance of 70,797 shares of the Company's common stock, par value $0.001 per share. The shares
issued were “restricted shares” issued in reliance on an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended. The cash purchase price was paid with borrowings under a new credit facility which replaced the Company's then existing
facility as described above.
Intasco is a material converter of pressure sensitive products such as film, label stock, foams and adhesives primarily provided to the
automotive industry in the United States and Canada. Intasco specializes in interior and exterior attachment tape systems. This acquisition
has significantly broadened the Company's solution offerings, production capabilities, and potentially expands its reach into new markets.
Comparison of Results of Operations for the Fifty-Two Weeks Ended December 30, 2018 and the Fifty-Two Weeks Ended
December 31, 2017
Fifty-Two Weeks Ended December 30, 2018 and Fifty-Two Weeks Ended December 31, 2017
Net Sales
Fifty-Two Weeks Ended
December 30, 2018

Fifty-Two Weeks Ended
December 31, 2017

(in thousands)

Net sales

$

174,910

$

175,288

Net sales for the fifty-two weeks ended December 30, 2018 were approximately $174.91 million compared to $175.29 million for the
fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017. The relatively flat net sales for the fifty-two weeks ended December 30, 2018 is in alignment
with North American vehicle production which slightly decreased during the fifty-two weeks ended December 30, 2018 period from
production during the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017.
Cost of Sales
The major components of cost of sales are raw materials purchased from third parties, direct labor and benefits, and manufacturing
overhead, including facility costs, utilities, supplies, repairs and maintenance, insurance, freight costs of products shipped to customers
and depreciation.
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Fifty-Two Weeks Ended
December 30, 2018

Fifty-Two Weeks Ended
December 31, 2017

(in thousands)

Materials
Direct labor and benefits
Manufacturing overhead

$

Sub-total
Depreciation

88,285
27,232
17,796

$

133,313
2,263

Cost of sales

133,320
1,914

135,576

Gross Profit

$

39,335

88,303
26,729
18,288

135,234
$

40,054

Cost of Sales as a Percent of Net Sales
Fifty-Two Weeks Ended
December 30, 2018

Fifty-Two Weeks Ended
December 31, 2017

Materials
Direct labor and benefits
Manufacturing overhead

50.5%
15.6%
10.1%

50.4%
15.3%
10.4%

Sub-total
Depreciation

76.2%
1.3%

76.1%
1.1%

Cost of Sales

77.5%

77.2%

Gross Profit

22.5%

22.8%

Cost of sales as a percentage of net sales for the fifty-two weeks ended December 30, 2018 increased to 77.5% from 77.2% for the
fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017. The increase in cost of sales as a percentage of net sales was attributable to higher direct
labor and benefits costs as a percentage of net sales, partially offset by lower manufacturing overhead costs as a percentage of net sales.
Material costs as a percentage of net sales slightly increased to 50.5% for the fifty-two weeks ended December 30, 2018 from 50.4%
for the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017. Material costs for the fifty-two weeks ended December 30, 2018 as a percentage of net
sales were higher compared to the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017 primarily due to higher freight costs in the fifty-two weeks
ended December 30, 2018, partially offset by favorable product mix shift to more molded products, which are typically lower in material
content. Direct labor and benefit costs as a percentage of net sales was 15.6% for the fifty-two weeks ended December 30, 2018
compared to 15.3% for the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017. Direct labor costs were negatively impacted by the product mix shift
to more molded products described above, which while lower in material content as a percentage of sales, are typically higher in labor
content, a temporary equipment capacity issue at one of our facilities during the first quarter of 2018, that resulted in higher overtime costs
during the fifty-two weeks ended December 30, 2018, as well as short term inefficiencies experienced from moving the manufacturing of
products previously produced in the Ft. Smith, Arkansas facility to other manufacturing facilities of the Company.
Manufacturing overhead costs as a percentage of net sales were 10.1% for the fifty-two weeks ended December 30, 2018 compared
10.4% for the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017. Manufacturing overhead as a percentage of net sales in the fifty-two weeks
ended December 30, 2018 were lower due primarily to lower repair and maintenance costs on our machines, tools, and buildings as we
have invested heavily in the last few years in new production equipment. Depreciation costs as a percentage of net sales in the fifty-two
weeks ended December 30, 2018 were higher than the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017 as we added machine capacity, to meet
expected future demand, and to increase capabilities in certain of our facilities.
Gross Profit
As a result of the increase in cost of sales as a percentage of net sales described above, gross profit as a percentage of net sales for
the fifty-two weeks ended December 30, 2018 decreased to 22.5% from 22.8% for the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expenses (“SG&A”)
Fifty-Two Weeks Ended
December 30, 2018

Fifty-Two Weeks Ended
December 31, 2017

(in thousands, except SG&A as a
% of net sales)

SG&A, exclusive of line items below
Transaction expenses

$

Subtotal
Depreciation and amortization

25,387
27

$

25,414
4,367
$

SG&A
SG&A as a % of net sales

29,781
17.0%

25,338
23
25,361
4,406

$

29,767
17.0%

SG&A as a percentage of net sales for the fifty-two weeks ended December 30, 2018 and fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017
was 17.0%.
Operating Income
As a result of the foregoing factors, as well as restructuring expense of $1.16 million for the fifty-two weeks ended December 30, 2018
compared to no restructuring expense for the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017, operating income for the fifty-two weeks ended
December 30, 2018 was $8.40 million compared to operating income of $10.29 million for the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017.
Non-Operating Expense
Non-operating expense for the fifty-two weeks ended December 30, 2018 was $3.84 million compared to $2.67 million for the fifty-two
weeks ended December 31, 2017. The change in non-operating expense was primarily driven by interest expense. Interest expense was
approximately $3.78 million for the fifty-two weeks ended December 30, 2018, compared to $2.75 million for the fifty-two weeks ended
December 31, 2017. The increase in interest expense is primarily due to higher interest rates and a higher average outstanding debt
balance in the fifty-two weeks ended December 30, 2018, the write-off of certain deferred financing costs associated with our old Credit
Agreement, and an unfavorable mark-to-market on a new interest rate swap.
Income before Income Taxes
As a result of the foregoing factors, income before income taxes for the fifty-two weeks ended December 30, 2018 was $4.56 million,
compared to $7.62 million for the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017.
Income Tax Provision
For the fifty-two weeks ended December 30, 2018, income tax expense was $0.86 million, and the effective income tax rate was
18.9%. The effective tax rate was lower than the statutory rate of 21.0% primarily due to research and development credits in the U.S.,
partially offset by earnings generated in Mexico and Canada, which both have higher statutory income tax rates than the U.S. and by U.S.
taxation on foreign earnings under the GILTI provisions of the Tax Cuts on Jobs Act. These adjustments are further explained in Note 10.
For the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017, income tax expense was $1.13 million, and the effective income tax rate was 14.9%.
The difference between the actual effective rate and the statutory rate of 34.0% was mainly a result of the enactment of the Tax Cuts on
Jobs Act on December 22, 2017, and research and development credits. These adjustments are further explained in Note 10.
Net income
As a result of the lower net sales and changes in expenses discussed above, net income for the fifty-two weeks ended December 30,
2018 was $3.70 million compared to $6.49 million during the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017.
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Comparison of Results of Operations for the Fifty-Two Weeks Ended December 31, 2017 and the Fifty-Two Weeks Ended
January 1, 2017
In 2016, we acquired substantially all of the assets of Intasco Corporation, a Canadian based tape manufacturer, for a purchase price of
$21.03 million, net of cash acquired, at closing, with a portion being held in escrow to fund the obligations of Intasco Corporation and its
stockholders to indemnify Unique against certain claims, losses and liabilities. On the same date, we purchased 100% of the outstanding
capital stock of its U.S. subsidiary, Intasco USA, Inc., a United States based tape manufacturer, for a purchase price of $0.89 million paid
by the issuance of 70,797 shares of the Company's common stock, par value $0.001 per share. The purchase price was paid with
borrowings under a New Credit Facility which replaced the Company's existing facility. For the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017,
our financial results include the Intasco business for the entire period. For the fifty-two weeks ended January 1, 2017, our financial results
include the transaction related expenses from the acquisition and the results of operations of the Intasco business from Apri1 29, 2016
through January 1, 2017.
Fifty-Two Weeks Ended December 31, 2017 and Fifty-Two Weeks Ended January 1, 2017
Net Sales
Fifty-Two Weeks Ended
December 31, 2017

Fifty-Two Weeks Ended
January 1, 2017

(in thousands)

Net sales

$

175,288

$

170,463

Net sales for the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017 were approximately $175.29 million compared to $170.46 million for the
fifty-two weeks ended January 1, 2017. The increase in net sales for the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017 is attributable to our
increased market penetration and content per vehicle and new product introductions, as well as a full 52 weeks of sales from the Intasco
business. The acquisition occurred on April 29, 2016, and therefore only 35 weeks of Intasco sales are included for the fifty-two weeks
ended January 1, 2017. This growth was partially offset by an approximately 4% overall decline in North American vehicle production
during the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017 period as compared to production during the fifty-two weeks ended January 1, 2017.
Cost of Sales
The major components of cost of sales are raw materials purchased from third parties, direct labor and benefits, and manufacturing
overhead, including facility costs, utilities, supplies, repairs and maintenance, insurance, freight costs of products shipped to customers
and depreciation.
Fifty-Two Weeks Ended
December 31, 2017

Fifty-Two Weeks Ended
January 1, 2017

(in thousands)

Materials
Direct labor and benefits
Manufacturing overhead

$

Sub-total
Depreciation

88,303
26,729
18,288

$

133,320
1,914

Cost of sales

129,344
1,575

135,234

Gross Profit

$
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86,893
25,556
16,895

130,919
$

39,544
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Cost of Sales as a Percent of Net Sales
Fifty-Two Weeks Ended
December 31, 2017

Fifty-Two Weeks Ended
January 1, 2017

Materials
Direct labor and benefits
Manufacturing overhead

50.4%
15.3%
10.4%

51.0%
15.0%
9.9%

Sub-total
Depreciation

76.1%
1.1%

75.9%
0.9%

Cost of Sales

77.2%

76.8%

Gross Profit

22.8%

23.2%

Cost of sales as a percentage of net sales for the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017 increased to 77.2% from 76.8% for the
fifty-two weeks ended January 1, 2017. The increase in cost of sales as a percentage of net sales was attributable to higher direct labor
and benefits and manufacturing overhead as a percentage of net sales, partially offset by lower material costs as a percentage of net
sales.
Material costs as a percentage of net sales decreased to 50.4% for the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017 from 51.0% for the
fifty-two weeks ended January 1, 2017. Material costs for the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017 as a percentage of net sales
were lower compared to the fifty-two weeks ended January 1, 2017 primarily due to favorable product mix in the fifty-two weeks ended
January 1, 2017, as well as increased costs in 2016 due to the amortization of the markup to fair market value of inventory acquired in the
Intasco acquisition. Direct labor and benefit costs as a percentage of net sales was 15.3% for the fifty-two weeks ended December 31,
2017 compared to 15.0% for the fifty-two weeks ended January 1, 2017. Labor and benefit costs as a percentage of net sales in the fiftytwo weeks ended December 31, 2017 were higher due to increased direct and temporary labor hours as a result of change in product mix,
and a decline in the use of temporary employees at one of our facilities in Michigan as required under our collective bargaining agreement,
resulting in an increase in benefit related costs during the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017 when compared to the fifty-two
weeks ended January 1, 2017. Manufacturing overhead costs as a percentage of net sales were 10.4% for the fifty-two weeks ended
December 31, 2017 compared 9.9% for the fifty-two weeks ended January 1, 2017. Manufacturing overhead as a percentage of net sales
in the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017 were higher due primarily to higher rent costs, as we continued to add capacity in order to
meet expected future demand, and increased indirect labor costs as we upgraded our staff and add production capabilities at some of our
facilities. Depreciation costs as a percentage of net sales in the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017 were also slightly higher than
the fifty-two weeks ended January 1, 2017 as we added machine capacity, again to meet expected future demand, and to increase
capabilities in certain of our facilities.
Gross Profit
As a result of the increase in cost of sales as a percentage of net sales described above, gross profit as a percentage of net sales for
the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017 decreased to 22.8% from 23.2% for the fifty-two weeks ended January 1, 2017.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses (“SG&A”)
Fifty-Two Weeks Ended
December 31, 2017

Fifty-Two Weeks Ended
January 1, 2017

(in thousands, except SG&A as a
% of net sales)

SG&A, exclusive of line items below
Transaction expenses

$

Subtotal
Depreciation and amortization

25,338
23

$

25,361
4,406
$

SG&A
SG&A as a % of net sales

29,767
17.0%
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23,597
3,927

$

27,524
16.1%
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SG&A as a percentage of net sales for the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017 increased to 17.0% from 16.1% for the fifty-two
weeks ended January 1, 2017. The increase is primarily the result of one-time consulting and licensing costs associated with the
implementation of our new ERP system in the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017 compared to the fifty-two weeks ended
January 1, 2017.
Operating Income
As a result of the foregoing factors, operating income for the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017 was $10.29 million compared
to operating income of $11.98 million for the fifty-two weeks ended January 1, 2017.
Non-Operating Expense
Non-operating expense for the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017 was $2.67 million compared to $2.04 million for the fifty-two
weeks ended January 1, 2017. The change in non-operating expense was primarily driven by interest expense. Interest expense was
approximately $2.75 million for the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017, compared to $2.13 million for the fifty-two weeks ended
January 1, 2017. The increase in interest expense is primarily due to higher interest rates and a higher average outstanding debt balance
in the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017.
Income before Income Taxes
As a result of the foregoing factors, income before income taxes for the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017 was $7.62 million,
compared to $9.94 million for the fifty-two weeks ended January 1, 2017.
Income Tax Provision
For the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017, income tax expense was $1.13 million, and the effective income tax rate was
14.9%. The difference between the actual effective rate and the statutory rate was mainly a result of the enactment of the Tax Cuts on
Jobs Act on December 22, 2017, and research and development credits. These adjustments are further explained in Note 10. For the fiftytwo weeks ended January 1, 2017, income tax expense was $3.26 million, and the effective income tax rate was 32.8%. The difference
between the actual effective rate and the statutory rate was mainly a result of the domestic production activities deduction, or DPAD, in the
U.S.
Net income
As a result of the increased net sales and changes in expenses discussed above, net income for the fifty-two weeks ended
December 31, 2017 was $6.49 million compared to $6.68 million during the fifty-two weeks ended January 1, 2017.
Non-GAAP Financial Measures
Adjusted EBITDA
We present Adjusted EBITDA (defined below), a measure that is not in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in
the United States of America (non-GAAP), in this document to provide investors with a supplemental measure of our operating
performance. We believe that Adjusted EBITDA is a useful performance measure and it is used by us to facilitate a comparison of our
operating performance on a consistent basis from period-to-period and to provide for a more complete understanding of factors and trends
affecting our business than measures under GAAP can provide alone. Our board and management also use Adjusted EBITDA as one of
the primary methods for planning and forecasting overall expected performance and for evaluating on a quarterly and annual basis actual
results against such expectations, and as a performance evaluation metric in determining achievement of certain compensation programs
and plans for company management. In addition, the financial covenants in our new credit facility are based on Adjusted EBITDA, subject
to dollar limitations on certain adjustments.
We define “Adjusted EBITDA” as earnings before interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization expense, non-cash
stock awards, non-recurring integration expense, non-cash stock awards, non-recurring step-up of inventory basis to fair market value,
non-recurring IPO costs, transaction fees related to our acquisitions, restructuring expenses, a one-time gain on the sale of a building, and
one-time consulting and licensing ERP system implementation costs as we implement a new ERP system at all locations. We believe
omitting these items provides a financial measure that facilitates comparisons of our results of operations with those of companies having
different capital structures. Since the levels of indebtedness and tax structures
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that other companies have are different from ours, we omit these amounts to facilitate investors’ ability to make these comparisons.
Similarly, we omit depreciation and amortization because other companies may employ a greater or lesser amount of property and
intangible assets. We believe that investors, analysts and other interested parties view our ability to generate Adjusted EBITDA as an
important measure of our operating performance and that of other companies in our industry. Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered
as an alternative to net income for the periods indicated as a measure of our performance. Other companies in our industry may calculate
Adjusted EBITDA differently than we do, limiting its usefulness as a comparative measure.
The use of Adjusted EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not consider this performance measure in isolation
from, or as an alternative to, GAAP measures such as net income. Adjusted EBITDA is not a measure of liquidity under GAAP or
otherwise, and is not an alternative to cash flow from continuing operating activities. Our presentation of Adjusted EBITDA should not be
construed as an inference that our future results will be unaffected by the expenses that are excluded from that term or by unusual or nonrecurring items. The limitations of Adjusted EBITDA include that: (1) it does not reflect our cash expenditures or future requirements for
capital expenditures or contractual commitments; (2) it does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs; (3)
it does not reflect income tax payments we may be required to make; and (4) it does not reflect the cash requirements necessary to
service interest or principal payments associated with indebtedness.
To properly and prudently evaluate our business, we encourage you to review our audited consolidated financial statements included
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and the reconciliation to Adjusted EBITDA from net income, the most directly comparable
financial measure presented in accordance with GAAP, set forth in the following table. All of the items included in the reconciliation from
net income to Adjusted EBITDA are either (1) non-cash items or (2) items that management does not consider in assessing our on-going
operating performance. In the case of the non-cash items, management believes that investors may find it useful to assess our
comparative operating performance because the measures without such items are less susceptible to variances in actual performance
resulting from depreciation, amortization and other non-cash charges and more reflective of other factors that affect operating
performance. In the case of the other items that management does not consider in assessing our on-going operating performance,
management believes that investors may find it useful to assess our operating performance if the measures are presented without these
items because their financial impact may not reflect on-going operating performance.
Fifty-Two
Weeks Ended
December 30,
2018

Net income
Plus: Interest expense, net
Plus: Income tax expense
Plus: Depreciation and amortization
Plus: Non-cash stock award
Plus: Non-recurring integration expenses
Plus: Non-recurring step-up of inventory basis to fair market value
Plus: Transaction fees
Plus: Restructuring expenses
Plus: One-time consulting and licensing ERP system implementation costs
Plus: Debt extinguishment costs
Less: Gain on sale of building

$

Adjusted EBITDA

$

Fifty-Two
Weeks Ended
December 31,
2017

3,699 $
3,778
862
6,630
131
200
—
27
1,156
724
59
(143)
17,123

$

Fifty-Two
Weeks Ended
January 1, 2017

(in thousands)
6,487
$
2,746
1,133
6,320
150
158
—
23
—
1,015
— —
—
18,032

$

6,684
2,135
3,258
5,502
166
173
318
867
35
—
—
(147)
18,991

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our principal sources of liquidity are cash flow from operations and borrowings under our Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
from our senior lenders.
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Our primary uses of cash are payment of vendors, payroll, operating costs, capital expenditures and debt service. As of December 30,
2018, December 31, 2017 and January 1, 2017, we had a cash balance of $1.41 million, $1.43 million and $0.71 million, respectively. Our
excess cash balance is swept daily and applied to reduce borrowings under our revolving line of credit, which remains available for reborrowing, as needed, subject to compliance with the terms of the facility. As of December 30, 2018, December 31, 2017 and January 1,
2017, we had $11.61 million, $7.19 million and $9.42 million, respectively, available for borrowing under our amended and restated credit
facility, subject, in each case, to borrowing base restrictions, compliance with the terms of the facility and outstanding letters of credit. At
each such date, we were in compliance with all debt covenants under such facilities. We believe that our sources of liquidity, including
cash flow from operations, existing cash and our revolving credit facility are sufficient to meet our projected cash requirements for at least
the next fifty-two weeks.
In 2019, we plan to spend approximately $3.43 million in capital expenditures, primarily to add new production equipment as we expand
our production capabilities, upgrade existing equipment, and improve our information technology software and hardware throughout our
facilities.
While we believe we have sufficient liquidity and capital resources to meet our current operating requirements and planned capital
expenditures, we may elect to pursue additional growth opportunities that could require additional debt or equity financing. If we are unable
to secure additional financing at favorable terms in order to pursue such additional growth opportunities, our ability to pursue such
opportunities could be materially adversely affected.
Dividends
Our payment of dividends on our common stock in the future will be determined by our board of directors in its sole discretion and will
depend on business conditions, our financial condition, earnings, liquidity and capital requirements. Our New Credit Agreement contains
financial covenants which may have the effect of precluding or limiting the amounts that we can pay as dividends.
The following table presents cash flow data for the periods indicated.
Fifty-Two Weeks
Ended December
30, 2018

Fifty-Two Weeks
Ended December
31, 2017

Fifty-Two Weeks
Ended January 1,
2017

(in thousands)

Cash flow data
Cash flow provided by (used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities

$

9,430
(4,490)
(4,962)

$

7,809
(4,088)
(2,995)

$

7,761
(21,993)
14,210

Operating Activities
Cash provided by operating activities consists of net income adjusted for non-cash items, including depreciation and amortization;
amortization of debt issuance costs; gain or loss on sale of assets; gain or loss on extinguishments of debt; gain or loss on derivative
instruments; bad debt adjustments; stock option expense; changes in deferred income taxes; accrued and other liabilities; prepaid
expenses and other assets; and the effect of working capital changes. The primary drivers of cash inflows and outflows are accounts
receivable, inventory, prepaid expenses and other assets, accounts payable and accrued interest.
During the fifty-two weeks ended December 30, 2018, net cash provided by operating activities was $9.43 million, compared to cash
provided by operating activities of $7.81 million and $7.76 million for the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017 and January 1, 2017,
respectively.
Net cash provided by operating activities for the fifty-two weeks ended December 30, 2018 was positively impacted by decreases in
working capital, primarily in prepaid expenses, accounts payable and accrued expenses.
Net cash provided by operating activities for the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017 was impacted by net income excluding
depreciation and amortization partially offset by working capital changes.
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The net cash provided by operating activities for the fifty-two weeks ended January 1, 2017 was mainly impacted by net income of
$6.68 million resulting from the expansion of our operations through the acquisition of Intasco and the inclusion of Great Lakes operations
for the entire fiscal year and by decreases in inventory, as we sold inventory built up at the end of 2015.
Investing Activities
Cash used in investing activities consists principally of business acquisitions and purchases of property, plant and equipment.
In the fifty-two weeks ended December 30, 2018, we made capital expenditures of $5.39 million partially offset by proceeds of $0.90 million
primarily from the sale of the Ft. Smith building further described in Note 8.
In the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017, we made capital expenditures of $4.14 million.
In the fifty-two weeks ended January 1, 2017, we acquired Intasco for a purchase price, net of cash acquired, of $21.03 million. We
also made capital expenditures of $3.36 million during 2016. These outflows were partially offset by the $2.18 million we received from the
sale of the Murfreesboro building in October 2016.
Financing Activities
Cash flows (used in) provided by financing activities consisted primarily of borrowings and payments under our new and old senior
credit facility, payment of debt issuance costs, proceeds from the sale of sale of stock, and distribution of cash dividends.
In the fifty-two weeks ended December 30, 2018, we had outflows of $4.96 million primarily due to $2.96 million of mandatory pay-off of the
principal amount of our term loans under our credit facility, and $5.86 million for payments of cash dividends, and $4.42 million outflow of
net proceeds from borrowings under our revolving line of credit. These outflows were partially offset by $10.13 million proceeds of debt on
our new term loan as we amended and restated our senior credit facility as further discussed in Note 6.
As of December 30, 2018, $18.29 million was outstanding under the revolving credit facility, gross of debt issuance costs. Borrowings
under the revolving credit facility are subject to a borrowing base which is reduced to the extent of letters of credit issued under the new
senior credit facility. As of December 30, 2018, the maximum additional available borrowings under the revolving credit facility was $11.61
million, which is further subject to borrowing base restrictions. Amounts repaid under the revolving credit facility will be available to be reborrowed, subject to borrowing base restrictions and compliance with the terms of the facility.
In the fifty-two weeks ended December 31, 2017, we had outflows of $3.00 million primarily due to $3.37 million of mandatory pay-off of the
principal amount of our term loans under our new senior credit facility, and $5.85 million for payments of cash dividends. These outflows
were partially offset by $6.23 million net proceeds from borrowings under our revolving line of credit under our new senior secured credit
facility.
In the fifty-two weeks ended January 1, 2017, we had inflows of $14.21 million primarily due to $32.00 million of gross proceeds from
borrowings under our term loans under our new senior credit facility, and $5.69 million net proceeds from borrowings under our revolving
line of credit under our new senior credit facility. These inflows were partially offset by $15.38 million used to retire the principal amount of
our term loan under our old senior credit facility and $5.81 million for payments of cash dividends.
Credit Agreement
On April 29, 2016, the US Borrower and the CA Borrower and Citizens, acting as lender and Administrative Agent and the other
lenders, entered into the Credit Agreement providing for borrowings of up to the aggregate principal amount of $62.00 million. The Credit
Agreement was a senior secured credit facility and consisted of a revolving line of credit (the “Revolver”) of up to $30.00 million to the US
Borrower, a $17.00 million principal amount term loan to the US Borrower, (the “US Term Loan” and a $15.00 million term loan to the CA
Borrower.
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On August 18, 2017, the US Borrower and the CA Borrower entered into the Second Amendment (the “Second Amendment”) to the
Credit Agreement, with Citizens, acting as Administrative Agent, and other lenders. The Second Amendment converted $4.00 million of
outstanding borrowings under the revolving line of credit under the Credit Agreement into an additional $4.00 million term loan to the US
Borrower (the “US Term Loan II”). The conversion of a portion of the outstanding borrowings under the revolving line of credit did not
reduce the aggregate amount available to be borrowed under it.
On August 8, 2018 the US Borrower and the CA Borrower entered into the Fourth Amendment (the “Fourth Amendment”) to the Credit
Agreement, with Citizens acting as Administrative Agent, and the other lenders. The Fourth Amendment required the Company to use the
net proceeds from the anticipated sale of the Ft. Smith, Arkansas building to reduce the outstanding borrowings under the Revolver. The
application of the net proceeds did not permanently reduce the amounts that may be borrowed under the Revolver. The Fourth
Amendment also made less restrictive, for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2018, the financial covenant ratio which determines the
Company's ability to pay dividends.
On September 20, 2018, the US Borrower and the CA Borrower entered into the Fifth Amendment (the “Fifth Amendment”) to the Credit
Agreement, with Citizens acting as Administrative Agent, and the other lenders. The Fifth Amendment temporarily increased the maximum
amount that may be borrowed under the Revolver to $32.5 million from the current maximum of $30.0 million. This increase implemented
by the Fifth Amendment was effective until October 31, 2018, at which point the maximum amount that could be borrowed under the
Revolver reverted back to $30.0 million.
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
On November 8, 2018, subsequent to the end of the third quarter, the US Borrower and the CA Borrower, entered into an Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement (the “Amended and Restated Credit Agreement”), which amended and restated the existing Credit Agreement,
with Citizens, acting as Administrative Agent, and the other lenders. The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, among other things
increases the principal amount of US Term Loan borrowings to $26.0 million, creates a two year line to fund capital expenditures of up to
$2.5 million through November 8, 2019 and $5.0 million thereafter through November 8, 2020, and extends the maturity dates of all
borrowings from April 28, 2021 to November 7, 2023. The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement provides for borrowings of up to
$30.0 million under the Revolver, subject to availability, and left the principal amount on the CA Term Loan at approximately $12.0 million
on September 30, 2018, and the same as it was under the previous Credit Agreement as of the end of the third quarter. The Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement combined the previous US Term Loan and US Term Loan II (the “New US Term Loan”), and increases the
aggregate principal amount to $26.0 million dollars from $15.9 million. The increase in the principal amount effected by the New U.S. Term
Loan replaced and termed-out outstanding borrowings under the Revolver. The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement changes the
quarterly principal payments of the New US Term Loan to $337,500 through September 30, 2020, $575,000 thereafter through September
30, 2021, and $812,500 thereafter though maturity. Finally, the agreement made certain changes to the Company's covenants and
financial covenant ratios.
The Revolver, New US Term Loan, and CA Term Loan all mature on November 7, 2023 and bear interest at the Company's election of
either (i) the greater of the Prime Rate or the Federal Funds Effective Rate (the “Base Rate”) or (ii) the LIBOR rate plus an applicable
margin ranging from 1.75% to 2.75% in the case of the Base Rate and 2.75% to 3.75% in the case of the LIBOR rate, in each case,
based on senior leverage ratio thresholds measured quarterly. The effective interest rate as of December 30, 2018 was 6.2699%.
In addition, the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement allows for increases in the principal amount of the Revolver and New US and
CA Term Loans not to exceed $10.00 million, in the aggregate, provided that before and after giving effect to any proposed increase (and
any transactions to be consummated using proceeds of the increase), the total leverage and debt service coverage ratios do not exceed
specified amounts. The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement also provides for the issuance of letters of credit with a face amount of
up to $2.00 million, in the aggregate, provided that any letter of credit issued will reduce availability under the Revolver.
We are permitted to prepay in part or in full the amounts due under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement without penalty,
provided that with respect to prepayment of the Revolver at least $0.10 million remains outstanding. Our obligations under the Amended
and Restated Credit Agreement may be accelerated upon the occurrence of an event of default, which include customary events for a
financing arrangement of this type, including, without limitation, payment defaults, defaults in the performance of affirmative or negative
covenants (including financial ratio maintenance requirements), bankruptcy or related defaults, defaults on certain other indebtedness, the
material inaccuracy of representations or warranties, material adverse changes, and changes related to ownership of the U.S. Borrower or
Unique Fabricating, Inc. In the event of an event of default, the interest rate on the Revolver and New US Term Loan and CA Term Loan
will increase by 3.0% per annum plus the
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then applicable rate. The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement requires that, in addition to scheduled principal payments, we repay
both the New US Term Loan and CA Term Loan principal annually in an amount equal to (a) 50% of excess cash flow, as defined, if the
total leverage ratio, as defined, as calculated as of the end of such year is greater than or equal to 2.75 to 1.00, or (b) 25% of excess cash
flow calculated as of the end of any fiscal year that out total leverage ratio is greater than or equal to 2.00 to 1.00 but less than 2.75 to
1.00.
The US Borrower's obligations under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement are guaranteed by each of its United States
subsidiaries and by Unique Fabricating, Inc. and secured by a first priority security interest in all tangible and intangible assets, including a
pledge of capital stock of the United States subsidiaries of the US Borrower and of 65% of the capital stock of the CA Borrower, and by
mortgages on our facilities in LaFayette, Georgia, Louisville, Kentucky, and Evansville, Indiana. The US borrower guarantees all of the
obligations and liabilities of the CA Borrower. Unique Fabricating, Inc. also pledged all of the capital stock of the US Borrower. The Fourth
Amendment provided for the discharge and release of the mortgage on the Ft. Smith, Arkansas facility subject to the application of the net
proceeds of its sale to reduce borrowings under the Revolver.
Effective June 30, 2016, as required under the Credit Agreement, the Company purchased a derivative financial instrument, in the form of
an interest rate swap, for the purpose of hedging certain identifiable transactions in order to mitigate risks related to cash flow variability
caused by interest rate fluctuations. The Company elected not to apply hedge accounting for financial reporting purposes. The interest rate
swap requires the Company to pay a fixed rate of 1.055% while receiving a variable rate of one-month LIBOR. The notional amount at the
effective date began at $16.68 million and decreased by $0.32 million each quarter until June 30, 2017, decreased by $0.43 million per
quarter until June 29, 2018, when it began decreasing by $0.53 million until it expires on June 28, 2019. The interest rate swap was
recognized at its fair value. Monthly settlement payments due on the interest rate swap and changes in its fair value are recognized as
interest expense in the period incurred. Please see Note 7 of our consolidated financial statements for further information.
Effective October 2, 2017, as required under the Second Amendment to the Credit Agreement, as discussed in Note 7 of our consolidated
financial statements, the Company entered into an interest rate swap which requires the Company to pay a fixed rate of 1.093% percent
per annum while receiving a variable interest rate per annum based on one month LIBOR for a net monthly settlement based on half of
the notional amount beginning immediately. The notional amount at the effective date was $1.90 million and decreases by $0.10 million
each quarter until it expires on September 30, 2020. The interest rate swap is recognized at its fair value, and monthly settlement
payments due on the interest rate swap and changes in its fair value are recognized as interest expense in the period incurred.
Effective November 30, 2018, as required under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, the Company entered into another
interest rate swap the requires the Company to pay a fixed rate of 3.075% per annum while receiving a variable interest rate per annum
based on the one month LIBOR for a net monthly settlement based on the notional amount in effect. The notional amount at the effective
date was $5.04 million which increases by $0.38 million each quarter until June 28, 2019 when the notional amount increases to $17.54
million due to the interest rate swap from 2016 above expiring. The notional amount then decreases each quarter by $0.15 million until
September 30, 2020 when the notional amount increases to $17.48 million due to the interest rate swap from 2017 above expiring. The
notional amount then decreases each quarter by $0.43 million until December 31, 2021, then decreases each subsequent quarter by
$0.61 million until it expires on November 8, 2023.The Company has elected not to apply hedge accounting for financial reporting
purposes on all of its swaps.
We must comply with a minimum debt service financial covenant and a senior funded indebtedness to EBITDA covenant, as defined.
As of December 30, 2018, we were in compliance with all loan covenants.
The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement also contains customary affirmative covenants, including: (1) maintenance of legal
existence and compliance with laws and regulations; (2) delivery of consolidated financial statements and other information; (3)
maintenance of properties in good working order; (4) payment of taxes; (5) delivery of notices of defaults, litigation, ERISA events and
material adverse changes; (6) maintenance of adequate insurance; and (7) inspection of books and records.
The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement contains customary negative covenants, including restrictions on: (1) the incurrence of
additional debt; (2) liens and sale-leaseback transactions; (3) loans and investments; (4) guarantees and hedging agreements; (5) the
sale, transfer or disposition of assets and businesses; (6) dividends on, and redemptions of, equity interests and other restricted payments,
including dividends and distributions to the issuer by its subsidiaries; (7) transactions with affiliates; (8) changes in the business conducted
by us; (9) payment or amendment of subordinated debt and organizational documents; and (10) maximum capital expenditures. The
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement prohibits the payment of any dividend, redemption or other payment or distribution by the
Borrowers other than distributions to the US Borrower by its subsidiaries, unless after giving effect to the dividend or other distribution, the
post distribution DSCR, as defined, is greater
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than 1.1 to 1.0, and the US Borrower's liquidity, as definted is no less than $5.0 million, plus Borrowers remain in compliance with the other
financial covenants.
Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any off balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our
financial condition, changes in financial condition, sales or expenses, results of operations, liquidity or capital expenditures, or capital
resources that are material to an investment in our securities.
Indemnification Agreements
In the normal course of business, we provide customers with indemnification provisions of varying scope against claims of intellectual
property infringement by third parties arising from the use of our products. Historically, costs related to these indemnification provisions
have not been significant and we are unable to estimate the maximum potential impact of these indemnification provisions on our future
results of operations. In addition, we have entered into indemnification agreements with directors and certain officers and employees that
will require us, among other things, to indemnify them against certain liabilities that may arise by reason of their status or service as
directors, officers or employees. No demands have been made upon us to provide indemnification under such agreements and there are
no claims that we are aware of that could have a material effect on our consolidated balance sheets, consolidated statements of
operations, consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity or consolidated cash flows.
Contractual Obligations and Commitments
The following table summarizes our future minimum payments under contractual commitments as of December 30, 2018:
Payments Due by Period
Contractual Obligations
Operating leases
Long-term debt (1)
Management services agreement (2)

Less than 1
year

Total
$

4,387
71,483
225

$

1,958
6,793
225

1-3 years
$

1,964
13,409
—

More than 5
years

3-5 years
$

465
51,281
—

$

—
—
—

(1) Interest payments on debt include payments based on variable rate interest on the debt balance and applicable rate at December 30,
2018. The total interest reported includes $5.6 million of variable rate interest on our revolving line of credit and $9.1 million of variable rate
interest on our term loans.
(2) Assumes the extension of the management services agreement which currently terminated in 2018. Amounts do not include additional
payments that may be earned in connection with transactions.
The contractual commitment amounts in the table above are associated with agreements that are enforceable and legally binding.
Obligations under contracts that we can cancel without a significant penalty are not included in the table above.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated financial statements
which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to make
estimates and judgments that affect amounts reported in those statements. We have made our best estimates of certain amounts
contained in our consolidated financial statements. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that
we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of
assets and liabilities. However, application of our accounting policies involves the exercise of judgment and use of assumptions as to
future uncertainties and, as a result, actual results could differ materially from these estimates. Management believes that the estimates,
assumptions, and judgments involved in the accounting policies described below have the most significant impact on our consolidated
financial statements.
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Acquisitions
In accordance with accounting guidance for the provisions in Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards
Codification 805, Business Combinations, we allocate the purchase price of an acquired business to its identifiable assets and liabilities
based on estimated fair values. The excess of the purchase price over the amount allocated to the assets and liabilities, if any, is recorded
as goodwill.
We use all available information to estimate fair values. We typically engage outside appraisal firms to assist in the fair value
determination of identifiable intangible assets and any other significant assets or liabilities. We adjust the preliminary purchase price
allocation, as necessary, up to one year after the acquisition closing date as we obtain more information regarding asset valuations and
liabilities assumed.
Our purchase price allocation methodology contains uncertainties because it requires management to make assumptions and to apply
judgment to estimate the fair value of acquired assets and liabilities. Management estimates the fair value of assets and liabilities based
upon quoted market prices, the carrying value of the acquired assets and widely accepted valuation techniques, including discounted cash
flows and market multiple analyses. Unanticipated events or circumstances may occur which could affect the accuracy of our fair value
estimates, including assumptions regarding industry economic factors and business strategies.
Other estimates used in determining fair value include, but are not limited to, future cash flows or income related to intangibles, market
rate assumptions and appropriate discount rates. Our estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but
that are inherently uncertain, and therefore, may not be realized. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the estimates, assumptions,
and values reflected in the valuations will be realized, and actual results could vary materially.
Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized by the Company upon shipment to customers when the customer takes ownership and assumes the risk of loss,
collection of the relevant receivable is probable, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, and the sale price is fixed and
determinable. Provisions for discounts and rebates to customers, estimated returns and allowances, and other adjustments are provided
for in the same period the related sales are recorded.
Stock Based Compensation
The Company accounts for its stock based compensation using the fair value of the award estimated at the grant date of the award. The
Company estimates the fair value of awards, consisting of stock options, using the Black Scholes option pricing model. Compensation
expense is recognized in earnings using the straight line method over the vesting period, which represents the requisite service period.
Accounts Receivable Allowance
Establishing valuation allowances for doubtful accounts requires the use of estimates and judgment in regard to the risk exposure and
ultimate realization. The allowance for doubtful accounts is established based upon analysis of trade receivables for known collectability
issues, including bankruptcies, and aging of receivables at the end of each period. Changes to our assumptions could materially affect our
recorded allowance. Also, while the Company has a large customer base that is geographically dispersed, certain customers are
significant and a general economic downturn could result in higher than expected defaults and, therefore, the need to revise the estimates
for bad debts.
Inventory
Inventories are valued at lower of cost or market, using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. Inventory includes the cost of materials,
labor, and overhead. Abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight in, handling costs and spoilage are recognized as current period
charges. Overhead is allocated to inventory based upon normal capacity at the production facility.
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Goodwill
We review our goodwill for impairment annually during the fourth quarter, or whenever adverse events or changes in circumstances
indicate a possible impairment. If it is determined that it is more likely than not that the fair value is greater than the carrying value of a
reporting unit then a qualitative assessment may be used for the annual impairment test. Otherwise, a one-step process is used which
requires estimating the fair value of each reporting unit compared to its carrying value. If the carrying value exceeds the estimated fair
value, goodwill impairment will be the amount by which a reporting unit’s carrying value exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the carrying
amount of goodwill.
The determination of the fair value of the reporting unit and corresponding goodwill require us to make significant judgments and
estimates. These assumptions require significant judgment and are subject to a considerable degree of uncertainty. We believe that the
assumptions and estimates in our review of goodwill for impairment are reasonable. However, different assumptions could materially affect
our conclusions on this matter. Currently, the reporting unit is not at risk of impairment.
In connection with our annual goodwill impairment test, we performed a quantitative assessment as of December 30, 2018, utilizing a
combination of the income and market approaches. The results of the quantitative analysis performed indicated the fair value of the
reporting unit exceeded the carrying value by approximately 10%. Key assumptions used in the analysis were a discount rate of 13.0%,
EBITDA margin and the terminal growth rate of 3%. Future events and changing market conditions may, however, lead us to reevaluate
the assumptions we have used to test for goodwill impairment, including key assumptions used in our expected EBITDA margins and cash
flows, as well as other key assumptions with respect to matters out of our control, such as discount rates and market multiple comparables.
Based on the results of the quantitative test, we performed sensitivity analysis around the key assumptions used in the analysis, the
results of which were: a) a 40 basis point decline in EBITDA margin used to determine expected future cash flows would have resulted in
the fair value of the reporting unit approximating carrying value, and b) a 50 basis point increase in the discount rate would have resulted
in the fair value of the reporting unit approximating carrying value.
Impairment and Amortization of Long-Lived and Intangible Assets
Our identifiable intangible assets are amortized on a straight line basis, which approximates the pattern in which the economic benefit
of the respective intangible is realized, over their respective estimated useful lives. The remaining useful lives of intangible assets are
reviewed annually to determine whether events and circumstances warrant a revision to the remaining period of amortization. Our longlived assets and intangible assets subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever adverse events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the related carrying amount may be impaired. An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying value of a
long-lived asset exceeds its fair value. Significant judgments and estimates are used by management when evaluating long-lived assets
for impairment. If management used different estimates and assumptions in its impairment tests, then the Company could recognize
different amounts of expense over future periods.
Income Taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect temporary differences between the amount of assets and liabilities for financial and tax
reporting purposes. Such amounts are adjusted, as appropriate, to reflect changes in tax rates expected to be in effect when the temporary
differences reverse. A valuation allowance is recorded to reduce our deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be
realized. Changes in tax laws or accounting standards and methods may affect recorded deferred taxes in future periods.
When establishing a valuation allowance, we consider future sources of taxable income such as “future reversals of existing taxable
temporary differences, future taxable income exclusive of reversing temporary differences and carryforwards” and “tax planning
strategies.” A tax planning strategy is defined as “an action that: is prudent and feasible; an enterprise ordinarily might not take, but would
take to prevent an operating loss or tax credit carryforward from expiring unused; and would result in realization of deferred tax assets.” In
the event we determine it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized in the future, the valuation adjustment to
the deferred tax assets will be charged to earnings in the period in which we make such a determination. The valuation of deferred tax
assets requires judgment and accounting for the deferred tax effect of events that have been recorded in the financial statements or in tax
returns and our future projected profitability. Changes in our estimates, due to unforeseen events or otherwise, could have a material
impact on our financial condition and results of operations.
We calculate our current and deferred tax provision based on estimates and assumptions that could differ from the actual results
reflected in income tax returns filed in subsequent years. Adjustments based on filed returns are recorded when
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identified. The amount of income taxes we pay is subject to audits by federal, state and foreign tax authorities. Our estimate of the
potential outcome of any uncertain tax issue is subject to management’s assessment of relevant risks, facts, and circumstances existing
at that time. We use a more-likely-than-not threshold for financial statement recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or
expected to be taken in a tax return. We record a liability for the difference between the benefit recognized and measured and tax position
taken or expected to be taken on our tax return. To the extent that our assessment of such tax positions changes, the change in estimate
is recorded in the period in which the determination is made. We report tax-related interest and penalties as a component of income tax
expense. We do not believe there is a reasonable likelihood that there will be a material change in the tax related balances or valuation
allowance balances. However, due to the complexity of some of these uncertainties, the ultimate resolution may be materially different
from the current estimate.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
Refer to Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements in Part II Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
We have operations both within the United States and internationally, and we are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our
business. These risks primarily include interest rate and foreign exchange risks.
Interest Rate Fluctuation Risk
Our borrowings under our Credit Agreement bore interest at fluctuating rates. In order to mitigate, in part, the potential effects of
the fluctuating rates, effective June 30, 2016, we entered into a interest rate swap with a notional amount initially of $16.68 million, which
decreased by $0.32 million each quarter until June 30, 2017, and began decreasing by $0.43 million each quarter until June 29, 2018,
when it began decreasing by $0.53 million per quarter until the swap terminates on June 28, 2019. The interest rate swap requires the
Company to pay a fixed rate of 1.055 percent per annum while receiving a variable rate per annum based upon the one month LIBOR rate
for a net monthly settlement based on the notional amount in effect. This swap terminated an old swap that we entered into on January
17, 2014 under our old senior credit facility. See Note 7 of our consolidated financial statements for further information.
Effective October 2, 2017, as required under the Second Amendment to the Credit Agreement, as discussed in Note 7 of our consolidated
financial statements, the Company entered into another interest rate swap that requires the Company to pay a fixed rate
of 1.093% percent per annum while receiving a variable interest rate per annum based on one month LIBOR for a net monthly settlement
based on the notional amount in effect. The notional amount at the effective date was $1.90 million which decreases by $0.10 million each
quarter until it expires on September 30, 2020.
Effective November 30, 2018, as required under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, the Company entered into another
interest rate swap the requires the Company to pay a fixed rate of 3.075 per annum which receiving a variable interest rate per annum
based on the one month LIBOR for a net monthly settlement based on the notional amount in effect. The notional amount at the effective
date was $5,037,500 which increases by $378,125 each quarter until June 29, 2018 when the notional amount increases to $17,540,625
due to the interest rate swap from 2016 above expiring. The notional amount then decreases each quarter by $153,125 until September
30, 2020 when the notional amount increases to $17,475,000 due to the interest rate swap from 2017 above expiring. The notional
amount then decreases each quarter by $431,250 until December 31, 2021, then decreases each subsequent quarter by $609,375 until it
expires on November 8, 2023.
The Company received $(113,025), in the aggregate, in net monthly settlements with respect to the interest rate swaps for the 52 weeks
ended December 30, 2018.The Company paid $1,159, in the aggregate, in net monthly settlements with respect to the interest rate swap
above for the 52 weeks ended December 31, 2017
We do not believe that an increase or decrease in interest rates of 100 basis points related to our swaps would have a material effect on
our operating results or financial condition.
Foreign Currency Risk
Our functional currency is the U.S. dollar. To date, substantially all of our net sales and operating expenses have been
denominated in U.S. dollars, therefore we are not currently subject to significant foreign currency risk. However, if our international
operations continue to grow, our risks associated with fluctuation in currency rates may become greater. Currency fluctuations or a
weakening U.S. dollar can increase the costs of our international operations. We intend to continue to assess our approach to managing
this potential risk. We do not believe that the effect of a hypothetical 10% change in foreign currency exchange rates applicable to our
business would have had a material impact on our operating results or financial condition. To date, foreign currency transaction gains and
losses and exchange rate fluctuations have not been material to our consolidated financial statements. However, in order to mitigate some
of the risk that we do have with regard to foreign currency, effective June 29, 2016 we entered into a 1 year foreign currency forward
contract to hedge the Mexican Peso. The forward contract had an equivalent US dollar notional amount of $3.30 million and expired on
June 30, 2017 and did not have a material impact to our consolidated financial statements. See Note 7 to our consolidated financial
statements for further information.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of Unique Fabricating, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Unique Fabricating, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of
December 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows for
each of the fifty-two week periods ended December 30, 2018, December 31, 2017, and January 1, 2017 and the related notes (collectively
referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as of December 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of
the fifty-two week periods ended December 30, 2018, December 31, 2017 and January 1, 2017, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S.
federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The
Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our
audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or
fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
/s/ Deloitte & Touche, LLP
Detroit, Michigan
March 7, 2019
We have served as the Company's auditor since 2016
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UNIQUE FABRICATING, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 30,
2018

Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable – net
Inventory – net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets:
Prepaid expenses and other
Refundable taxes

$

Total current assets
Property, Plant, and Equipment – Net
Goodwill
Intangible Assets
Other assets
Investments – at cost
Deposits and other assets
Deferred tax asset
Total assets
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable
Current maturities of long-term debt
Income taxes payable
Accrued compensation
Other accrued liabilities

1,409,593
30,831,182
16,285,507

December 31,
2017

$

1,430,937
27,203,296
16,330,084

2,511,486
983,073

3,962,012
646,253

52,020,841
25,077,745
28,871,179
15,568,383

49,572,582
22,975,401
28,871,179
19,635,782

1,054,120
198,854
496,181

1,054,120
353,719
342,552

$

123,287,303

$

122,805,335

$

11,465,222
3,350,000
40,634
2,848,282
1,432,109

$

11,708,175
3,799,998
348,910
2,840,559
1,027,489

Total current liabilities
Long-term debt – net of current portion
Line of credit
Other long-term liabilities
Deferred tax liability

19,136,247
34,667,768
17,904,869
395,154
2,295,105

19,725,131
27,288,846
22,476,525
—
2,432,754

Total liabilities

74,399,143

71,923,256

Stockholders’ Equity
Common stock, $0.001 par value – 15,000,000 shares authorized and
9,779,147 and 9,757,563 issued and outstanding at December 30, 2018 and
December 31, 2017, respectively
Additional paid-in-capital
Retained earnings

9,780
45,881,848
2,996,532

9,758
45,712,568
5,159,753

Total stockholders’ equity

48,888,160
$

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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123,287,303

50,882,079
$

122,805,335
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Consolidated Statements of Operations
Fifty-Two Weeks
Ended December
30, 2018

Net Sales
Cost of Sales

$

Gross Profit
Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses
Restructuring Expenses
Operating Income

174,909,741
135,575,004

Fifty-Two Weeks
Ended December
31, 2017

$

175,287,982
135,234,448

Fifty-Two Weeks
Ended January 1,
2017

$

170,462,953
130,918,486

39,334,737
29,780,956
1,155,910

40,053,534
29,766,864
—

39,544,467
27,524,453
35,054

8,397,871

10,286,670

11,984,960

Non-operating Income (Expense)
Investment income
Other income
Interest expense

50,169
(109,142)
(3,778,328)

—
78,805
(2,745,904)

—
91,755
(2,134,976)

Total non-operating expense

(3,837,301)

(2,667,099)

(2,043,221)

4,560,570
861,969

7,619,571
1,132,880

9,941,739
3,257,619

Income – Before income taxes
Income Tax Expense
$

3,698,601

$

6,486,691

$

6,684,120

Basic

$

0.38

$

0.67

$

0.69

Diluted

$

0.37

$

0.66

$

0.68

Cash dividends declared per share

$

0.60

$

0.60

$

0.60

Net Income
Net Income per share

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Number of
Shares

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Total

Balance - January 3, 2016
Net income
Stock option expense
Exercise of warrants and options for common stock
Common stock issued for purchase of Intasco USA, Inc.
Cash dividends paid

9,591,860
—
—
57,115
70,797
—

$

9,592
—
—
57
71
—

$ 44,352,188
—
166,476
115,918
890,655
—

$ 3,651,344 $ 48,013,124
6,684,120
6,684,120
—
166,476
—
115,975
—
890,726
(5,811,858)
(5,811,858)

Balance - January 1, 2017

9,719,772

$

9,720

$ 45,525,237

$ 4,523,606

$ 50,058,563

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Total

Number of
Shares

Common
Stock

Balance - January 2, 2017
Net income
Stock option expense
Exercise of warrants and options for common stock
Cash dividends paid

9,719,772
—
—
37,791
—

$

9,720
—
—
38
—

$ 45,525,237
—
150,368
36,963
—

$ 4,523,606 $ 50,058,563
6,486,691
6,486,691
—
150,368
—
37,001
(5,850,544)
(5,850,544)

Balance - December 31, 2017

9,757,563

$

9,758

$ 45,712,568

$ 5,159,753

$ 50,882,079

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Total

Number of
Shares

Common
Stock

Balance - January 1, 2018
Net income
Stock option expense
Exercise of warrants and options for common stock
Cash dividends paid

9,757,563
—
—
21,584
—

$

9,758
—
—
22
—

$ 45,712,568
—
131,302
37,978
—

$ 5,159,753 $ 50,882,079
3,698,601
3,698,601
—
131,302
—
38,000
(5,861,822)
(5,861,822)

Balance - December 30, 2018

9,779,147

$

9,780

$ 45,881,848

$ 2,996,532

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Fifty-Two Weeks
Ended December
30, 2018

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of debt issuance costs
(Gain) loss on sale of assets
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Bad debt adjustment
Loss (gain) on derivative instruments
Stock option expense
Deferred income taxes
Changes in operating assets and liabilities that provided (used)
cash:
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued and other liabilities

$

Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchases of property and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Acquisition of Intasco, net of cash acquired
Working capital adjustment from acquisition of Intasco
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net change in bank overdraft
Proceeds from debt
Payments on term loans
Payments on (proceeds from) revolving credit facilities, net
Debt issuance costs
Pay-off of old senior credit facility term debt
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and warrants
Distribution of cash dividends
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
Net Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents – Beginning of period

3,698,601

Fifty-Two Weeks
Ended December
31, 2017

$

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information – Cash paid for
Interest
Income taxes
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information –
Non cash investing and financing activities for
Common stock issued for purchase of Intasco USA, Inc.

6,684,120

6,319,975
148,948
63,013
—
128,475
(228,387)
150,368
(1,552,502)

5,501,674
127,556
(126,631)
60,202
(274,364)
22,193
166,476
(1,165,649)

(3,640,825)
44,577
1,212,214
1,008,447
104,067

(443,826)
401,524
(1,765,990)
(1,705,663)
(193,762)

(3,987,313)
339,784
(1,291,654)
1,329,599
375,280

9,430,305

7,808,864

7,761,273

(5,393,817)
904,237
—
—

(4,140,135)
51,847
—
—

(3,362,014)
2,187,366
(21,030,795)
212,823

(4,489,580)

(4,088,288)

(21,992,620)

(1,251,400)
10,131,574
(2,962,477)
(4,421,908)
(634,036)
—
38,000
(5,861,822)

(37,978)
—
(3,374,545)
6,230,892
—
—
37,001
(5,850,544)

548,892
32,000,000
(2,444,071)
5,690,487
(514,441)
(15,375,000)
115,975
(5,811,858)

(4,962,069)

(2,995,174)

14,209,984

725,402
705,535

(21,363)
726,898

$

1,409,593

$

1,430,937

$

705,535

$
$

3,575,279
1,339,290

$
$

2,566,956
2,231,901

$
$

1,552,619
3,750,845

$

—

$

—

$

890,726

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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$

6,630,142
147,291
(137,793)
59,110
12,939
451,511
131,302
(291,278)

(21,344)
1,430,937

Cash and Cash Equivalents – End of period

6,486,691

Fifty-Two Weeks
Ended January 1,
2017
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Note 1 — Nature of Business and Significant Accounting Policies
Nature of Business — UFI Acquisition, Inc. (“UFI”), a Delaware corporation, was formed on January 14, 2013, for the purpose of
acquiring Unique Fabricating, Inc. and its subsidiaries (“Unique Fabricating”) (collectively, the “Company” or “Unique”) on March 18, 2013.
The Company operates as one operating and reporting segment to fabricate and broker foam and rubber products, which are primarily sold
to original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”) and tiered suppliers in the automotive, appliance, water heater and heating, ventilation, and
air conditioning (“HVAC”) industries. In September 2014, UFI changed its name to Unique Fabricating, Inc. which is now the parent
company of the consolidated group. As a result of the name change, the subsidiary previously named Unique Fabricating, Inc. became
Unique Fabricating NA, Inc.
Basis of Presentation — The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been
prepared by the Company, pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).
Principles of Consolidation —The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all subsidiaries over
which the Company exercises control. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated upon consolidation.
Fiscal Years — The Company’s year-end periods end on the Sunday closest to the end of the calendar year-end period. The 52week fiscal year periods for 2018, 2017, and 2016 ended on December 30, 2018, December 31, 2017, and January 1, 2017, respectively.
Cash and Cash Equivalents — The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less
to be cash and cash equivalents.
Accounts Receivable — Accounts receivable are stated at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. The allowance for doubtful
accounts is management’s best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in the existing accounts receivable. Management
determines the allowance based on historical write off experience and an understanding of individual customer payment history and
financial condition. Management reviews the allowance for doubtful accounts at regular intervals. Account balances are charged off
against the allowance when management determines it is probable the receivable will not be recovered. The allowance for doubtful
accounts was $684,996 and $768,500 at December 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.
Inventory — Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market, with cost determined on the first in, first out method (FIFO). Inventory
acquired as part of a business combination is recorded at its estimated fair value at the time of the business combination. The Company
periodically evaluates inventory for obsolescence, excess quantities, slow moving goods and other impairments of value and establishes
reserves for any identified impairments.
Valuation of Long-Lived Assets — The carrying value of long-lived assets held for use is periodically evaluated when events or
circumstances warrant such a review. The carrying value of a long-lived asset held for use is considered impaired when the anticipated
separately identifiable undiscounted cash flows from the asset are less than the carrying value of the asset. In that event, a loss is
recognized based on the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value of the long-lived asset. The Company determined that
no impairment indicators were present and all originally assigned useful lives remained appropriate during the 52 weeks ended
December 30, 2018, December 31, 2017, and January 1, 2017, respectively.
Property, Plant, and Equipment — Property, plant, and equipment purchases are recorded at cost. Property, plant, and equipment
acquired as part of a business combination are recorded at estimated fair value at the time of the business combination. Depreciation is
calculated principally using the straight line method over the estimated useful life of each asset. Leasehold improvements are depreciated
over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the period of the related leases. Upon retirement or disposal, the initial cost or
valuation and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts, and any gain or loss is included in net income. Repair and
maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.
Intangible Assets — The Company does not hold any intangible assets with indefinite lives. Identifiable intangible assets recognized
as part of a business combination are recorded at their estimated fair value at the time of the business combination. Amortizable intangible
assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the related carrying
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amount may be impaired. The remaining useful lives of intangible assets are reviewed annually to determine whether events and
circumstances warrant a revision to the remaining period of amortization. The Company determined that no impairment indicators were
present and all originally assigned useful lives remained appropriate during the 52 weeks ended December 30, 2018, December 31, 2017,
and January 1, 2017, respectively.
Goodwill — Goodwill represents the excess of the acquisition cost of consideration transferred over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed from business combinations at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is not amortized, but rather is
assessed at least on an annual basis for impairment. If it is determined that it is more likely than not that the fair value is greater than the
carrying value of a reporting unit then a qualitative assessment may be used for the annual impairment test. Otherwise, a one-step
process is used which requires estimating the fair value of each reporting unit compared to its carrying value. If the carrying value
exceeds the estimated fair value, goodwill impairment will be the amount by which a reporting unit’s carrying value exceeds its fair value,
not to exceed the carrying amount of goodwill. The Company has one reporting and operating unit for goodwill testing purposes.
There were no impairment charges recognized during the 52 weeks ended December 30, 2018, December 31, 2017, and January 1,
2017, respectively.
The Company performed the annual quantitative assessment as of December 30, 2018, utilizing a combination of the income and market
approaches. The results of the quantitative analysis performed indicated the fair value of the reporting unit exceeded the carrying value by
approximately 10.0%. Key assumptions used in the analysis were a discount rate of 13.0%, EBITDA margin and a terminal growth rate of
3.0%. Future events and changing market conditions may, however, lead the Company to reevaluate the assumptions that have been
used to test for goodwill impairment, including key assumptions used in the expected EBITDA margins, cash flows and discount rates, as
well as other assumptions with respect to matters out of the Company’s control, such as market multiple comparables.
Debt Issuance Costs — Debt issuance costs represent legal, consulting, and other financial costs associated with debt financing and
are reported netted against the related debt instrument. Amounts paid to or on behalf of lenders are presented as debt discount, as a
reduction of the noted debt instrument. Debt issuance costs on term debt are amortized using the straight lines basis over the term of the
related debt (which is immaterially different from the required effective interest method) while those related to revolving debt are amortized
using a straight line basis over the term of the related debt.
At December 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, debt issuance costs were $381,793 and $232,045, respectively, while amounts paid
to or on behalf of lenders presented as debt discounts were $482,232 and $242,059, respectively. On November 8, 2018, the Company
amended its current Credit Agreement (the “Amended and Restated Credit Agreement”), which increased its term loan debt and is further
described in Note 6. The Company reviewed this amendment for extinguishment accounting and concluded that $59,110 of the remaining
$172,600 debt issuance costs not amortized on the old revolving debt facility qualified for extinguishment accounting and were recognized
as a loss on extinguishment immediately. The remaining unamortized debt issuance costs not extinguished on the old revolving debt
facility and all of the of remaining unamortized debt issuance costs on the old term loans did not meet extinguishment accounting and
therefore were carried forward to the new revolving debt facility and term loans.
Amortization expense has been recognized as a component of interest expense which includes both debt issuance costs and debt
discounts in the amounts of $147,291 for the 52 weeks ended December 30, 2018, $148,948 for the 52 weeks ended December 31,
2017, and $127,556 for the 52 weeks ended January 1, 2017, respectively.
Investments — Investments in entities in which the Company has less than a 20 percent interest or is not able to exercise significant
influence are carried at cost. Cost basis investments acquired are recorded at cost. Dividends received are included in income, except for
those dividends received in excess of the Company’s proportionate share of accumulated earnings, which are applied as a reduction of the
cost of the investment. Impairment losses due to a decline in the value of the investment that is other than temporary are recognized when
incurred. Dividend income of $50,169, $0 and $0 was recognized for the 52 weeks ended December 30, 2018, December 31, 2017, and
January 1, 2017, respectively. No impairment loss was recognized for the 52 weeks ended December 30, 2018, December 31, 2017, and
January 1, 2017, respectively.
Accounts Payable — Under the Company’s cash management system, checks issued but not yet presented to the Company’s bank
frequently result in overdraft balances for accounting purposes and are classified as accounts payable on the
51

TABLE OF CONTENTS
UNIQUE FABRICATING, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
consolidated balance sheets. Accounts payable included $1,802,712 and $2,919,460 of checks issued in excess of available cash
balances at December 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.
Stock Based Compensation — The Company accounts for its stock based compensation using the fair value of the award
estimated at the grant date of the award. The Company estimates the fair value of awards, consisting of stock options, using the Black
Scholes option pricing model. Compensation expense is recognized in earnings using the straight line method over the vesting period,
which represents the requisite service period.
Revenue Recognition — Revenue is recognized by the Company upon shipment to customers when the customer takes ownership
and assumes the risk of loss, collection of the relevant receivable is probable, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, and the sale
price is fixed and determinable. Provisions for discounts and rebates to customers, estimated returns and allowances, and other
adjustments are provided for in the same period the related sales are recorded.
Shipping and Handling — Shipping and handling costs are included in cost of sales as they are incurred.
Income Taxes — A current tax liability or asset is recognized for the estimated taxes payable or refundable on tax returns for the
period. Deferred tax liabilities or assets are recognized for the estimated future tax effects of temporary differences between financial
reporting and tax accounting measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The Company also evaluates the need for valuation allowances to reduce the deferred
tax assets to realizable amounts. Management evaluates all positive and negative evidence and uses judgment regarding past and future
events, including operating results, to help determine when it is more likely than not that all or some portion of the deferred tax assets may
not be realized. When appropriate, a valuation allowance is recorded against deferred tax assets to reserve for future tax benefits that may
not be realized.
The Company recognizes the benefit of a tax position when it is more likely than not, based on the technical merits, that the position will be
sustained upon examination. For tax positions meeting the more likely than not threshold, the amount recognized in the financial
statements is the largest benefit that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon settlement with the relevant tax
authority. The Company assesses all tax positions for which the statute of limitations remain open. The Company had no unrecognized tax
benefits as of December 30, 2018, December 31, 2017, and January 1, 2017. There were no penalties or interest recorded during the 52
weeks ended December 30, 2018, December 31, 2017, or January 1, 2017
Foreign Currency Adjustments — The Company’s functional currency for all operations worldwide is the United States dollar.
Nonmonetary assets and liabilities of foreign operations are remeasured at historical rates and monetary assets and liabilities are
remeasured at exchange rates in effect at the end of each reporting period. Income statement accounts are remeasured at average
exchange rates for the year. Gains and losses from translation of foreign currency financial statements into United States dollars are
classified in other income in the consolidated statements of operations.
Concentration Risks — The Company is exposed to various significant concentration risks as follows:
Customer and Credit — During the 52 weeks ended December 30, 2018, December 31, 2017, and January 1, 2017, the Company’s
sales were derived from customers principally engaged in the North American automotive industry. Company sales directly and indirectly
to General Motors Company (“GM”), Fiat Chrysler Automobiles (“FCA”), and Ford Motor Company (“Ford”), as a percentage of total net
sales were: 15, 16, and 11 percent, respectively, during the 52 weeks ended December 30, 2018; 14, 13, and 11 percent, respectively,
during the 52 weeks ended December 31, 2017; and 15, 11, and 12 percent, respectively, during the 52 weeks ended January 1, 2017.
No Tier 1 suppliers represented more than 10 percent of direct Company sales for any period noted above. GM accounted for 14 and 11
percent of direct accounts receivable as of December 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.
Labor Markets — At December 30, 2018, of the Company’s hourly plant employees working in the United States manufacturing
facilities, 33 percent were covered under a collective bargaining agreement which expires in August 2019 while another 6 percent were
covered under a separate agreement that expires in February 2020.
Foreign Currency Exchange — The expression of assets and liabilities in a currency other than the functional currency, which is the
United States dollar, gives rise to exchange gains and losses when such assets and obligations are paid in another currency. Foreign
currency exchange rate adjustments (i.e., differences between amounts recorded and actual amounts owed or
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paid) are reported in the consolidated statements of operations as the foreign currency fluctuations occur. Foreign currency exchange rate
adjustments are reported in the consolidated statements of cash flows using the exchange rates in effect at the time of the cash flows. At
December 30, 2018, the Company’s exposure to assets and liabilities denominated in another currency was not significant. To the extent
there is a fluctuation in the exchange rates, the amount of local currency to be paid or received to satisfy foreign currency obligations in
2019 may increase or decrease.
International Operations — The Company manufactures and sells products outside of the United States primarily in Mexico and
Canada. Foreign operations are subject to various political, economic and other risks and uncertainties inherent in foreign countries.
Among other risks, the Company’s operations are subject to the risks of: restrictions on transfers of funds; export duties, quotas, and
embargoes; domestic and international customs and tariffs; changing taxation policies; foreign exchange restrictions; political conditions;
and governmental regulations. During the 52 weeks ended December 30, 2018, December 31, 2017, and January 1, 2017, 17, 15, and 12
percent, respectively, of the Company’s production occurred in Mexico. During the 52 weeks ended December 30, 2018, December 31,
2017, and January 1, 2017, 10, 9, and 6 percent, respectively, of the Company's production occurred in Canada. Sales derived from
customers located in Mexico, Canada, and other foreign countries were 17, 10, and 2 percent, respectively during the 52 weeks ended
December 30, 2018, 15, 10, and 1 percent, respectively, during the 52 weeks ended December 31, 2017, and 12, 8, and 1 percent,
respectively during the 52 weeks ended January 1, 2017, of the Company’s total sales.
Derivative financial instruments — All derivative instruments are required to be reported on the consolidated balance sheets at fair
value unless the transactions qualify and are designated as normal purchases or sales. Changes in fair value are reported currently
through earnings unless they meet hedge accounting criteria. See Note 7 for further information regarding the Company's derivative
instrument makeup.
Use of Estimates — The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements — In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers. This ASU supersedes most of the existing guidance on revenue recognition in ASC Topic 605, Revenue Recognition, and
establishes a broad principle that would require an entity to recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
To achieve this principle, an entity identifies the contract with a customer, identifies the separate performance obligations in the contract,
determines the transaction price, allocates the transaction price to the separate performance obligations and recognizes revenue when
each separate performance obligation is satisfied. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14, Revenue From Contracts with
Customers (Topic 606): Deferral of the Effective Date, to defer implementation of ASU 2014-09 by one year. The guidance is now currently
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018 and is to be applied retrospectively at the entity's election either to each prior
reporting period presented or with the cumulative effect of application recognized at the date of initial application. The ASU allows for early
adoption for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, however, the Company plans to adopt the new accounting standard ASC
606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers and all the related amendments to all contracts using the modified retrospective method in
its first quarter of 2019. To assess the impact of the new standard, the Company analyzed the standard's impact on customer contracts,
comparing its historical accounting policies and practices to the requirements of the new standard, and identifying potential differences
from application of the new standard's requirements. The Company reviewed material contracts and related agreements with customers
and confirmed that the performance obligations do not change under ASC No. 606. In addition, the Company considered all relevant
commercial variables to identify transaction consideration and has concluded there is not a material change in the determination of
transaction pricing. Therefore, the Company has concluded that the adoption of the new revenue standards will not have a material
impact on its consolidated financial statements as the method for recognizing revenue subsequent to the implementation of ASC No. 606
will not vary significantly from the revenue recognition practices under current GAAP.
In January 2016, the FASB issued guidance, together with related, subsequently issued guidance, that addresses certain aspects of
recognition, measurement, presentation, and disclosure of financial instruments. Among other provisions, the guidance requires certain
equity securities to be measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized in earnings. For equity securities without readily
determinable fair values, entities may elect to measure these securities at cost minus impairment, if any, adjusted for changes in
observable prices. The guidance should be applied through a cumulative-effect adjustment to the
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balance sheet as of the beginning of the year of adoption, except for equity securities without readily determinable fair values, to which the
guidance should be applied prospectively. The Company adopted this guidance on January 1, 2018 and concluded this did not have a
material effect on the consolidated financial statements. The Company does have a cost method investment in its consolidated financial
statements, and there is not a readily determinable value for this investment.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases, which will supersede the current lease requirements in Topic 840. The ASU
requires lessees to recognize a right of use asset and related lease liability for all leases, with a limited exception for short-term leases.
Leases will be classified as either finance or operating, with the classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the statement
of operations. Currently, leases are classified as either capital or operating, with only capital leases recognized on the balance sheet. The
reporting of lease related expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and cash flows will be generally consistent with current
guidance. The ASU is effective for the Company for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. The
Company believes the impact that the adoption of this guidance will have on its consolidated financial statements will be to materially
increase assets and liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet, but it is not expected to materially impact the consolidated statements of
operations.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-4, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for Goodwill
Impairment, accounting guidance which removes Step 2 of the goodwill impairment test. Goodwill impairment will now be the amount by
which a reporting unit’s carrying value exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the carrying amount of goodwill. The ASU is effective for
annual or interim reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2021. Early adoption is permitted. The Company adopted the provisions
related to this ASU during fiscal year 2017 and the impact was not material.
Note 2 — Business Combinations
The Company intends to continue to selectively pursue opportunistic acquisitions that provide additional products and processes, as well
as entrance into new growth markets. There were no new acquisitions for the 52 weeks ended December 30, 2018 and December 31,
2017.
2016
On April 29, 2016, Unique-Intasco Canada, Inc. (the “Canadian Buyer”), a newly formed subsidiary of the Company, acquired the
business and substantially all of the assets of Intasco Corporation, a Canadian based tape manufacturer, for a purchase price of
$21,049,045, in cash paid at closing. On the same date, Unique Fabricating NA, Inc. (the “US Buyer”), an existing subsidiary of the
Company, purchased 100% of the outstanding capital stock of Intasco USA, Inc. a United States based tape manufacturer, for a purchase
price of $890,726 paid by the issuance of 70,797 shares of the Company's common stock. These shares were issued in reliance upon an
exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. A portion of the purchase price is being held in
escrow to fund the obligations of Intasco Corporation and Intasco USA, Inc., (together “Intasco”) and a related party to indemnify the
Canadian Buyer and US Buyer against certain claims, losses, and liabilities. The purchase agreement included a potential purchase price
adjustment provision based on the actual working capital acquired on the day of closing as compared to what was originally estimated at
closing. On the date of closing, the Company paid an estimated working capital adjustment of $126,047 to Intasco, which is included in the
total cash consideration paid above. During August 2016, Intasco paid the Company $212,823 for the actual final working capital
adjustment. This final actual working capital settlement is included in the table below. The cash purchase price was paid with borrowings
under a new senior credit facility which replaced the Company's existing facility as further described in Note 6. The Company incurred
transaction costs of $852,580 related to the acquisition of Intasco. The acquisition significantly broadened the Company's solution
offerings, production capabilities, and potentially expanded its reach into new markets.
In connection with the business combination, Intasco terminated the leases it had with an affiliated entity for its operating facilities in the
United States and Canada and the Company entered into new leases for the same facilities. The terms of the Company's lease in the
United States provides for a term of two years with monthly rental payments of $4,000 beginning on May 1, 2016 and $4,080 beginning on
May 1, 2017. The terms of the Company's lease in Canada provides for a term of five years with monthly rental payments of $16,750
Canadian dollars beginning on May 1, 2016, $17,085 Canadian dollars beginning on May 1, 2017, and $17,427 Canadian dollars
beginning on May 1, 2019.
The following table summarizes the acquisition date fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
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Cash
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Other current assets
Property, plant, and equipment
Identifiable intangible assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

$

18,250
2,146,082
2,485,781
74,194
861,491
7,316,694
(716,080)
(97,622)

Total identifiable net assets
Goodwill

12,088,790
9,657,221
$

Total

21,746,011

The goodwill arising from the acquisition consisted largely of Intasco's reputation, trained employees, and other unique features that
cannot be associated with a specific identifiable asset. Of the total amount of goodwill recognized, $7,267,507 is expected to be deductible
for tax purposes. The Company also recognized intangible assets as part of the acquisition which consisted of customer contracts, trade
names, and unpatented technology. For further detail of the Company's intangibles please see Note 5.
The consolidated operating results for the 52 weeks ended January 1, 2017 included the operating results of Intasco from April 29, 2016.
Intasco's revenue included in the accompanying statement of operations for the 52 weeks ended January 1, 2017, totaled $12,501,386,
from the date of the acquisition. Intasco's net income included in the accompanying statement of operations for the 52 weeks ended
January 1, 2017, totaled $131,433, from the date of acquisition.
Note 3 — Inventory
Inventory consists of the following:
December 30,
2018

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods
Total inventory

December 31,
2017

$

9,562,962
547,729
6,174,816

$

9,005,335
578,056
6,746,693

$

16,285,507

$

16,330,084

The allowance for obsolete inventory was $557,066 and $434,712 at December 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.
Included in inventory are assets located in Mexico with a carrying amount of $3,340,748 at December 30, 2018 and $3,173,944 at
December 31, 2017, and assets located in Canada with a carrying amount of $1,177,256 at December 30, 2018 and $1,072,430 at
December 31, 2017.
The inventory acquired in the 2016 acquisition of Intasco included a fair value adjustment of $318,518, At January 1, 2017, $0 of this
fair value adjustment remained in inventory while $318,518 was included in costs of goods sold during the 52 weeks ended January 1,
2017.
Note 4 — Property, Plant, and Equipment
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Property, plant, and equipment consists of the following:
December 30,
2018

Land
Buildings
Shop equipment
Leasehold improvements
Office equipment
Mobile equipment
Construction in progress

$

Total cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net property, plant, and equipment

1,663,153
6,898,455
21,165,566
1,130,507
1,650,626
282,805
1,514,082

December 31,
2017

$

34,305,194
9,227,449
$

25,077,745

Depreciable
Life – Years

1,663,153
7,606,125
16,654,811
997,277
1,442,082
223,474
1,253,760

23 – 40
7 – 10
3 – 10
3–7
3

29,840,682
6,865,281
$

22,975,401

Depreciation expense was $2,562,743 for the 52 weeks ended December 30, 2018, $2,197,415 for the 52 weeks ended
December 31, 2017, and $1,804,110 for the 52 weeks ended January 1, 2017.
Included in property, plant, and equipment are assets located in Mexico with a carrying amount of $3,209,973 and $2,659,920 at
December 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively, and assets located in Canada with a carrying amount of $656,183 and
$684,431 at December 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.
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Note 5 — Intangible Assets
Intangible assets of the Company consist of the following at December 30, 2018:
Gross Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Customer contracts
Trade names
Non-compete agreements
Unpatented technology

$

26,523,065
4,673,044
1,161,790
1,534,787

$

14,936,128
1,452,276
1,117,626
818,273

Total

$

33,892,686

$

18,324,303

Weighted Average
Life – Years

8.16
16.43
2.53
5.00

Intangible assets of the Company consist of the following at December 31, 2017:
Gross Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Customer contracts
Trade names
Non-compete agreements
Unpatented technology

$

26,523,065
4,673,044
1,161,790
1,534,787

$

11,588,946
1,160,569
995,233
512,156

Total

$

33,892,686

$

14,256,904

Weighted Average
Life – Years

8.16
16.43
2.53
5.00

The weighted average amortization period for all intangible assets is 8.96 years. Amortization expense for intangible assets totaled
$4,067,399 for the 52 weeks ended December 30, 2018, $4,122,560 for the 52 weeks ended December 31, 2017, and $3,697,564 for the
52 weeks ended January 1, 2017.
Estimated amortization expense is as follows:
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter

$

3,945,264
3,913,627
2,455,712
1,305,314
978,787
2,969,679

Total

$

15,568,383

Note 6 — Long-term Debt
Credit Agreement
On April 29, 2016, Unique Fabricating NA, Inc. (the “US Borrower”) and Unique-Intasco Canada, Inc. (the “CA Borrower”) and Citizens
Bank, National Association (“Citizens”), acting as syndication agent, and other lenders, entered into a credit agreement (the “Credit
Agreement”) providing for borrowings of up to the aggregate principal amount of $62.0 million. The Credit Agreement was a senior
secured credit facility and consisted of a revolving line of credit of up to $30.0 million (the “Revolver”) to the US Borrower, a $17.0 million
principal amount term loan (the “US Term Loan”) to the US Borrower, and a $15.0 million principal amount term loan (the “CA Term Loan”)
to the CA Borrower. At Closing, the US Term Loan and the CA Term Loan were fully funded and the US Borrower borrowed
approximately $22.9 million under the Revolver.
On August 18, 2017, the US Borrower and the CA Borrower entered into the Second Amendment (the “Amendment”) to the Credit
Agreement, with Citizens acting as syndication agent, and other lenders. The amendment converted $4.0 million of outstanding
borrowings under the Revolver into an additional $4.0 million term loan to the US borrower (the “US Term Loan II”). The conversion of a
portion of the outstanding borrowings under the Revolver did not reduce the aggregate amount available to be borrowed under it.
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On August 8, 2018 the US Borrower and the CA Borrower entered into the Fourth Amendment (the “Fourth Amendment”) to the Credit
Agreement, with Citizens acting as Administrative Agent, and the other lenders. The Fourth Amendment required the Company to use the
net proceeds from the sale of the Ft. Smith, Arkansas building to reduce the outstanding borrowings under the Revolver. The application of
the net proceeds did not permanently reduce the amounts that could be borrowed under the Revolver. The Fourth Amendment also made
less restrictive for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2018, the financial covenant ratio which determined the Company's ability to
pay dividends.
On September 20, 2018, the US Borrower and the CA Borrower entered into the Fifth Amendment (the “Fifth Amendment”) to the Credit
Agreement, with Citizens acting as Administrative Agent, and the other lenders. The Fifth Amendment temporarily increased the maximum
amount that could be borrowed under the Revolver to $32.5 million from its then current maximum of $30.0 million. This increase
implemented by the Fifth Amendment was effective until October 31, 2018, at which point the maximum amount that may be borrowed
under the Revolver reverted back to $30.0 million and was replaced by the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement outlined below.
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
On November 8, 2018, the US Borrower and the CA Borrower, entered into an Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the “Amended
and Restated Credit Agreement”), which amended and restated the existing Credit Agreement. The Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement is a five year agreement, which, among other things increases the principal amount of US Term Loan borrowings to $26.0
million, creates a two year line of credit to fund capital expenditures and extends the maturity dates of all borrowings from April 28, 2021 to
November 7, 2023. The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement provides for borrowings of up to $30.0 million under the Revolver,
subject to availability, and left the outstanding principal balance on the CA Term Loan, approximately $12.0 million, the same as it was on
the previous Credit Agreement. The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement combined the previous US Term Loan and US Term Loan
II (the “New US Term Loan”), and increases the aggregate principal amount to $26.0 million dollars from $15.9 million, in total, for the
previous US Term Loan and Term Loan II. The increase in the principal amount effected by the New U.S. Term Loan replaced and
termed-out outstanding borrowings under the Revolver. The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement changes the quarterly principal
payments of the New US Term Loan to $337,500 through September 30, 2020, $575,000 thereafter through September 30, 2021, and
$812,500 thereafter though maturity. The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement also adds a two year $5.0 million dollar line of credit
dedicated to Capital Expenditures. Finally, the agreement made certain changes to the Company's covenants and financial covenant
ratios.
The Revolver, New US Term Loan, and CA Term Loan all mature on November 7, 2023 and bear interest at the Company's election of
either (i) the greater of the Prime Rate or the Federal Funds Effective Rate (the “Base Rate”) or ii) the LIBOR rate, plus an applicable
margin ranging from 1.75 percent to 2.75 percent per annum in the case of the Base Rate and 2.75 percent to 3.75 percent per annum in
the case of the LIBOR rate, in each case, based on a senior leverage ratio threshold, measured quarterly.
In addition, the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement allows for increases in the principal amount of the Revolver and the New US
and CA Term Loans not to exceed a $10.0 million principal amount, in the aggregate, provided that before and after giving effect to the
proposed increase (and any transactions to be consummated using proceeds of the increase), the total leverage and debt service
coverage ratios do not exceed specified amounts. The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement also provides for the issuance of letters
of credit with a face amount of up to a $2.0 million, in the aggregate, provided that any letter of credit that is issued will reduce availability
under the Revolver.
As of December 30, 2018, $18,286,662 was outstanding under the New Revolver. This amount is gross of debt issuance costs which are
further described in Note 1. The New Revolver had an effective interest rate of 6.2699 percent per annum at December 30, 2018, and is
secured by substantially all of the Company’s assets. At December 30, 2018, the maximum additional available borrowings under the New
Revolver were $11,613,338, which includes a reduction for a $100,000 letter of credit issued for the benefit of the landlord of one of the
Company’s leased facilities. The maximum amount available was further subject to borrowing base restrictions.
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Long term debt consists of the following:
December 30,
2018

New US Term Loan, payable to lenders in quarterly installments of $337,500 through
September 30, 2020, $575,000 through September 30, 2021, and $812,500 through
November 7, 2023, with a lump sum due at maturity. The effective interest rate was
6.2699% per annum at December 30, 2018. At December 30, 2018 the balance of the
New US Term Loan is presented net of a debt discount of $335,418 from costs paid to or
on behalf of the lenders.
$
US Term Loan, payable to lenders in quarterly installments of $318,750 through March
31, 2018, $425,000 through March 31, 2019, and $531,250 through March 31, 2021,
with a lump sum due at maturity. The effective interest rate was 0% per annum at
December 30, 2018. At December 30, 2018 the balance of the US Term Loan is
presented net of a debt discount of $0 from costs paid to or on behalf of the lenders.
US Term Loan II, payable to lenders in quarterly installments of $200,000 through March
31, 2021, with a lump sum due at maturity. The effective interest rate was 0% per annum
at December 30, 2018. At December 30, 2018, the balance of the US Term Loan II is
presented net of a debt discount of $0 from costs paid to or on behalf of the lenders.
CA Term Loan, payable to lenders in quarterly installments of $375,000 through
November 7, 2023, with a lump sum due at maturity. The effective interest rate was
6.2699% per annum at December 30, 2018. At December 30, 2018 the balance of the
CA Term Loan is presented net of a debt discount of $146,814 from costs paid to or on
behalf of the lenders.

25,664,582

Note payable to the seller of former owner of business Unique acquired in 2014 which is
unsecured and subordinated to the New Credit Agreement. Interest accrues monthly at an
annual rate of 6.00%. The note payable is due in full on February 6, 2019.
Other debt
Total debt excluding revolver
Less current maturities
$

Long-term debt – Less current maturities

December 31,
2017

$

—

—

14,060,065

—

3,566,398

11,853,186

12,962,381

500,000
—

500,000
—

38,017,768
3,350,000

31,088,844
3,799,998

34,667,768

$

27,288,846

The senior credit facility contains customary negative covenants and requires that the Company comply with various financial
covenants including a total leverage ratio and a debt service coverage ratio, as defined in the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement.
As of December 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the Company was in compliance with these covenants. Additionally, the New US Term
Loan and CA Term Loan contains a clause, effective December 30, 2018, that requires an excess cash flow payment to be made to the
lenders to reduce the New US Term Loan or the CA Term Loan if the Company’s cash flow exceeds certain thresholds as defined by the
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement.
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Maturities on the Company’s Revolver and other long term debt obligations for the remainder of the current fiscal year and future fiscal
years:
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter

$

Total
Discounts
Debt issuance costs

3,350,000
3,087,500
4,037,500
4,750,000
41,561,662
—
56,786,662
(482,232)
(381,793)

$

Total debt – Net

55,922,637

Note 7 — Derivative Financial Instruments
Interest Rate Swap
The Company holds derivative financial instruments, in the form of interest rate swaps, as required by its Credit Agreement and
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, for the purpose of hedging certain identifiable transactions in order to mitigate risks relating to
the variability of future earnings and cash flows caused by interest rate fluctuations. The Company has elected not to apply hedge
accounting for financial reporting purposes. The interest rate swaps are recognized in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at
their fair value. Monthly settlement payments due on the interest rate swaps and changes in their fair value are recognized currently in net
income as interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations.
Effective June 30, 2016, as required under the Credit Agreement entered into during April 2016, the Company entered into a new
interest rate swap which requires the Company to pay a fixed rate of 1.055 per annum while receiving a variable rate per annum based on
the one month LIBOR for a net monthly settlement based on the notional amount. The notional amount at the effective date was
$16,681,250 which decreased by $318,750 each quarter until June 30, 2017, decreased by $425,000 each quarter until June 29, 2018,
when it began decreasing by $531,250 per quarter until it expires on June 28, 2019.
Effective October 2, 2017, as required under the Second Amendment to the Credit Agreement, the Company entered into another
interest rate swap that requires the Company to pay a fixed rate of 1.093 per annum while receiving a variable interest rate per annum
based on the one month LIBOR for a net monthly settlement based on the notional amount in effect. The notional amount at the effective
date was $1,900,000 which decreases by $100,000 each quarter until it expires on September 30, 2020.
Effective November 30, 2018, as required under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, the Company entered into another
interest rate swap the requires the Company to pay a fixed rate of 3.075 per annum while receiving a variable interest rate per annum
based on the one month LIBOR for a net monthly settlement based on the notional amount in effect. The notional amount at the effective
date was $5,037,500 which increases by $378,125 each quarter until June 28, 2019 when the notional amount increases to $17,540,625
due to the interest rate swap from 2016 above expiring. The notional amount then decreases each quarter by $153,125 until September
30, 2020 when the notional amount increases to $17,475,000 due to the interest rate swap from 2017 above expiring. The notional
amount then decreases each quarter by $431,250 until December 31, 2021, then decreases each subsequent quarter by $609,375 until it
expires on November 8, 2023.
At December 30, 2018, the fair value of all of the swaps was $(292,191), of which $102,963 is included in current assets in the
consolidated balance sheet and $(395,154) is included in other long term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet. The Company
received $(113,025) in the aggregate, in net monthly settlements with respect to the interest rate swaps for the 52 weeks ended
December 30, 2018. At December 31, 2017, the fair value of both swaps, then in effect was $159,320, and was included in other longterm assets in the consolidated balance sheet. The Company paid $1,159, in the aggregate, in net monthly settlements with respect to the
interest rate swaps for the 52 weeks ended December 31, 2017.
Foreign Currency Forward Contract
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Effective June 29, 2016, the Company entered into a foreign currency forward contract to hedge the Mexican Peso. The forward
contract has an equivalent USD notional amount of $3,300,000 and expired on June 30, 2017. The Company is exposed to market risk,
including fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates which may result in cash flow risks, and as a result from time to time will enter
into forward contracts to mitigate risks relating to the variability of future earnings and cash flows caused by foreign currency rate
fluctuations. The Company elected not to apply hedge accounting for financial reporting purposes. The foreign currency forward contract
was recognized in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet at its fair value and changes in its fair value were recognized currently in
net income as gain/losses on foreign currency exchange (which is part of other income (expense), net) in the consolidated statement of
operations. At December 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the fair value of this foreign currency forward contract was $0.
Note 8 — Restructuring
Unique's restructuring activities are undertaken as necessary to implement management's strategy, streamline operations, take
advantage of available capacity and resources, and achieve net cost reductions. The restructuring activities generally relate to realignment
of existing manufacturing capacity and closure of facilities and other exit or disposal activities, either in the normal course of business or
pursuant to specific restructuring programs.
Fort Smith Restructuring
On February 13, 2018, the Company made the decision to close its manufacturing facility in Fort Smith, Arkansas. The Company ceased
operations at the Fort Smith facility in July of 2018, and approximately 20 positions were eliminated as a result of the closure. The
Company's decision resulted from its desire to streamline operations and to utilize some of the available excess capacity in other of our
facilities. The Company moved existing Fort Smith production to its manufacturing facilities in Evansville, Indiana and Monterrey, Mexico.
The Company provided the affected employees severance pay, health benefits continuation and job search assistance. The Company
evaluated whether or not this closing met the criteria for discontinued operations and concluded that the closing did not meet the definition
as it did not represent a strategic shift in the Company's operations and the Company will have continuing cash flows from the production
being moved to other facilities within the Company.
The Company incurred one-time severance costs as a result of this plant closure of $233,782 in the 52 weeks ended December 30, 2018.
The amount of other costs incurred associated with this plant closure, which primarily consisted of preparing and moving existing
production equipment and inventory at Fort Smith to other facilities was $559,461 in the 52 weeks ended December 30, 2018. All of these
costs were recorded to the restructuring expense line in continuing operations in the Company's consolidated statement of operations.
On October 18, 2018, the Company sold the building it owned in Fort Smith, which had a net book value of $733,059 for cash proceeds of
$876,032 resulting in a gain on the sale of $142,973. Through the date of the sale the building qualified as being held for sale, and
therefore was presented as such in the consolidated balance sheet.
Port Huron Restructuring
On February 1, 2018, the Company made the decision to close its manufacturing facility in Port Huron, Michigan. The Company ceased
operations at the Port Huron facility in June of 2018 and 7 positions were eliminated as a result of the closure. The Company's decision
resulted from its desire to streamline operations and to utilize some of the available excess capacity in other of its facilities. As such, the
Company moved existing Port Huron production to our manufacturing facilities in London, Ontario, Auburn Hills, Michigan, and Louisville,
Kentucky. The Company provided the affected employees severance pay, health benefits continuation and job search assistance. The
Company evaluated whether or not this closing met the criteria for discontinued operations and concluded that the closing did not meet
the definition as it did not represent a strategic shift in the Company's operations and the Company will have continuing cash flows from
the production being moved to other facilities within the Company.
The Company incurred one-time severance costs as a result of this plant closure of $64,768 in the 52 weeks ended December 30, 2018.
The amount of other costs incurred associated with this plant closure, which primarily consisted of preparing and moving existing
production equipment and inventory at Port Huron to other facilities was $297,899 in the 52 weeks ended December 30, 2018. All of these
costs were recorded to the restructuring expense line in continuing operations in the Company's consolidated statement of operations.
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The tables below summarize the activity in the restructuring liability for the 52 weeks ended December 30, 2018.
Employee Termination
Benefits Liability
Accrual balance at January 1, 2018
Provision for estimated expenses incurred during the
year
Payments made during the year

$

—

Other Exit Costs
Liability
$

298,551
(298,551)

Accrual balance at December 30, 2018

Total

—

$

—

857,359
(857,359)

—

1,155,910
(1,155,910)

—

—

There are no future costs expected with the Ft. Smith and Port Huron closures above as the closures were completed in 2018.
Murfreesboro Restructuring
On October 27, 2015, the Company announced the planned closure of its manufacturing facility located in Murfreesboro, Tennessee
that resulted in a workforce reduction of approximately 30 employees. The planned closure of the Murfreesboro facility was effective in the
fourth quarter of 2015 and completed in January 2016. The action was necessary due to the tight labor market in Murfreesboro and the
struggle to staff production levels to meet the ongoing growth strategy for Murfreesboro's respective products manufactured at the plant. In
order to ensure the Company's ability to service its customers at the increasing volumes projected for the future, the Company decided to
move existing Murfreesboro production including equipment to the Company's other manufacturing facilities in Evansville, Indiana and
LaFayette, Georgia. The Company evaluated whether or not this closing met the criteria for discontinued operations and concluded that
the closing did not meet the definition as the closing did not represent a strategic shift in the Company's operations and the Company had
continuing cash flows from the production being moved to other facilities within the Company.
There were no costs incurred with respect to the Murfreesboro restructuring in 2017 as the restructuring and costs associated with the
closure were all completed in 2016 as noted below.
The Company reversed severance related costs which had been previously been recorded as a result of this plant closure in the amount of
$(51,951) in the 52 weeks ended January 1, 2017. The amount of other costs incurred associated with this plant closure, which primarily
consisted of moving existing production equipment at Murfreesboro to other facilities was $87,005 in the 52 weeks ended January 1, 2017.
The expenses were recorded to the restructuring expense line in continuing operations in the Company's consolidated statements of
operations.
The Company sold the building it owned in Murfreesboro, which had a net book value of $2,033,327 on October 31, 2016, for cash
proceeds of $2,175,185 resulting in a gain on the sale of $147,413. Through the date of the sale the building qualified as being held for
sale, and therefore was presented as such in the consolidated balance sheet.
The tables below summarize the activity in the restructuring liability for the 52 weeks ended January 1, 2017.
Employee
Termination
Benefits Liability

Other Exit Costs
Liability

Accrual balance at January 3, 2016
Provision for estimated expenses incurred during the year
Payments made during the year

$

$

Accrual balance at January 1, 2017

$

190,864
(51,951)
(138,913)
—

$

Total

63,327 $
87,005
(150,332)
—

$

Subsequent to our 52 weeks ended December 30, 2018, the Company announced that in order to reduce fixed costs it would be
eliminating an immaterial amount of salaried positions throughout the Company. Any severance amount paid will be immaterial.
Note 9 — Stock Incentive Plans
2013 Stock Incentive Plan
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The Company’s board of directors approved a stock incentive plan (the “Plan”) in 2013. The Plan permits the Company to grant
495,000 non statutory or incentive stock options to the employees, directors and consultants of the Company. 495,000 shares of unissued
common stock are reserved for the Plan. The board of directors has the authority to determine the participants to whom stock options shall
be awarded as well as any restrictions to be placed upon the awards. The exercise price cannot be less than the fair value of the
underlying shares at the time the stock options are issued and the maximum length of an award is ten years.
On July 17, 2013 and January 1, 2014, the board of directors approved the issuance of 375,000 and 120,000 non statutory stock
option awards, respectively, to employees of the Company with an exercise price of $3.33 per share with a weighted average grant date
fair value of $0.23 and $0.35 per share, respectively. On April 29, 2016, the Company issued 7,200 non statutory stock option awards to
employees of the Company with an exercise price of $12.58 and with a weighted average grant date fair value of $2.80 per share. On
September 15, 2017, the Company issued 5,000 non statutory stock option awards to employees of the Company with an exercise price of
$7.65 per share and with a weighted average grant date fair value of $1.41 per share. All 4 grants of the awards vest 20 percent on the
grant date and an additional 20 percent on each of the first, second, third and fourth anniversaries thereafter. Vested awards can only be
exercised while the participants are employed by the Company.
The fair value of each option award is estimated on the grant date using a Black Scholes option pricing model that uses the weighted
average assumptions noted in the following table. The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the stock of comparable
companies. The expected term of the awards was estimated based on findings from academic studies investigating the average holding
period for options adjusted for the Company’s size and risk factors. The risk free rate for periods within the contractual life of the option is
based on the United States Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant.
September 15, 2017
Expected volatility
Dividend yield
Expected term (in years)
Risk-free rate

April 29, 2016

40.00%
7.00%
5
1.81%

40.00%
5.00%
5
1.28%

January 1, 2014
34.00%
—%
4
1.27%

July 17, 2013
34.00%
—%
4
0.96%

2014 Omnibus Performance Award Plan
In 2014 the board of directors and stockholders adopted the Unique Fabricating, Inc. 2014 Omnibus Performance Award Plan, or the
2014 Plan. The 2014 Plan provides for the grant of cash awards, stock options, stock appreciation rights, or SARs, shares of restricted
stock and restricted stock units, or RSUs, performance shares and performance units. The 2014 Plan originally authorized the grant of
awards relating to 250,000 shares of our common stock. In the event of any transaction that causes a change in capitalization, the
Compensation Committee, such other committee administering the 2014 Plan or the board of directors will make such adjustments to the
number of shares of common stock delivered, and the number and/or price of shares of common stock subject to outstanding awards
granted under the 2014 Plan, as it deems appropriate and equitable to prevent dilution or enlargement of participants’ rights. An
amendment approved in March of 2016 by our board of directors which was approved by our stockholders at our annual meeting of
stockholders in June 2016, increased the number of shares authorized for grant of awards under the 2014 plan to a total of 450,000
shares of our common stock.
On August 17, 2015, the board of directors approved the issuance stock option awards for 230,000 shares of which 45,000 shares
subject to non statutory options were granted to the board of directors, and 185,000 incentive stock options were granted to employees of
the Company. All of the awards had an exercise price of $12.50 per share with a weighted average grant date fair value of $2.72 per
share. These awards vest 20 percent on the grant date and an additional 20 percent on each of the first, second, third and fourth
anniversaries of the grant date thereafter. Vested awards can only be exercised while the participants are employed by the Company.
On November 20, 2015, the board of directors approved the issuance of stock option awards for 15,000 shares to employees of the
Company. All of the awards had an exercise price of $11.50 per share with a weighted average grant date fair value of $2.23 per share.
The vesting schedule, vesting percentage, and ability of the employees to exercise these options are the same as these for the August 17,
2015 grants described above.
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On April 29, 2016, the board of directors approved the issuance of stock option awards for 5,000 shares to employees of the
Company. All of the awards had an exercise price of $12.58 per share with a weighted average grant date fair value of $2.80 per share.
The vesting schedule, vesting percentage, and ability of the employees to exercise these options are the same as these for the November
20 and August 17, 2015 grants described above.
On September 15, 2017, the board of directors approved the issuance of stock option awards for 15,000 shares to employees of the
Company. All of the awards had an exercise price of $7.65 per share with a weighted average grant date fair value of $1.41 per share. The
vesting schedule, vesting percentage, and ability of the employees to exercise these options are the same as these for the November 20,
August 17, 2015, and April 29, 2016 grants described above.
The fair value of each option award is estimated on the grant date using a Black Scholes option pricing model that uses the weighted
average assumptions noted in the following table. The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the stock of comparable
companies. The expected term of the awards was estimated based on findings from academic studies investigating the average holding
period for options adjusted for the Company’s size and risk factors. The risk free rate for periods within the contractual life of the option is
based on the United States Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant.
September 15, 2017
Expected volatility
Dividend yield
Expected term (in years)
Risk-free rate

April 29, 2016

40.00%
7.00%
5
1.81%

November 20, 2015

40.00%
5.00%
5
1.28%

August 17, 2015

35.00%
5.00%
5
1.7%

38.00%
4.80%
5
1.58%

A summary of option activity under both plans is presented below:

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

Number of
Shares

Weighted Average
Remaining
Contractual Term
(in years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value(1)

Outstanding at December 31, 2017
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited or expired

602,480
—
33,800
5,000

$
$
$
$

7.06
—
3.33
11.50

6.58
0.00
0
0

Outstanding at December 30, 2018

563,680

$

7.25

5.61 $

—

Vested and exercisable at December 30, 2018

502,800

$

6.83

5.45 $

—

(1)The aggregate intrinsic value above is obtained by subtracting the weighted average exercise price from the estimated fair value of the
underlying shares as of December 30, 2018 and multiplying this result by the related number of options outstanding and exercisable at
December 30, 2018. The estimated fair value of the shares is based on the closing stock price of $4.41 as of December 30, 2018. As of
December 30, 2018 there is no intrinsic value as the exercise prices is greater that the estimated fair value.
The Company recorded gross compensation expense of $131,302 for the 52 weeks ended December 30, 2018, $150,368 for the 52
weeks ended December 31, 2017, and $166,476 for the 52 weeks ended January 1, 2017 in its consolidated statements of operations, as
a component of sales, general and administrative expenses. The income tax benefit related to share based compensation expense was
$24,816 for the 52 weeks ended December 30, 2018, $22,360 for the 52 weeks ended December 31, 2017, and $54,549 for the 52 weeks
ended January 1, 2017.
As of December 30, 2018, there was $100,320 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested stock option awards
under the plans. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.18 years.
Note 10 — Income Taxes
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Income before income taxes for U.S. and Non-U.S. operations are as follows:
Fifty-Two Weeks
Ended December 30,
2018

Fifty-Two Weeks
Ended December 31,
2017

U.S. income
Non-U.S. income

$

1,017,194
3,543,376

$

3,877,650
3,741,921

Income before income taxes

$

4,560,570

$

7,619,571

Fifty-Two Weeks
Ended January 1,
2017

8,820,049
1,121,690
$

9,941,739

The components of the income tax provision included in the consolidated statements of operations are all attributable to continuing
operations and are detailed as follows:
Fifty-Two Weeks
Ended December 30,
2018

Current tax expense:
Federal
State
Foreign

$

Total
Deferred tax expense:
Federal
State
Foreign

Fifty-Two Weeks
Ended December 31,
2017

(27,056) $
61,081
1,119,222

1,206,992
292,702
1,185,688

1,153,247

2,685,382

(123,789)
(13,863)
(153,626)

Total
$

861,969

$

(766,716)
(68,069)
(330,864)

(1,552,502)
$

1,132,880

3,340,070
355,748
727,450
4,423,268

(1,165,546)
(235,622)
(151,334)

(291,278)

Total income tax expense

Fifty-Two Weeks
Ended January 1,
2017

(1,165,649)
$

3,257,619

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities at December 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017 reflect the effect of temporary differences
between amounts of assets, liabilities and equity for financial reporting purposes and the bases of such assets, liabilities and equity as
measured based on tax laws, as well as tax loss and tax credit carryforwards. The following table summarizes the components of
temporary differences and carryforwards that give rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities:
December 30,
2018

Deferred tax assets (liabilities):
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Inventories
Accrued payroll and benefits
Excess interest expense
Foreign tax credit
Other

$

Deferred tax asset before valuation allowance
Valuation allowance

174,442
140,034
533,294
279,017
620,923
156,471

December 31,
2017

$

1,904,181
(620,923)

Deferred tax asset

1,283,258

Property, plant, and equipment
Goodwill and intangible assets
Deferred tax liability
$

Total deferred tax liability
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194,684
118,813
491,214
—
—
44,820
849,531
—
849,531

(3,082,182)
—

(2,534,440)
(405,293)

(3,082,182) $

(2,939,733)

(1,798,924) $

(2,090,202)
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Management evaluates all positive and negative evidence and uses judgment regarding past and future events, including operating
results, to help determine when it is more likely than not that all or some portion of the deferred tax assets may not be realized. When
appropriate, a valuation allowance is recorded against deferred tax assets to reserve for future tax benefits that may not be realized. For
the year ended December 30, 2018, the Company has established a valuation allowance of $620,923 related to foreign tax credits
(generated by the deemed repatriation under U.S. tax reform) expiring in 2028 as the Company has concluded that it is not more likely
than not that the credits will be used prior to their expiration.
The transition tax provision of the Tax Act eliminated the basis difference that existed previously for purposes of ASC Topic 740. However,
there are limited other taxes that could continue to apply such as foreign withholding and certain state taxes. U.S. income taxes have not
been recognized for such taxes as the Company continues to remain indefinitely reinvested with respect to its foreign earnings.

A reconciliation of taxes on income from continuing operations based on the statutory federal income tax rate to the provision for
income taxes is as follows:
Fifty-Two Weeks
Ended December 30,
2018

Income tax expense, computed at 21% of pretax income for 2018
and 34% pretax income for 2017 and 2016
State income taxes, net of federal benefit
Foreign tax rate differential
U.S. Tax on non-U.S. income
Impact of U.S. tax refor
Research and Development credits

$

Other
Total provision for income taxes

Fifty-Two Weeks
Ended December 31,
2017

957,720 $
22,683
252,025
320,000
(80,453)
(503,785)
(106,221)

$

861,969

Fifty-Two Weeks
Ended January 1,
2017

2,590,654 $
66,607
(206,432)
—
(559,286)
(681,957)
(76,706)

$

1,132,880

3,380,191
193,070
(51,388)
—
—
—
(264,254)

$

3,257,619

On December 22, 2017 the Tax Cuts and JOBS Act (the “Act”) was signed into law. The Act changed many aspects of U.S. corporate
income taxation and including the reduction of the corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21%, implementation of a territorial system and
imposition of a one-time tax on deemed repatriated earnings of foreign subsidiaries, introduction of tax on U.S. shareholders of certain
foreign subsidiaries earnings, Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income (“GILTI”), and limitations on deductibility of interest expense.
The impact in 2017 primarily consists of a $(1,357,472) benefit related to the impact on the U.S. deferred tax liability due to the lowering
of the corporate tax rate described above and $798,186 of expense for the estimate for the impact of one-time transition tax on deemed
repatriated earnings of foreign subsidiaries.We completed our accounting for the income tax effects of the Act in 2018 and recorded a
benefit of $(80,453) as an adjustment to the provisional estimate of the one-time transition tax expense. The Company also recorded
$320,000 expense related to GILTI in 2018 and recorded a deferred tax asset of $279,017 for interest expense in excess of limitation on
deductibility.
The Company recognizes the benefit of a tax position when it is more likely than not, based on the technical merits, that the position will be
sustained upon examination. For tax positions meeting the more likely than not threshold, the amount recognized in the financial
statements is the largest benefit that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon settlement with the relevant tax
authority. The Company assesses all tax positions for which the statute of limitations remain open. The Company had no unrecognized tax
benefits as of December 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017. The Company recognizes any penalties and interest when necessary as
income tax expense. There were no penalties or interest recorded during the 52 weeks ended December 30, 2018, December 31, 2017,
and January 1, 2017, respectively.
The Company files income tax returns in the United States, Mexico, and Canada as well as in various state and local jurisdictions. With
few exceptions, the Company is no longer subject to income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2015 in the United States,
before 2013 in Mexico, and before 2016 in Canada.
Note 11 — Operating Leases
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The Company leases office space, production facilities and equipment under operating leases with various expiration dates through
the year 2023. The leases for office space and production facilities require the Company to pay taxes, insurance, utilities and maintenance
costs. Five of the leases provide for escalating rents over the life of the lease and rent expense is therefore recognized over the term of
the lease on a straight line basis, with the difference between lease payments and rent expense recorded as deferred rent in accrued
expenses in the consolidated balance sheets. Total rent expense charged to operations was approximately $2,346,259 for the 52 weeks
ended December 30, 2018, $2,198,051 for the 52 weeks ended December 31, 2017, and $2,019,073 for the 52 weeks ended January 1,
2017.
Future minimum lease payments required under operating leases that have initial or remaining non-cancelable lease terms in excess
of one year are as follows at December 30, 2018:
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter

$

1,957,954
1,404,215
560,374
429,475
35,446
—

Total

$

4,387,464

Note 12 — Retirement Plans
The Company maintains a defined contribution plan covering certain full time salaried employees. Employees can make elective
contributions to the plan. The Company contributes 100 percent of an employee’s contribution up to the first 3 percent of each employee’s
total compensation and 50 percent for the next 2 percent of each employee’s total compensation. In addition, the Company, at the
discretion of the board of directors, may make additional contributions to the plan on behalf of the plan participants. The Company
contributed $488,335 for the 52 weeks ended December 30, 2018, $451,572 for the 52 weeks ended December 31, 2017, and $409,247
for the 52 weeks ended January 1, 2017
The Intasco operations acquired in April 2016 have separate retirement plans. The United States facility sponsors a SIMPLE IRA account
for qualifying employees. The plan makes a contribution equal to 3 percent of a participant's gross wages to the participating employees'
SIMPLE IRA accounts. Contributions by Intasco in the United States totaled $3,392 for the 52 weeks ended December 30, 2018, $3,247
for the 52 weeks ended December 31, 2017, and $3,010 for the 52 weeks ended January 1, 2017.
The Canadian facility sponsors a retirement plan whereby Intasco makes a matching contribution of participant contributions up to a
maximum amount based on the participants' number of years of service. Contributions by Intasco in Canada totaled $44,332 for the 52
weeks ended December 30, 2018, $40,643 for the 52 weeks ended December 31, 2017, and $28,195 for the 52 weeks ended January 1,
2017.
Note 13 — Related Party Transactions
Effective March 18, 2013, the Company is under a management agreement with a firm related to several stockholders. The
agreement initially provided for annual management fees of $300,000 and additional fees for assistance provided with acquisitions.
Effective upon completion of the Company's initial public offering, the agreement was amended to reduce the annual management fee by
an amount equal to the amount, if any, of annual cash retainers and equity awards received as compensation for service on the board of
directors by any person who is a related person of Taglich Private Equity, LLC or Taglich Brothers, Inc. The Company incurred
management fees of $225,000 for the 52 weeks ended December 30, 2018, $225,000 for the 52 weeks ended December 31, 2017, and
$225,000 for the 52 weeks ended January 1, 2017. During the 52 weeks ended January 1, 2017, the Company incurred additional
management fees related to the acquisition of Intasco on April 29, 2016 of $259,000. The Company allocates these fees to the services
provided based on their relative fair values. The fees paid were all allocated to and expensed as transaction costs. The management
agreement had an initial term of five years, expiring on March 18, 2018, and renews automatically annually for additional one year terms.
The current term expires on March 18, 2019. The agreement also will terminate on the date that the Taglich Founding Investors or Taglich
Equity Investors, each as defined, no longer also collectively own 50% of the equity securities owned by either of them on March 18, 2013.
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Note 14 — Fair Value Measurements
Financial instruments consist of cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and debt. The carrying amount of all
significant financial instruments approximates fair value due to either the short maturity or the existence of variable interest rates that
approximate prevailing market rates.
Accounting standards require certain other items be reported at fair value in the financial statements and provides a framework for
establishing that fair value. The framework for determining fair value is based on a hierarchy that prioritizes the valuation techniques and
inputs used to measure fair value.
Fair values determined by Level 1 inputs use quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has
the ability to access.
Fair values determined by Level 2 inputs use other inputs that are observable, either directly or indirectly. Level 2 inputs may include
quoted prices for similar items in active markets, and other inputs such as interest rates and yield curves that are observable at commonly
quoted intervals.
Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs, including inputs that are available in situations where there is little, if any, market activity for
the related item. Level 3 fair value measurements are based primarily on management’s own estimates using inputs such as pricing
models, discounted cash flow methodologies or similar techniques taking into account the characteristics of the item.
In instances whereby inputs used to measure fair value fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy, fair value measurements in
their entirety are categorized based on the lowest level input that is significant to the valuation. The Company’s assessment of the
significance of particular inputs to these fair value measurements requires judgment and considers factors specific to each item.
The Company measures its interest rate swap at fair value on a recurring basis based primarily on Level 2 inputs using an income
model based on disparity between variance and fixed interest rates, the scheduled balance of principal outstanding, yield curves and other
information readily available in the market.
The Company measures its foreign currency forward contract on a recurring basis based primarily on Level 2 inputs using the present
value of future cash flows to be incurred on the contracts. In accordance with market standards and conventions for valuing such
contracts, the transactions reflect the current direction and amounts expected in each currency, spot exchange rates at period-end,
discount factors and forward interest rate curves for each relevant currency pair and future maturity date. This forward contract expired in
fiscal year 2017.
Note 15 — Contingencies
The Company is engaged from time to time in legal matters and proceedings arising out of its normal course of business. The
Company establishes a liability related to its legal proceedings and claims when it has determined that it is probable that the Company has
incurred a liability and the related amount can be reasonably estimated. If the Company determines that an obligation is reasonably
possible, the Company will, if material, disclose the nature of the loss contingency and the estimated range of possible loss, or include a
statement that no estimate of loss can be made. While uncertainties are inherent in the final outcome of such matters, the Company
believes that there are no pending proceedings in which the Company is currently involved that will have a material effect on its financial
position, results of operations or cash flow.
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Note 16 — Earnings Per Share
Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing the net income by the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the
period. Diluted earnings per share is computed giving effect to all potentially weighted average dilutive shares including stock options and
warrants. The dilutive effect of outstanding awards, if any, is reflected in diluted earnings per share by application of the treasury stock
method.
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share.

Basic earnings per share calculation:
Net income
Net income attributable to common stockholders
Weighted average shares outstanding
Net income per share-basic
Diluted earnings per share calculation:
Net income
Weighted average shares outstanding
Effect of dilutive securities:
Stock options(1)(2)(3)
Warrants(1)(2)(3)

Fifty-Two Weeks
Ended December 30,
2018

Fifty-Two Weeks
Ended December 31,
2017

$

3,698,601

$

6,486,691

$

6,684,120

$

3,698,601
9,770,011

$

6,486,691
9,750,948

$

6,684,120
9,678,316

$

0.38

$

0.67

$

0.69

$

3,698,601
9,770,011

$

6,486,691
9,750,948

$

6,684,120
9,678,316

138,017
670

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding
Net income per share-diluted

147,316
1,154

9,908,698
$

0.37

Fifty-Two Weeks
Ended January 1,
2017

204,948
13,019

9,899,418
$

0.66

9,896,283
$

0.68

(1) Options to purchase 311,480 shares of common stock remaining to be exercised under the 2013 plan and warrants to purchase 1,185
shares of common stock remaining to be exercised, were considered in the computation of diluted earnings per share using the treasury
stock method in the 2018 calculation. Options to purchase 220,000 shares of common stock that were granted in August 2015 and
November 2015 remaining to be exercised, as discussed in Note 9, under the 2014 plan, options to purchase 7,200 shares of common
stock and 5,000 shares of common stock that were granted under the 2013 and 2014 plan, respectively, in April 2016, options to purchase
5,000 and 15,000 shares of common stock that were granted under the 2013 and 2014 plan, respectively, in September 2017, and
warrants to purchase 141,000 shares of common stock issued to the underwriters of the Company's IPO in July 2015, were not included in
the computation of diluted earnings per share in the 2018 period because the effect would have been anti-dilutive.
(2) Options to purchase 345,280 shares of common stock remaining to be exercised under the 2013 plan, and warrants to
purchase 1,185 shares of common stock remaining to be exercised, were considered in the computation of diluted earnings per share
using the treasury stock method in the 2017 calculation. Options to purchase 225,000 shares of common stock that were granted in
August 2015 and November 2015 remaining to be exercised, as discussed in Note 9, under the 2014 plan, options to purchase 7,200
shares of common stock and 5,000 shares of common stock that were granted under the 2013 and 2014 plan, respectively, in April
2016, 5,000 and 15,000 shares of common stock that were granted under the 2013 and 2014 plan, respectively, in September 2017, and
warrants to purchase 141,000 shares of common stock issued to the underwriters of the Company's IPO in July 2015, were not included in
the computation of diluted earnings per share in the 2017 period because the effect would have been anti-dilutive.
(3) Options to purchase 392,680 shares of common stock remaining to be exercised under the 2013 plan, warrants to purchase 2,286
shares of common stock remaining to be exercised, warrants to purchase 141,000 shares issued to the underwriters in July 2015 as
noted in Note 1, and options to purchase 15,000 shares of common stock that were granted in August 2015, as discussed in Note 9 under
the 2014 plan, were considered in the computation of diluted earnings per share using the treasury stock method in the 2016 calculation.
Options to purchase 210,000 shares of common stock that were granted
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on January 1, 2014 remaining to be exercised under the 2013 plan and 12,200 shares of common stock that were granted under the 2013
and 2014 plan in April 2016 as noted in Note 9, were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share in the 2016 period
because the effect would have been anti-dilutive.
Note 17 — Selected Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)
The following tables set forth a condensed summary of the Company's unaudited selected quarterly results for each of the quarters in
fiscal 2018 and 2017.

Thirteen Weeks
Ended April 1, 2018

Thirteen Weeks
Ended July 1, 2018

Thirteen Weeks
Ended September
30, 2018

Thirteen Weeks
Ended December
30, 2018

2018
Net sales
Gross profit
Operating income

$
$

47,304,153
11,080,147
2,670,898

$
$

45,742,370
11,189,022
3,272,399

$
$

42,051,968
8,523,511
1,121,781

$
$

Net income

$

1,511,889

$

1,751,009

$

626,823

$

(191,120)

Basic

$

0.15

$

0.18

$

0.06

$

(0.02)

Diluted

$

0.15

$

0.18

$

0.06

$

(0.02)

39,811,250
8,542,057
1,332,793

Net income per share

Thirteen Weeks
Ended April 2, 2017

2017
Net sales
Gross profit
Operating income
Net income
Net income per share
Basic
Diluted

Thirteen Weeks
Ended October 1,
2017

Thirteen Weeks
Ended July 2, 2017

Thirteen Weeks
Ended December
31, 2017

$
$
$
$

47,857,096
11,107,161
3,515,457
2,046,837

$
$
$
$

44,518,039
10,666,091
3,070,774
1,668,410

$
$
$
$

41,231,366
8,974,926
1,706,114
715,106

$
$
$
$

41,681,481
9,305,356
1,994,325
2,056,338

$
$

0.21
0.21

$
$

0.17
0.17

$
$

0.07
0.07

$
$

0.21
0.21

Note 18 — Subsequent Events
Declaration of Cash Dividend
On February 12, 2019, our board of directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.05 per common share. The dividend will be
payable on March 7, 2019 to shareholders of record at the close of business on February 28, 2019 for an amount of approximately $0.5
million.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management establishes and maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e)) to ensure that the information we disclose under the Exchange Act is properly and timely reported. We provide this information
to our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer as appropriate to allow for timely decisions.
Our controls and procedures are based on assumptions. Additionally, even effective controls and procedures only provide reasonable
assurance of achieving their objectives. Accordingly, we cannot guarantee that our controls and procedures will succeed or be adhered to
in all circumstances.
We have evaluated our disclosure controls and procedures, with the participation, and under the supervision, of our management,
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer
have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this report.
Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f), for the Company. Under the supervision of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as
of December 30, 2018 based on the framework set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO) in “Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013).” Based on that evaluation, management has concluded that the Company's
internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 30, 2018.
This Annual Report on From 10-K does not include an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm due to a transition period
established by the rules of the SEC for newly public companies status as an “emerging growth company” under the JOBS Act.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There were no material changes in the Company's internal controls over financial reporting during the fifty-two weeks ended
December 30, 2018 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal controls over
financial reporting. .
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None
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PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The information called for by Item 10, as to compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, is incorporated by reference to the
Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A in connection with the Company’s 2017 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders (the “Proxy Statement”) to be filed within 120 days after the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form
10-K and is incorporated herein by reference.
The Company has adopted a code of ethics, which applies to its principal executive officer, principal financial officer, and all other
employees and non-employee directors of the Company. The Code of Ethical Business Conduct is posted on the Company’s website
(www.uniquefab.com). The Company intends to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding an amendment
to, or waiver from, a provision of the code of ethics that applies to the Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer,
by posting such information on the Company’s website, at the address specified above.
The Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines and charters for each Committee of its Board of Directors are also available on the
Company’s website.
Information on the Company’s website is not deemed to be incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information called for by Item 11 will be included in the Proxy Statement, and such information is incorporated herein by
reference.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS
The information called for by Item 12 will be included in the Proxy Statement, and such information is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
The information called for by Item 13 will be included in the Proxy Statement, and such information is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
The information called for by Item 14 will be included in the Proxy Statement, and such information is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Form 10-K
(1) Financial Statements
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Fifty-Two Weeks Ended December 30, 2018, December 31, 2017 and January 1, 2017
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity for the Fifty-Two Weeks Ended December 30, 2018, December 31, 2017 and
January 1, 2017
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Fifty-Two Weeks Ended December 30, 2018, December 31, 2017 and January 1,
2017
(2) Financial Statement Schedules: Financial statement schedules have been omitted as information required is inapplicable or the
information is presented in the consolidated financial statements and the related notes
(3) Exhibits
Exhibit
No.

3.1

3.2
10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

Description

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1, File No. 333-200072, originally filed on November 10, 2014, as amended, and incorporated herein by
reference).
Amended and Restated Bylaws (filed as Exhibit 3.4 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No.
333-200072, originally filed on November 10, 2014, as amended, and incorporated herein by reference).
Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of February 19, 2013, by and among UFI Acquisition, Inc., UFI Merger
Sub, Inc., Unique Fabricating Incorporated and American Capital, Ltd., as Representative of the Holders (filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-200072, originally filed on
November 10, 2014, as amended, and incorporated herein by reference).
Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of March 15, 2013, between UFI Acquisition, Inc. and
American Capital, Ltd., as Representative of the Holders (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-200072, originally filed on November 10, 2014, as amended, and incorporated
herein by reference).
Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 18, 2013, by and among Unique Fabricating Incorporated,
Unique-Prescotech, Inc., Prescotech Holdings, Inc., Prescotech Industries, Inc., Prescotech Real Estate Holdings,
LLC and the Stockholders of Prescotech Holdings, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-200072, originally filed on November 10, 2014, as amended, and incorporated
herein by references).
Asset Purchase Agreement, dated February 6, 2014, by and among Unique-Chardan, Inc., Unique Fabricating
Incorporated, Chardan, Corp. and the Sole Stockholder of Chardan, Corp. (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-200072 originally filed on November 10, 2014, as amended, and
incorporated herein by reference.
First Amendment to Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 6, 2014, by and among Unique-Chardan, Inc.,
Unique Fabricating Incorporated, Chardan, Corp. and the Sole Stockholder of Chardan, Corp. (filed as Exhibit 10.5
to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-200072 originally filed on November 10, 2014,
as amended, and incorporated herein by reference).
Asset Purchase Agreement by and among Unique Molded Foam Technologies, Inc., Great Lake Foam Technologies
and the Stockholders of Great Lake Foam Technologies, Inc., dated as of August 31, 2015 (filed as Exhibit 10.1) to
the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended on October 4, 2015, filed on October
11, 2015, and incorporated herein by reference).
Asset and Stock Purchase Agreement by and among Unique Fabricating NA, Inc., Unique-Intasco Canada, Inc. and
Intasco Corporation, G.C.C. Holdings Ltd., G. Craig Combe and The Combe Family Trust, dated as of April 28, 2016
(filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended on July 3,
2016, filed on August 8, 2016, and incorporated herein by reference).
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Credit Agreement, dated as of April 29, 2016, among Unique Fabricating NA, Inc. and Unique-Intasco Canada, Inc.
with Citizens Bank, National Association, as Sole Lead Arranger, Bookrunner and Administrative Agent and the
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on Form 8-K, filed on October 31, 2016, and incorporated herein by reference).
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Incorporated (filed as Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-200072,
originally filed on November 10, 2014, as amended, and incorporated herein by reference).
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as Exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-200072, originally filed on
November 10, 2014, as amended, and incorporated herein by reference).
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8, 2016, and incorporated herein by reference).
Lease Agreement, dated April 29, 2016, between Combe Investments Ltd and Unique-Intasco-Canada, Inc. (filed as
Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended July 3, 2016, filed on
August 8, 2016, and incorporated herein by reference).
UFI Acquisition, Inc. 2013 Stock Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.21 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1, File No. 333-200072, originally filed on November 10, 2014, as amended, and incorporated herein by
reference).
Unique Fabricating, Inc. 2014 Omnibus Performance Award Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.22 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-200072, originally filed on November 10, 2014, as amended, and
incorporated herein by reference).
Amendment No. 1 to 2014 Omnibus Performance Award Plan (filed as Exhibit 4.5 to the Company Registration on
Form S-8, File No. 333-212193, filed on June 23, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference).
Employment Agreement, dated as of March 18, 2013, between Unique Fabricating Incorporated and Thomas
Tekiele (filed as Exhibit 10.23 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-200072,
originally filed on November 10, 2014, as amended, and incorporated by reference).
Employment Agreement, dated as of March 18, 2013, between Unique Fabricating Incorporated and John
Weinhardt (filed as Exhibit 10.24 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-200072,
originally filed on November 10, 2014, as amended, and incorporated herein by reference).
ISO Award Agreement, 2014 Omnibus Performance Award Plan, dated August 17, 2015, with John Weinhardt (filed
as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended October 4, 2015,
filed on November 17, 2015, and incorporated herein by reference).
ISO Award Agreement, 2014 Omnibus Performance Award Plan, dated August 17, 2015, with Thomas Tekiele (filed
as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended October 4, 2015,
filed on November 17, 2015 and incorporated herein by reference).
Management Services Agreement, dated March 18, 2013, between Taglich Private Equity, LLC and UFI Acquisition,
Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.25 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-200072, originally
filed on November 10, 2014, as amended, and incorporated herein by reference).
Amendment 1 to Management Services Agreement between Taglich Private Equity, LLC and UFI Acquisition, Inc.
(filed as Exhibit 10.26 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-200072, originally filed
on November 10, 2014, as amended, and incorporated herein by reference).
Form of Indemnification Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.27 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1,
File No. 333-200072, originally filed on November 10, 2014, as amended, and incorporated herein by reference).
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originally filed on November 14, 2014, as amended, and incorporated herein by reference).
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S-1, File No. 333-200072, originally filed on November 14, 2014, as amended, and incorporated herein by
reference).
Second Amendment to Credit Agreement and Loan Documents, dated as of August 18, 2017, by and between the
financial institutions signatory thereto (the “Lenders”), Citizens Bank, National Association (formerly known as RBS
Citizens, N.A.) as Administrative Agent for the Lenders, and Unique Fabricating NA, Inc. and Unique-Intasco
Canada, Inc (filed as Exhibit 10.1 Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on August 22, 2017 and
incorporated herein by reference)
Third Amendment to Credit Agreement and Loan Documents, dated as of March 26, 2018, by and between the
financial institutions signatory thereto (the “Lenders”), Citizens Bank, National Association (formerly known as RBS
Citizens, N.A.) as Administrative Agent for the Lenders, and Unique Fabricating NA, Inc. and Unique-Intasco
Canada, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 27, 2018 and
incorporated herein by reference)
Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement and Loan Documents, dated as of August 6, 2018, by and between the
financial institutions signatory thereto (the “Lenders”), Citizens Bank, National Association (formerly known as RBS
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Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement and Loan Documents, dated as of September 20, 2018, by and between the
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Canada, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on September 21, 2018 and
incorporated herein by reference)
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement and Loan Documents, dated as of November 8, 2018, by and between
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Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2018, filed on November 9, 2018 and
incorporated herein by reference)
List of subsidiaries of the Company
Consent of Deloitte & Touche, LLP
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.
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* Filed herewith.
** Pursuant to Item 601(b)(32)(ii) of Regulation S-K(17 C.F.R 229.601(b)(32)(ii)), this certification is deemed furnished, not filed, for
purposes of section 18 of the Exchange Act, nor is it otherwise subject to liability under that section. It will not be deemed to be
incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except if the registrant specifically incorporates it by
reference.
+ Filed electronically with the report.
# Indicates management contract or compensatory plan, contract or agreement.
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
UNIQUE FABRICATING, INC.
Date: March 7, 2019

By:

/s/ John Weinhardt
Name: John Weinhardt
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacities and on the date indicated.
By:

/s/ John Weinhardt

Dated:
By:

Name: John Weinhardt
Title: Chief Executive Officer, President and
Director (Principal Executive Officer)
March 7, 2019
/s/ Thomas Tekiele

Dated:
By:

Name: Thomas Tekiele
Title: Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial
and Accounting Officer)
March 7, 2019
/s/ Mary Kim Korth

Dated:
By:

Name: Mary Kim Korth
Title: Director
March 7, 2019
/s/ James Illikman

Dated:

Name: James Illikman
Title: Director
March 7, 2019

By:

/s/ Richard L. Baum
Name: Richard L Baum
Title: Chairman of the Board

Dated:
By:

March 7, 2019
/s/ Paul Frascoia
Name: Paul Frascoia
Title: Director

Dated:
By:

March 7, 2019
/s/ William Cooke

Dated:
By:

Name: William Cooke
Title: Director
March 7, 2019
/s/ Donn Viola

Dated:

Name: Donn Viola
Title: Director
March 7, 2019
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